
  

 

 

 

 

A G E N D A 
 
 

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 

Tuesday 25 July 2017 at 6.30 pm 
Committee Room A, Town Hall, Royal Tunbridge Wells, TN1 1RS 

 
 

 

Borough Council Representatives:  Councillors Moore (Chairman), Barrington-King (Deputy 
Chair), Hamilton, Lewis-Grey, Neve, Nuttall, Ms Palmer 
and Podbury 

Independent Members:  Hough, Quigley and Shiels 

Parish/Town Council Representatives: Councillors Coleman and Henshaw 

Quorum: 3 Members, to include at least one independent member 

 
 

1   Apologies for Absence   
Apologies for absence as reported at the meeting. 

2   Declarations of Interest   
To receive any declarations of interest by Members in items on the agenda. 
 
For any advice on declarations of interest, please contact the Monitoring Officer. 

3   Notification of Visiting Members wishing to speak (in accordance with Council 
Procedure Rule 18):   
Members should indicate which item(s) they wish to speak on and the nature of their 
concern/question/request for clarification. 

4   Minutes of the Previous Meeting  (Pages 1 - 10) 
The Chairman will move that the minutes of the previous meeting, dated 27 June 2017, be 
signed as a correct record. The only issue relating to the minutes which can be discussed is 
their accuracy. 
 
In accordance with Council Meetings Procedure 16.1, the Chairman will sign the minutes of 
today’s proceedings at the next scheduled meeting. 

5   Report of Director of Finance, Policy and Development   

(A)   Annual Financial Report and Audit Findings 2016/17 (Pages 11 - 108) 
(B)   Strategic Risk Report (Pages 109 - 124) 

6   Future Work Programme  (Pages 125 - 126) 
 

Public Document Pack



 
 

 
 
 
 

7   Urgent Business   
The Democratic Services Officer will advise if there have been any urgent items of business 
which have arisen for the Committee’s consideration since publication of the agenda. 

8   Date of Next Meeting -  Tuesday 12 September at 6.30pm   

 

 
 
Mike McGeary Town Hall 
Democratic Services Officer ROYAL TUNBRIDGE WELLS 
mike.mcgeary@tunbridgewells.gov.uk Kent   TN1 1RS 
 Tel:  01892 554105 (direct line) 
 

 

mod.gov app – go paperless 
 

Easily download, annotate and keep all committee paperwork on your 

mobile device using the mod.gov app – all for free! 
 

Visit   www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/modgovapp   for details.  

http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/modgovapp
http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/modgovapp
http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/modgovapp


 
 

 
 
 
 

All visitors wishing to attend a public meeting at the Town Hall between the hours of 9.00am and 
5.00pm should report to reception via the side entrance in Monson Way.  After 5pm, access will be via 
the front door on the corner of Crescent Road and Mount Pleasant Road, except for disabled access 
which will continue by use of an 'out of hours' button at the entrance in Monson Way. 
 
Notes on Procedure 
 
(1)  A list of background papers appears at the end of each report, where appropriate, pursuant to the 

Local Government Act 1972, section 100D(i). 
 
(2) Items marked * will be the subject of recommendations by the Committee to Full Council.  
 
(3) Members seeking factual information about agenda items are requested to contact the 

appropriate Service Manager prior to the meeting. 
 
(4) Members of the public and other stakeholders are required to register with the Democratic 

Services Officer if they wish to speak on an agenda item at a meeting.  Places are limited to a 
maximum of four speakers per item.  The deadline for registering to speak is 4.00 pm the last 
working day before the meeting.  Each speaker will be given a maximum of 3 minutes to address 
the Committee. 

 
(5) Please note that this meeting may be recorded or filmed by the Council for administrative 

purposes.  Any other third party may also record or film meetings, unless exempt or confidential 
information is being considered, but are requested as a courtesy to others to give notice of this to 
the Democratic Services Officer before the meeting. The Council is not liable for any third party 
recordings. 

 
Further details are available on the website (www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk) or from Democratic 
Services. 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 If you require this information in another format, 
please contact us on 01892 526121 

 

 Accessibility into and within the Town Hall - In response to the 
requirements of the Disability Discrimination Act 1995, the Council has 
provided the following features to overcome physical barriers to access.   

 There is a wheelchair accessible lift by the main staircase, giving access to the 
first floor where the committee rooms are situated.  There are a few steps 
leading to the Council Chamber itself but there is a platform chairlift in the foyer. 

 

 Hearing Loop System - The Council Chamber and all the Committee Rooms 
have been equipped with hearing induction loop systems.  The Council 
Chamber also has a fully equipped audio-visual system. 

 

http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 
 

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 

Tuesday, 27 June 2017 
 

Present: Councillor Moore (Chairman) 
Councillors Barrington-King (Vice-Chairman), Hamilton, Lewis-Grey, Neve, Nuttall, 

Ms Palmer and Podbury, Independent members Mrs Hough, Mr Quigley and Mr Shiels, 
Parish Councillor Coleman and Town Councillor Henshaw 

 
Officers in Attendance:  Stephen Baughen (Building Control and Development Manager), 
Rich Clarke (Head of Audit Partnership), Lee Colyer (Director of Finance, Policy and 
Development), Jane Fineman (Head of Finance and Procurement), Denise Haylett (Head of 
Business Support), Russell Heppleston (Deputy Head of Audit Partnership), Dan Hutchins 
(Procurement Manager), Keith Trowell (Senior Lawyer and Deputy Monitoring Officer) and 
Mike McGeary (Democratic Services Officer) 
 
Others in Attendance: Darren Wells (Grant Thornton) 
 
CHAIRMAN'S OPENING STATEMENT 
 
AG5/17 
 

The newly-appointed Chairman, Councillor Moore, began by thanking the 
members of the Committee for agreeing to put back the start time of meetings 
to 6.30pm, which she hoped was a more convenient time for those in 
employment and which also achieved consistency with the vast majority of 
Borough Council formal meetings. 
 
Councillor Moore gave a summary of her professional background and 
Council experience, leading towards her appointment at the Annual Meeting 
of the Council as Chairman. She also focused on the key objectives for 
Committee members, namely: (i) to note reports, where appropriate, and to 
comment on these; (ii) to consider changes to the Council’s Constitution 
presented to the Committee by the Constitution Review Working Party; and 
(iii) to contribute in the debate on those reports which required the approval of 
Full Council. 
 

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
AG6/17 
 

There were no declarations of interest made, within the provisions of the 
Code of Conduct for Members. 
 

NOTIFICATION OF VISITING MEMBERS WISHING TO SPEAK (IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE 18) 
 
AG7/17 
 

There were no other members of the Council who had registered their wish to 
address the Committee, within the provisions of Council Meetings Procedure 
Rule 18. 
 

MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
 
AG8/17 
 

The minutes of the meeting of the Audit and Governance Committee dated 4 
April 2017 were submitted. 
 
While there were no issues of accuracy raised, Rich Clarke, the Head of Audit 
Partnership, provided a short update on minute AG53/16 – Safeguarding – 
where, in April, the Committee had asked for a full update report to be 
submitted to this meeting. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



2 

 
 

 
Mr Clarke advised that, on 31 May, an interim update report had been 
circulated to members of the Committee (2016/17 membership) by the Mid 
Kent Audit Manager, as required by members. He added that the remaining 
actions recommended in the Internal Audit report which had not yet been 
implemented – which required a longer period to carry out – would be the 
subject of a further report; he suggested that this made to the Committee in 
September. Mr Clarke said that this way forward had been discussed with 
relevant officers and had also been proposed to the Chairman, who had 
indicated her support. 
 
Mr Clarke also said that the Democratic Services Officer would circulate the 
interim report to members of the Committee who had been appointed this 
municipal year.  
 
The Chairman sought the agreement of the Committee to proceeding on this 
basis, to which they agreed unanimously. 
 
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the Audit and Governance Committee 
dated 4 April 2017 be approved as a correct record. 
 

UPDATE ON COMPLAINTS RECEIVED UNDER THE MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT 
 
AG9/17 
 

Keith Trowell, the Senior Lawyer and Deputy Monitoring Officer, presented an 
update report on complaints received under the authority’s Members’ Code of 
Conduct, for the period to 13 June 2017. 
 
Mr Trowell advised that, since the meeting of the Committee held on 4 April, 
no further complaints had been received; he added that there were no 
outstanding complaints under consideration. 
 
RESOLVED – That the update report on complaints received under the 
Members’ Code of Conduct be noted. 
 

PROPOSED CHANGES TO THE CONSTITUTION (PLANNING SCHEME OF 
DELEGATION) - PLANNING CALL-IN WORDING 
 
AG10/17 
 

The Chairman invited Mr Tony Quigley to comment on this issue, in his 
capacity as Chairman of the Constitution Review Working Party, where this 
proposed change to the Constitution had been considered in detail. Mr 
Quigley advised that he was fully supportive of the report and its 
recommendations. 
 
Stephen Baughen, the Building Control and Development Manager, 
explained the background and rationale for the proposed change. He said 
that, while an earlier version of the Constitution enabled members to call-in a 
planning application for consideration by the Planning Committee where there 
was “a significant level of local concern”, this wording had been omitted from 
the current document. 
 
Mr Baughen advised that the proposal to reinstate the ‘local concern’ element 
had been considered by the Constitution Review Working Party at its meeting 
held on 10 March 2017. He said that, after that discussion, all members of the 
Council had been invited to consider the matter and feed in their views to 
their political groups’ representatives on the Working Party, who had met 
again on 2 June to examine and agree the final wording of the proposed 

Page 2

Agenda Item 4



3 

 
 

amendment. 
 
Mr Baughen reported that, not only was there unanimous support for the 
change to be implemented, but it was also agreed to propose that the ‘call-in’ 
period be amended from “21 days or publication of the weekly planning list, 
whichever is the latter” to “within five weeks (35 days) of the date that the 
application is originally made valid”. 
 
Mr Baughen said that, to give effect to the above, the Working Party was 
proposing revised wording to the Constitution in respect of: (i) paragraph 8.1 
of Table 3 of Annex C to Part 3 (described in paragraph 2.4 of the report) and 
(ii) paragraph 5.1 of the Planning Committee Procedure Rules in Part 4 (as 
set out in paragraph 2.5 of the report). 
 
Councillor Ms Palmer asked when the five week period (during which a call-in 
could be made) would start. Mr Baughen said that this would be from the date 
when the planning application achieved ‘valid’ status. 
 
Councillor Ms Palmer enquired how members of the Council would know 
when an application had reached the ‘valid’ point. Mr Baughen advised that 
members would be able to see this from the publication of the weekly 
planning list, which was (a) e-mailed to them and (b) published on the 
Borough Council’s website. 
 
The members of the Committee signalled their unanimous support for the 
proposals, which would be submitted to the Full Council on 26 July for final 
determination. 
 
RESOLVED – That, in order to ensure the Constitution is up-to-date and 
provides for good decision-making, the Full Council be recommended to 
approve revised wording to: 

(a) Paragraph 8.1 of Table 3 of Annex C to Part 3 of the Constitution, as 
set out in paragraph 2.4 of the report; and 

(b) Paragraph 5.1 of the Planning Committee Procedure Rules in Part 4 
of the Constitution, as set out in paragraph 2.5 of the report. 

 
PROPOSED CHANGES TO THE CONSTITUTION - AMENDMENT TO CONTRACT 
PROCEDURE RULES 
 
AG11/17 
 

As with minute AG10/17 above, the Chairman invited Mr Tony Quigley to 
comment on this issue, in his capacity as Chairman of the Constitution 
Review Working Party, where this proposed change to the Constitution had 
been considered in detail. Mr Quigley advised on two aspects of the proposal: 
(i) the one key change being proposed was for contract values within a very 
low price range, where two quotes would be required instead of only one, as 
at present – a change which he fully supported; and (ii) he stressed that the 
whole of the authority’s procurement processes were conducted under the 
control of internal audit, which provided a high level of reassurance for 
members. 
 
Jane Fineman, Head of Finance and Procurement, summarised the proposal 
to amend the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules. She advised that there 
had been some major legislative changes in procurement since the current 
document had been put in place, which had driven the need to update the 
rules within which the Borough Council operated. However, Mrs Fineman 
emphasised that a degree of practicality and balance had also been applied, 

Page 3

Agenda Item 4



4 

 
 

to ensure that legislative requirements were met while at the same time there 
was not an unacceptable increase necessary in procurement resources. 
 
Mrs Fineman drew attention to the analysis set out in the agenda which 
showed how Tunbridge Wells compared with 10 other district councils in Kent 
– as well as with Kent County Council and Rother District – in terms of its 
revised contract procedure rules. This showed that the proposed thresholds 
were very much in line with those of other authorities. 
 
Members of the Committee indicated their unanimous support for the 
proposed changes, which were set out in full as an appendix to the report and 
which would proceed to the Full Council meeting on 26 July for consideration. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
(1) That the updated Standing Orders on Procurement and Contracts, as 

set out in Appendix A to the report, be approved for inclusion in the 
Council’s Constitution; and 

 
(2) That the Committee recommends the updated Standing Orders on 

Procurement and Contracts for approval by the Full Council on 26 July 
2017. 

 
DRAFT ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT FOR 2016/17 
 
AG12/17 
 

Jane Fineman, Head of Finance and Procurement, introduced the draft 
Annual Financial Report for 2016/17 and stressed that this was unaudited at 
this stage. 
 
Mrs Fineman summarised the headline figures in the accompanying 
Statement of Accounts, which had been set out in detail as part of the report: 
(a) the achievement of a surplus of £908k compared to the budget; (b) a 
decrease of £3m in ‘usable’ reserves; (c) a rise of £9.6m in the value of the 
authority’s property, plant and equipment; and (d) an increase of £8.2m in the 
Council’s net liability for future pension costs, an element that Mrs Fineman 
described as being subject to quite considerable fluctuations on an annual 
basis but where actual contributions made by the authority were reviewed by 
actuaries on a triennial basis. 
 
Mrs Fineman drew attention to some other key elements of the draft Financial 
Report. She advised that a number of mortgages which had been provided 
for residents under an earlier scheme were all due to mature this year. She 
added that there had been no defaults to date and that the repayment of 
these mortgages would result in £128k being returned to the General Fund. 
 
In respect of business rates, Mrs Fineman advised that with a number of 
outstanding appeals, there was a potential ‘worst case’ impact of £4.8m, of 
which £1.9 would fall to the Borough Council’s Collection Fund. She said that 
it was extremely difficult to calculate a provision for this policy but added that, 
with the publication of a new ratings list effective from 2017 no further rating 
appeals could be made on the 2010 ratings list. 
 
Mrs Fineman reported that the accounts were due for sign-off by the end of 
July; she added that the public inspection period was currently under way and 
that all of the information requested by the external auditors had been 
provided by the required deadline. 

Page 4

Agenda Item 4



5 

 
 

 
The Chairman thanked Mrs Fineman for the clarity of the ‘narrative report’ 
which formed the first section of the Annual Financial Report and 
congratulated her – and her team – on meeting all the required deadlines. 
 
Councillor Barrington-King sought confirmation that it was the local authority 
mortgage scheme referred to in the report; Mrs Fineman confirmed that this 
was the case. 
 
Councillor Barrington-King also commented on the business rate appeal 
process which had brought much consternation because of the way in which 
the Valuation Office had excluded any local authority involvement in its 
appeal proceedings, even though it was councils such as Tunbridge Wells 
that had to deal with its findings. He regretted the lack of transparency over 
this process. 
 
Councillor Neve referred to the ‘officers’ remuneration’ section of the draft 
Statement of Accounts. He asked if the authority was prepared for any 
adverse publicity which might arise from publicising the amount of 
compensation paid to the former Director of Planning and Development, set 
out on page 116 of the agenda. Lee Colyer, the Director of Finance, Policy 
and Development, said that this was the statutory minimum redundancy 
payment to the former Director, adding that this was on public record and 
evidence of the authority’s transparency in terms of its remuneration for 
senior management. 
 
Councillor Neve also drew attention to an indexing correction required to 
section 21 of the Statement of Accounts.  
 
Referring to page 99 of the agenda, Councillor Neve sought clarification over 
reference to the Tunbridge Wells Property Holdings Company. On that page, 
he quoted the statement that the company’s revenue “…has only been 
£88,000 during the year and is considered immaterial”. He contrasted that 
with section 26.4 on page 120, where it stated that: "In the second year of 
trading the company had made a loss of £6,400”. 
 
Mrs Fineman said that the company, which was wholly-owned by the 
authority and was required to submit its accounts to Companies House, 
would have expected to make very little profit in its early years, as more 
properties were transferred to it, with start-up costs but little opportunity for 
securing immediate rental income. She stressed that this was a short term 
position, with a regular income flow expected in subsequent years. 
 
Councillor Neve sought confirmation that the three directors of the company 
were unpaid. Mrs Fineman said that the directors were not paid by the 
company, adding that two of them were serving Borough councillors, the 
other a current head of service with the Council, thus their normal members’ 
allowances and salary, respectively, were paid by the authority. 
 
Councillor Neve felt that the wording in the Statement of Accounts was not 
clear on that distinction. Mrs Fineman acknowledged the point and added that 
she would look to refine the wording, to improve the clarity. 
 
The Chairman said that it was right for the Committee to have raised these 
challenges, which reinforced the benefit of having submitted the Financial 
Report in its draft state. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



6 

 
 

 
Mr Quigley raised the following queries: (i) on page 67 of the agenda, he 
pointed to the reduction, year-on-year, of the achievement of the milestones 
leading towards the completion of the authority’s corporate priority projects. 
He noted that “…of the five corporate priority projects experiencing delays, 
three are due to the complexities around external decision-making…” He 
asked what the reason was behind the other two projects. Mrs Fineman 
advised that she would study the quarter 4 performance report submitted to 
the Cabinet earlier in the month and provide an answer direct to Mr Quigley; 
(ii) on page 74, reference was made to the ‘application of the governance 
framework’. Mr Quigley asked if this was setting out a possible piece of work 
for the Constitution Review Working Party. Mr Colyer advised that this related 
to the issuing by CIPFA of new guidance on the delivery of good governance 
in local government. He added that, during the coming year, the authority 
would ensure that its governance framework was in compliance with these 
new guidelines, with progress being closely monitored by senior management 
and periodic reports to this Committee.  
 
Councillor Podbury asked how many business properties were appealing for 
rate relief under the 2017 ratings list. Mr Colyer said that the Borough Council 
had no direct access to this information but that enquiries could be made to 
the ‘tribunal’ section of the website of the Valuation Office, where a list could 
be found of all companies that had lodged a formal appeal. 
 
RESOLVED – That the unaudited, draft Annual Financial Report, set out in 
Appendix A to the report, containing the unaudited Draft Statement of 
Accounts, be noted. 
 

STRATEGIC RISK REVIEW 
 
AG13/17 
 

Lee Colyer, the Director of Finance, Policy and Development, presented a 
risk management report, which described the authority’s arrangements for 
managing strategic risk. The report provided an update on the evaluated 
threat level as well as the controls in place for each of the 10 risks identified. 
 
Mr Colyer drew attention to the decision by the Council’s Management Board 
to replace risk scenario 6 from ‘missing something significant (£100k - £250k 
impact)’ to ‘service interruption’. He added that the rationale for this change 
was to focus more attention on the risks associated with cyber security, 
terrorism and extreme weather. 
 
With that in mind, Denise Haylett, the Head of Business Support, was 
introduced to members and invited to report on the key elements of risk 
scenario 6. 
 
Ms Haylett provided a summary of the current controls in place and actions 
being taken under the ‘service interruption’ risk, which included the most 
recent tower block fire in London and lessons learnt from a local perspective. 
 
Councillor Barrington-King voiced his gratitude for the way in which the IT 
service had kept members and staff fully informed on how the authority had 
dealt with the cyber attack/malware virus in May. 
 
Mr Quigley noted that the ‘service interruption’ risk had been given a 
likelihood rating of ‘high’ (4 on a scale of 1-6) but only an impact level of 
‘medium’ (2 from a scale of 1-6). He felt that the impact rating should be 

Page 6

Agenda Item 4



7 

 
 

reviewed and made higher. 
 
Ms Haylett advised that, across the county, this had been given an even 
lower risk assessment rating. 
 
In supporting Mr Quigley in his view, the Chairman nevertheless welcomed 
the change in focus to risk scenario 6 and the proactive approach being taken 
by the authority. 
 
On other aspects of the report, Mr Quigley drew attention to the fact that the 
authority’s risk management approach was based on the outcome of a 
workshop facilitated by the authority’s insurers, held in 2013. He felt that 
plans should be developed to review the current approach. 
 
Mr Colyer confirmed that the authority’s insurance contract would shortly be 
going out to tender, adding that, once the outcome was known, such a review 
would take place with the successful tenderer. 
 
Parish Councillor David Coleman felt that the authority should be examining 
its degree of risk associated with the RVP shopping centre, bearing in mind 
the level of its investment. Mr Colyer said that the Borough Council enjoyed 
the freehold ownership of the centre and had granted a long lease to the 
current operators, Hermes. He added that when this shopping centre had first 
been built, the Borough Council had secured a minimum income of £837k per 
annum by way of ground rent. Mr Colyer said that the current appearance of 
empty shop units was a managed process by Hermes, ahead of their plans – 
for which planning consent had been given – for a significant expansion. He 
added that the expansion plans would not impact on the minimum ground 
rent agreement the Council already had in place. 
 
Parish Councillor Coleman still felt that the Borough Council should, by now, 
have seen a continuing upward trend in its ground rent share of income. 
However, Mr Colyer said that there was a significant element of recovery still 
taking place from the global financial downturn started in 2007/08 which was 
impacting on rent levels. 
 
Councillor Barrington-King reminded the Committee of the scale of the benefit 
which a former Leader of the Council – John Spare – had secured, when the 
RVP shopping centre had first been built. He said that the Council owed 
much to the foresight and skill of Mr Spare. 
 
RESOLVED – That the risk management report and arrangements for 
managing strategic risk be noted. 
 

ANNUAL INTERNAL AUDIT REPORT AND OPINION 2016/17 
 
AG14/17 
 

Rich Clarke, the Head of the Audit Partnership, presented his annual opinion 
on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the authority’s framework of 
governance, risk management and control. He advised that, based upon the 
audit reviews undertaken in 2016/17 – a summary of which was set out in the 
full Annual Internal Audit Report circulated with the agenda – he was satisfied 
that: (a) the authority managed a system of internal control that offered 
‘sound assurance on control effectiveness’; (b) the corporate governance 
arrangements complied in all material respects with ‘guidance on proper 
practices’; and (c) the authority’s risk management arrangements were 
effective and provided ‘sound assurance’. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



8 

 
 

 
Mr Clarke said that the remainder of the Audit Report and Opinion was a 
summary of the breadth of work which helped to form his formal opinion. He 
then summarised each section of the report, highlighting the key elements. 
 
Mr Gary Shiels drew attention to the ‘Internal Control’ section of the report, 
starting on page 147, specifically the number of days allocated for ‘risk 
management support’ (20 planned days) compared with the actual number 
(five); he asked for further details. Mr Clarke said that, during 2016/17, the 
focus of the authority’s risk management work had been more aligned with its 
insurers, hence the reduction in Internal Audit involvement. Mr Clarke added 
that he expected his service to become more involved in risk management 
support during 2017/18. 
 
Councillor Barrington-King said that, while he had been the Portfolio-holder 
for Finance and Governance, he had seen at first hand how being part of a 
shared internal audit service had delivered benefits to the authority. He 
expressed his appreciation to Mr Clarke and his staff for the effective 
governance role they played towards the success of the Council. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
(1) That the opinion of the Head of Audit Partnership, which states that, in 

the view of internal audit, the Council’s system of internal control, 
corporate governance and risk management arrangements have 
operated effectively during 2016/17, be noted; and 

 
(2) That the work underlying the opinion and the Head of Audit’s assurance 

that it was completed with sufficient independence and conformance 
with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards be noted. 

 
AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE - ANNUAL REPORT 
 
AG15/17 
 

Russell Heppleston, the Deputy Head of Audit Partnership, introduced the 
Committee’s Annual Report for 2016/17.  
 
Members noted from the proposed Annual Report how having an effective 
Audit and Governance Committee can deliver the following benefits to the 
authority: increased public confidence in the objectivity and fairness of the 
Council’s financial and other reporting; reinforcing the importance and 
independence of both internal and external audit processes; and increasing 
the emphasis and awareness of internal control, governance and risk 
management. 
 
Mr Heppleston summarised the key elements of the report. He drew particular 
attention to a proposed programme of member development, delivered 
through briefings, which would assist the Committee in understanding the 
latest progressions in the areas of governance, risk and internal control. 
 
Mr Heppleston advised that, once approved by the Committee, the Annual 
Report would be submitted to the Full Council meeting on 26 July. 
 
The Chairman gave her full backing to the proposal for increased training and 
development; she sought members’ approval to the suggestion that this be 
delivered by means of ‘short-bite’ briefings at the end of each meeting, where 
the agendas had appropriate space. Having signalled their approval, 

Page 8

Agenda Item 4



9 

 
 

members agreed that this should be added to the Committee’s work 
programme. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
(1) That the proposed 2017/18 Member Development Programme, as set 

out in the Annual Report in Appendix A to the report, be approved; 
 
(2) That the Audit and Governance Committee Annual Report for 2016/17 

be approved; and 
 
(3) That the Chairman of the Audit and Governance Committee presents 

the report to the meeting of the Full Council on 26 July to demonstrate 
how the Committee has discharged its duties. 

 
PLANNED AUDIT FEE 2017/18 
 
AG16/17 
 

Lee Colyer, the Director of Finance, Policy and Development, reported on the 
planned audit fee for 2017/18, as notified by the authority’s external auditors, 
Grant Thornton. He added that the scale of fees had been set by Public 
Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA) Limited.  
 
Mr Colyer advised that the fees for 2017/18 had been set at £51,230, which 
was unchanged from the previous year. 
 
Darren Wells, the ‘Engagement Lead’ for Grant Thornton, was in attendance, 
to expand on any aspects of the proposal, should members have any 
questions about the scale of fees for the year ahead. 
 
Rich Clarke, the Head of Audit Partnership, provided a further update on the 
procurement of an external auditor from 2018/19, under the changed system 
of appointments introduced by the Government. He advised that all but one of 
the district councils had agreed to follow the ‘opt-in’ route, under which the 
PSAA had been specified by the Secretary of State as an ‘appointing person’ 
for external audit services. 
 
Mr Clarke added that Grant Thornton had been selected by PSAA as one of 
the auditors who would be allocated a specified parcel of work, with the actual 
appointment to local authorities to be determined by the end of July. He said 
that the process would provide local authorities with the opportunity to object 
to the appointment of their specific auditor, with final confirmation taking place 
by the end of November.  
 
Mr Clarke said that the appointments would not necessarily be allocated on a 
geographical basis, adding that they would be for a five-year period. He also 
said that PSAA had stated that external audit fees under this new system 
would fall by an average of 18%. 
 
Mr Clarke added that he would make further update reports to the Committee; 
the Chairman asked that this topic therefore be added to the work programme 
for at least the next two meetings. 
 
RESOLVED – That the planned audit fee for 2017/18 be agreed. 
 
 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



10 

 
 

FUTURE WORK PROGRAMME 
 
AG17/17 
 

The Committee’s work programme was presented for members’ information.  
 
It was noted that there were two additions to make, arising from issues 
discussed at this meeting: (a) further updates on the procurement of an 
external auditor (Minute AG16/17 above); and (b) ‘short-bite’ training sessions 
to be added (where the agenda allows), starting with the 25 July meeting 
(Minute AG15/17 above). 
 
RESOLVED – That, with the above additions, the work programme be noted. 
 

URGENT BUSINESS 
 
AG18/17 
 

The Democratic Services Officer advised that there were no additional items 
for the Committee’s consideration which had arisen since the publication of 
the agenda. 
 

DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
 
AG19/17 
 

It was noted that the next meeting of the Committee would take place on 
Tuesday 25 July at 6.30pm. 
 

 
 NOTE: The meeting concluded at 7.50 pm. 
 

Page 10

Agenda Item 4



 

Audit & Governance Committee 25 July 2017 

Is the final decision on the recommendations in this report to be made at this meeting? YES 

 

Draft Annual Financial Report for 2016/17 
 

Final Decision-Maker Audit & Governance Committee 

Portfolio Holder(s)  Councillor David Reilly – Portfolio Holder for Finance 
and Governance  

Lead Director  Lee Colyer – Director of Finance, Policy & Development 
(Section 151 Officer) 

Head of Service Jane Fineman– Head of Finance and Procurement 

Lead Officer/Report Author Jane Fineman– Head of Finance and Procurement 

Key Decision? No 

Classification Non-Exempt 

Wards affected Not Applicable 

  

This report makes the following recommendations to the final decision-maker: 

1. That the Committee notes Grant Thornton’s Audit Findings Report, set out in Appendix B; 
 

2. That the Committee approves the draft Statement of Accounts and the Annual Governance 
Statement, set out in Appendix A; 
 

3. That the Committee authorises the Chairman and the Director of Finance, Policy & 
Development to sign a Letter of Representation based on Appendix A and the Audit Findings 
Report; and 

 

4. That the Committee agrees to receive a draft Statement of Accounts for 2017/18 by email for 
comment and questions by mid-June 2018 and that the draft Statement of Accounts and 
Annual Governance Statement for the 2017/18 accounts are approved at the July meeting of 
the Committee, to enable the accounts to be signed by 31 July 2018. 

 

  

This report relates to the following corporate priorities: 

 A Prosperous Borough 

 A Green Borough 

 A Confident Borough 

  

Timetable 

Meeting Date 

Management Team Verbal update 

Discussion with Portfolio Holder Verbal Update 

Audit & Governance Committee 25 July 2017 

Page 11

Agenda Item 5(A)



 

Draft Annual Financial Report for 2016/17 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 The Audit and Governance Committee approved a report at its meeting on 27 June 

2017 introducing the draft Annual Financial Report for 2016/17 (which contains the 
Statement of Accounts). There have been no material changes since then and the 
audit is almost complete, as outlined in Grant Thornton’s Audit Findings Report 
(Appendix B). This Committee now needs to give its formal approval in order that the 
Annual Financial Report can be published before the statutory deadline of 30 
September, although the Committee is being asked to approve the accounts by the end 
of July this year in order to prepare for changing legislation in 2017/18.  

 

 
2. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
The Annual Financial Report 
2.1 The complete document published at the end of the audit process is termed the 

“Annual Financial Report” (Appendix A), while the term “Statement of Accounts” 
comprises the formal accounting statements, including the Collection Fund statement, 
together with the notes to these accounts. The Annual Financial Report consists of: 

 

 Narrative Report (new name for the Explanatory Foreword) 

 The Annual Governance Statement 

 The Statement of Responsibilities 

 The Independent Auditor’s Report 

 The Statement of Accounts 

 
The Audit Findings Report 

 
2.2 The Audit Director from Grant Thornton has issued a draft Audit Findings Report 

(Appendix B attached) which he will introduce at the meeting. The report states that he 
expects to issue an unqualified audit opinion and they have not identified any 
adjustments affecting the Council’s reported financial position. He reports that the 
quality of the draft statements received on 1 June 2017 was good and free from errors 
and that the finance team responded promptly and comprehensively to audit requests 
and queries. He also wished to record his appreciation for the assistance provided by 
the finance team and other staff during the audit. 

  
2.3 The Value for Money Review, aimed at assessing the Council’s arrangements for 

delivering economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, is now part of 
the Audit Findings Report. The Audit Director has concluded that the Council had 
proper arrangements in all significant respects, to ensure it delivered value for money 
in its use of resources. 

 
2.4 Page 5 indicates that the letter of representation needs to be signed, the post balance 

sheet events review to the date of signing needs to be completed and the Whole of 
Government Accounts (WGA) return needs to be finished. The letter will be signed 
after the Committee meeting; thus far there is nothing to report as a post balance sheet 
event and the WGA does not have to be returned yet; the signing off of the accounts is 
not dependent upon it.  

Page 12

Agenda Item 5(A)



 

2.5 There has been a suggestion to review our classifications within the Financial 
Instrument Notes. As stated in the management response, we will carry out the review, 
but we have not changed the content of the note and this has never been raised by any 
auditor before. Also, the classifications in IAS 32 are not clear cut and are open to 
interpretation. It should be understood that this does not impact upon any accounting 
treatment in the accounts and is just about the detail of disclosure in the notes.  

 

Role of Committee and timetable to publication of the Annual Financial Report 
 
2.6 As noted in the Audit Findings Report, the audit is almost complete. This Committee 

has a duty to approve the Statement of Accounts, which will then be published as part 
of the Annual Financial Report before the statutory deadline of 30 September. It is 
anticipated that this Committee will also give its statutory approval to the Annual 
Governance Statement at this meeting. 

 
2.7 As can be seen on page 7 of the Audit Findings Report, a local elector has raised an 

objection in relation to the accounts. Grant Thornton cannot formally conclude the audit 
and issue a certificate until they have completed their consideration of that objection. 
The objection is around the proposal of the Council to build a new theatre on the site of 
the Great Hall car park. Therefore, Grant Thornton states that they are satisfied that the 
reason for the objection does not have a material effect on the financial statements or 
on their conclusion on the authority's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2017. 

 

2.8 The statutory deadline for the approval of the statutory accounts has been brought 
forward to 31 July 2018 for the 2017/18 accounts.  There have been queries about 
whether it would be possible to streamline the process for the approval of the accounts 
through this Committee. It is therefore proposed that the Committee agrees to receive 
a draft Statement of Accounts by email for comment and questions by mid-June 2018. 
There are no Committee approvals required at this stage. Subsequently, that the draft 
Statement of Accounts and Annual Governance Statement for the 2017/18 accounts 
are approved at the July meeting of the Committee to enable the accounts to be signed 
by 31 July 2018. 

  

 
3. AVAILABLE OPTIONS 
 
3.1 The Committee could decide not to approve the accounts. 
 
3.2 The Committee could agree to continue to have a meeting in June to review the 

accounts and then a meeting in July to approve them. 
 

 
4. PREFERRED OPTION AND REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 That the Committee approve the accounts in order that the statutory obligations and 

deadlines are met. 
 
4.2 That only one meeting is held to approve the accounts with all questions being raised 

to Finance in June. This requires one less Committee meeting. 
 

 
 
 
 
5. CONSULTATION RESULTS AND PREVIOUS COMMITTEE FEEDBACK 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5(A)



 

 
5.1 In line with the Accounts and Audit Regulations a formal advertisement was placed on 

the intranet drawing the attention of the public to the availability of the draft accounts, 
and the legal right of interested parties to inspect the accounts and the supporting 
documentation. There was one approach made, by the same member of the public 
who made the objection to the accounts to Grant Thornton. 

 
5.2 A minute from the meeting on 27 June 2017 requested that the note regarding the 

Directors of Tunbridge Wells Property Holdings Limited, make it clear that there are 
only three Directors, comprising two elected members and a Head of Service. This has 
been amended and the position is now clear. 

 

 
6. NEXT STEPS: COMMUNICATION AND IMPLEMENTATION OF THE DECISION 
 
6.1 Once the Independent Auditor’s Report is signed the Statement of Accounts will be 

published on the Council’s website.  
 

 
7. CROSS-CUTTING ISSUES AND IMPLICATIONS 

  

Issue Implications Sign-off 

(name of officer 
and date) 

Legal including 
Human Rights Act 

The Audit Committee has a legal duty of oversight 
for the Council’s corporate governance 
arrangements. Under section 151 of the Local 
Government Act (LGA 1972), the Section 151 
Officer has statutory duties in relation to the 
financial administration and stewardship of the 
authority, including advising on the corporate 
financial position and providing financial 
information. There are no consequences arising 
from the recommendation that adversely affect or 
interfere with individuals’ rights and freedoms as 
set out in the Human Rights Act 1998.    
 

Senior Lawyer 
(Corporate 
Governance) 

 

Finance and other 
resources 

The Annual Financial Report details the overall 
unaudited financial position of the authority and is 
for information only. 

Head of Finance 
and Procurement 

Staffing 
establishment 

There are no specific implications. Head of HR 

Risk management   The reporting of the draft report at this stage is 
designed to improve scrutiny of the Council’s draft 
accounts and therefore to reduce the risk of 
material error.  

Head of Audit 
Partnership  

Environment  
and sustainability 

There are no specific implications.  Sustainability 
Manager 

Community safety 

 

There are no specific implications. Community 
Safety Manager 

Health and Safety There are no specific implications. Health and 
Safety Advisor 

Page 14

Agenda Item 5(A)



 

Health and 
wellbeing 

There are no specific implications. Healthy Lifestyles 
Co-ordinator 

Equalities There are no specific implications. West Kent 
Equalities Officer 

 
8. REPORT APPENDICES 
 
The following documents are to be published with this report and form part of the report: 
 
Appendix A  Draft Annual Financial Report for 2016/17 
Appendix B Draft Audit Findings Report for 2016/17 
 

 
9. BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Budget 2016/17 (Full Council 22 February 2016) 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5(A)



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 1 

 

 

 

 

Draft Tunbridge Wells Borough 
Council 

Annual Financial Report 

 for 2016/17 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  

Page 17

Appendix A



 

 2 

Contents 

 

Contents Page 

  

Narrative Report 4 

Annual Governance Statement 12 

Statement of Responsibilities 19 

Independent Auditor’s Report 20 

Statement of Accounts:  

Core Financial Statements:  

 Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement  

 Movement in Reserves Statement 

22 

23 

 Balance Sheet 24 

 Cash Flow Statement 25 

 Expenditure and Funding Analysis 26 

Notes to the Financial Statements   

1. Accounting Policies 27 

2. Changes to Accounting Policies and to previous years’ figures 

3. Critical Judgements in Accounting Policies 

36 

38 

4. Events after the Reporting Period 38 

5. Note to Expenditure and Funding Analysis 

6. Expenditure and Income Analysed by Nature 

38 

39 

7. Adjustments between accounting and funding basis under regulations 40 

8. Reserves 41 

9. Summary of capital expenditure and financing 45 

10. Property plant and equipment 46 

11. Heritage assets 

12. Investment property 

48 

48 

13. Intangible assets 48 

14. Assets held for sale 49 

15. Financial instruments 49 

16. Debtors 52 

17. Liabilities 53 

Page 18

Appendix A



 

 3 

Contents Page 

  

18. Grants and contributions 54 

19. Officers’ remuneration 55 

20. Post employment benefits 56 

21. Termination benefits and exit packages 57 

22. Members’ allowances 57 

23. Agency income and expenditure 58 

24. External audit costs 58 

25. Leasing 58 

26. Related parties 59 

Collection Fund Statement 60 

Notes to the Collection Fund Statement 61 

 

 

Page 19

Appendix A



Narrative Report 

 4 

Narrative Report 

 

1 Contents of the Financial Report 

The Financial Report for 2016/17 consists of the following: 

 This Narrative Report 

 The Annual Governance Statement  

 The Statement of Responsibilities, setting out the general responsibilities of both the Borough Council, and of the 
Director of Finance, Policy and Development, in making proper financial arrangements and in maintaining financial 
records. 

 The Independent Auditor’s report on the Statement of Accounts 

 The Statement of Accounts, as outlined below. 

2 The Statement of Accounts 

This consists of: 

 The core accounting statements: 

o The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement shows the accounting cost in the year of 

providing services in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices, rather than the amount to be 
funded from taxation. Councils raise taxation to cover expenditure in accordance with regulations, and this 
may be different from the accounting cost. The taxation position is shown in both the Expenditure and 
Funding Analysis and the Movement in Reserves Statement. 

o The Movement in Reserves Statement shows the movement from the start of the year to the end on the 

different reserves held by the Council, analysed into “Usable Reserves” (i.e. those that can be applied to 
fund expenditure or reduce local taxation) and other “Unusable Reserves”. The Movement in Reserves 
Statement shows how the movements in year of the Council’s reserves are broken down between gains and 
losses incurred in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices and the statutory adjustments 
required to return to the amounts chargeable to council tax for the year. The Net Increase/(Decrease) line 
shows the statutory General Fund Balance movements in the year following adjustments. 

o The Balance Sheet shows the value as at the Balance Sheet date of the assets and liabilities recognised by 

the Council. The net assets of the Council (assets less liabilities) are matched by the reserves held by the 
Council. Reserves are reported in two categories. The first grouping is of usable reserves, i.e. those reserves 
that the Council may use to provide services, subject to the need to maintain a prudent level of reserves and 
any statutory limitations on their use (such as the Capital Receipts Reserve being restricted to fund capital 
expenditure or to repay debt). The second grouping of reserves are those that the Council is not able to use 
to provide services. This group includes reserves that hold unrealised gains or losses (for example the 
Revaluation Reserve), where amounts would only become available to provide services if the assets are 
sold; and reserves that hold timing differences shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement line 
“Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under regulations”. 

o The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the Council during the 

reporting period. The statement shows how the Council generates and uses cash and cash equivalents by 
classifying cash flows as operating, investing and financing activities. The amount of net cash flows arising 
from operating activities is a key indicator of the extent to which the operations of the Council are funded by 
way of taxation and grant income or from the recipients of the services provided by the Council. Investing 
activities represent the amount to which cash outflows have been made for resources which are intended to 
contribute towards the Council’s future service delivery. Cash flows arising from financing activity are useful 
in predicting claims on future cash flows by providers of capital (i.e. borrowing) to the Council. 

o The Expenditure and Funding Analysis demonstrates to council tax payers how the funding available to 

the Council (i.e. government grants, rents, council tax and business rates) for the year has been used in 
providing services in comparison with those resources consumed or earned by Councils in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting practices. The Expenditure and Funding Analysis also shows how this 
expenditure is allocated for decision making purposes between the Council’s directorates. Income and 
expenditure accounted for under generally accepted accounting practices is presented more fully in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

 Notes to the core financial statements, giving further detailed information. 

 The Collection Fund Statement, together with notes to this account. 

The accounting statements and notes are normally rounded to the nearest thousand pounds, the main exceptions being 
Note 15.4 Risk management for financial instruments, where amounts are in millions, and Note 19.1 Remuneration of 

Page 20

Appendix A



Narrative Report 

 5 

senior management, where amounts are shown to the nearest pound. The headings in the tables indicate the level of 
rounding used. 

The Statement of Accounts unavoidably uses a number of technical accounting terms, which are explained in Note 1 
Accounting policies, and, where appropriate, in the commentaries to the other notes to the accounts. 

3 End of Year Performance 2016/17 

The Council uses a range of indicators to measure the performance of its strategic objectives (Corporate Priorities), and 
the day to day running of services (Council Business). The indicators that measure Corporate Priority performance assess 
each project through a series of ‘milestones’ that need to be achieved throughout the year. These milestones are 
measured on a quarterly basis, and those that are on target are given a green status. 
 
A range of indicators are used to measure Council Business, varying from financial indicators that are used to assess 
performance on key income streams such as off-street parking, to usage targets, which measure levels of attendance at 
key discretionary services such as the Museum and Art Gallery and the Assembly Hall Theatre. Targets for these 
indicators are discussed with Directors and Heads of Service, and are set before the start of each new financial year. 
 
The authority also continues to collect information for the Government’s Single Data list, and monitors a range of 
indicators with no targets, that provide a picture of the state of the borough, such as the number of crimes per 1000 
population and unemployment levels. 
 
Corporate Priorities 

The Council’s performance on achieving the milestones within the Corporate Priorities has slowed for the year 2016/17, 
with 9 out of 14 projects having passed all of their milestones by the end of the year. This is slightly down compared with 
previous years, as shown in the table below. 

Year On Target 

2014/15 71% 

2015/16 68% 

2016/17 64% 

 
The Council has reduced the number of Corporate Priority projects in recent years and those remaining are large-scale 
and complex. A Programme Management Board, with appropriate Project Management support, has been established in 
2016/17 to ensure good management and timely delivery of the Corporate Priority projects.  
 
Of the five Corporate Priority projects experiencing delays, three are due to the complexities around external decision 
making, as the Council is working in partnership with other organisations. Managing external relationships, has been 
recognised within the strategic risk register, and continues to be a priority for the organisation. It is also important to note 
that a reduction in the number of projects has resulted in each project representing a larger statistical proportion of the 
whole programme. A positive or negative movement has a much greater impact upon the statistics. 
 
Council Business 

The performance indicators for Council business are refreshed periodically to ensure they remain up-to-date and relevant 
for the authority. Our indicators were reviewed by Cabinet and Management Board in May 2016 for the 2016/17 financial 
year and a number of changes were made to targets and new indicators were added. In particular, new performance 
indicators were added for Planning, to ensure that the authority can assess its performance on appeals accurately.  
 
The Council now reports on 35 performance indicators that have target measures either quarterly or annually (26 in 
2015/16). Performance on these targets, as reported to Cabinet, has been good across the year. Where the performance 
indicators are directly comparable with previous years, performance has been consistent. 
  

Year On Target 

2014/15 81% 

2015/16 76% 

2016/17 86% 

 
The Planning Department continues to benefit from the measures put in place in the previous year to ensure that targets, 
for decisions without extensions of time, are achieved. The processing of major applications has missed the target this 
year by 10%. However, it should be noted that the volumes of this type of application are very low, so each application 
represents a significant proportion of the overall percentage achieved. Missing a very low number of applications will have 
a large impact on the performance percentage. 
 
Conclusion 

Despite continuing cuts to local government funding Tunbridge Wells Borough Council has continued to perform well. The 

Page 21

Appendix A



Narrative Report 

 6 

Council has embarked on an ambitious Property Development programme to secure continued growth for the borough, in 
particular around arts, heritage and culture, and is managing its daily business according to the performance targets set.  
 
The Council operates in a complex environment, and needs to balance the needs of many different partners, stakeholders, 
agencies and businesses to succeed. This environment could be further complicated by national devolution plans, and the 
strength of its partnership and contractor arrangements must remain a focus to ensure delivery of its plans.  
 
The evolving national policy position relating to Britain’s withdrawal from the European Union is a further uncertainty and 
the Council will need to consider this carefully when planning for the future.  
 
A strong performance management system that is current and fit for purpose can help to focus the organisation and 
manage the risks, so a review of the Five Year Plan has been undertaken and will be finally agreed in 2017. Similarly, a 
review of service planning will take place in 2017/18 ready for the 2018/19 financial year.  
 

4 Net Revenue Outturn figures for 2016/17 

Introduction 

The table below sets out the net expenditure for the year compared to budget. 

 
Approved Outturn Variance 

 
Budget 

  

 
£000 £000 £000 

Chief Executive 
   Chief Executive 169  166  (3) 

 
169  166  (3) 

    Finance & Corporate Services 
   Director of Finance & Corporate Services 147  142  (5) 

Finance & Procurement 1,205  1,522  317  

Mid-Kent Client Services 2,245  2,038  (207) 

Policy and Governance 1,133  1,057  (76) 

Business Support 1,532  1,396  (136) 

 
6,262  6,155  (107) 

    Change & Communities 
   Director of Change & Communities 137  126  (11) 

Human Resources 1,120  1,029  (91) 

Customers and Communities (1,518) (1,532) (14) 

Partnerships and Engagement 2,301  2,161  (140) 

Digital Services & Transformation 485  469  (16) 

 
2,525  2,253  (272) 

    Planning & Development 
   Director of Planning & Development 139  205  66  

Environment & Street Scene 2,662  2,383  (279) 

Economic Development 3,179  3,048  (131) 

Planning 1,190  1,146  (44) 

 
7,170  6,782  (388) 

    Cost of Services 16,126  15,356  (770) 

    Accounting Adjustments (603) (603) - 

Parish Council Precepts 2,072  2,072  - 

Interest payable 221  221  - 

Interest and investment income (1,016) (1,038) (22) 

Capital expenditure from revenue 2,471  2,471  - 

Transfer to (from) earmarked reserves 574  1,091  517  

 
      

Net Expenditure 19,845  19,570  (275) 

    General Government Grants (3,776) (3,814) (38) 

Business Rates from Collection Fund (2,173) (2,768) (595) 

Page 22

Appendix A



Narrative Report 

 7 

Council Tax from Collection Fund (9,196) (9,196) - 

    Balance transferred (to) from General Fund 4,700  3,792  (908) 

 

Commentary 

The Directorate Cost of Services actual outturn shows an underspend to the balanced budget of £770,000, a considerable 
achievement considering the continuing reductions in government grants. Some of this surplus to budget was transferred 
into earmarked reserves to fund specific future expenditure. A transfer was made from the General Fund to the Capital 
and Revenue Initiatives Reserve of £4,700,000 million to replenish it in order to fund the Capital and Development 
Programmes. A sum of £908,000 was returned to the General Fund where it can be used to fund capital investment or 
revenue expenditure in the future. 

Within the Cost of Services, there are some significant positive and negative variances worthy of note. Those affecting 
income are: 

 Crematorium income was £189,000 above budget, up £188,000 on last year. Following requests by customers 
and Funeral Directors, the length of time allocated to each service was lengthened and the price increased 
accordingly. There were also a small number of shorter, cheaper, time allocations created for simple funerals. 
These changes have been well received and continue to be so. 

 Planning Application fee income was £111,000 above budget and £241,000 higher than last year. Whilst the 
number of small planning applications has remained steady, the receipt of larger applications, which generate 
significant income, fluctuate considerably from year to year.  

 Parking income was £62,000 above budget, and £10,000 above the outturn for last year. Car park prices were 
increased for cash payments in 2016/17 encouraging the use of cashless parking. Decrease in footfall at the 
shopping centre has negatively affected income at some of the town centre car parks although overall the parking 
income has remained stable. 

 The Assembly Hall has experienced improved revenue receipts this year and the subsidy to the theatre was 
£79,000 below budget.  
 

Those affecting costs are: 

 Pension costs of £203,000 paid to the Kent County Council Pension scheme and severance costs of £97,000, 
resulting from redundancies made during the year.  

 Emergency temporary accommodation costs increased by £158,000. A combination of factors including limited 
permanent accommodation due to the demand on social housing,  the increasing cost of private rented 
accommodation in the borough and the impact of welfare reform, mean that the number of families eligible for 
help from our Housing Service is rising. The service is looking at innovative ways to tackle this into the future. 

 Savings of £151,000 made from the Mid Kent Partnerships, compared to budget this year. Joint working has 
enabled processes to be re-engineered to save costs.  
 

Net interest was £22,000 above budget. The council achieved a rate of 1.74% on investments and bank interest. 
Fortunately, the council’s investment in the property development fund has generated dividends at 5.2% which has helped 
to balance the interest budget. 

Business rates from the collection fund were greater than budget by £595,000. On the 1st April 2013 the government 
introduced the Business Rates Retention Scheme. The intention was to encourage economic growth and support localism 
by allowing Councils to benefit from the growth of business rates in their areas. However, Councils were also given 
responsibility for any liabilities resulting from reductions in rateable values following appeals, and the setting of those 
rateable values remained the responsibility of the Valuation Office. TWBC still has appeals outstanding on some 
businesses with high rateable values and if they are substantially reduced, they could adversely affect the Councils share 
of retained business rates in the future. The Government also continues to change legislation which directly affects the 
Councils Business Rates income and the implications of the new 2017 Ratings List have yet to unravel. The Council 
established a Grant Volatility Earmarked reserve, which currently holds £1.1m, to mitigate against these risks and also the 
risks to other government grants, which are generally set annually after our budget process has been completed.  

Transfers to Earmarked Reserves were made of £1,091,000 to fund future schemes including revenue generating capital 
investments for the future. 

All of the hard work the Council has undertaken to become more efficient, grow revenue and provide value for money has 
enabled the Council to achieve this surplus. There is every indication that Government funding will continue to be reduced 
into the future but this Council is in a strong position to meet these future financial challenges. 

5 Capital Programme and Outturn for 2016/17 

The Council’s Capital Programme was approved at the Cabinet meeting of 3 March 2016, and approved a gross budget of 
£15,999,000. In net terms, after allowing for specific funding, the amount to be met from the sale of assets or from the 
Capital and Revenue Initiative Reserve was £10,715,000. The table below shows how this changed during the year from 
additional approvals, deletions and reductions, and from spend being rescheduled to and from the next financial year. 

Page 23

Appendix A



Narrative Report 

 8 

 
Gross Expenditure Income/Funding Net Expenditure 

 
£000 £000 £000 

    
Original approved gross capital programme 15,999 (10,715) 5,284 

Approvals added or increased  2,395 (1,826) 569 

Approvals deleted or reduced (5,492) 2,266 (3,226) 

Deferred to 2017/18 (5,144) 4,477 (667) 

Brought forward from 2017/18 65  (50) 15 

    
Actual expenditure 2016/17 7,823 (5,848) 1,975 

 

Reductions and deferrals mainly related to the Council’s Asset Acquisition Fund scheme, which at the start of the year 
stood at £9m, and which is only used if and when suitable property opportunities arise. 

The largest single schemes were: the Asset Acquisition Fund (£4,008,000), John Street Car Park (£1,022,000) Disabled 
Facilities Grants (£714,000), and the Cultural Hub (£490,000). 

The Council obtained a total of £27,000 from the sale of assets, as part of a continuing programme to review its asset 
base and to obtain the best price in the market when sale is appropriate. 

6 Liability for Pension Costs 

The Council’s net liability for future pension costs stood at £63.6m at 31 March 2017, an increase of about £8.2m from the 
previous year. The main reason for the increase is a decrease of 1.0% in the rate for discounting the scheme liabilities. 
Every 0.1% reduction in the discount rate creates an additional £3.1m in liability. The deficit is measured correctly in line 
with accounting standards, which, for example, measure the value of the assets held by the Pension Fund according to 
their market value at 31 March 2017, rather than assessing the likely income over the period in which the benefits will be 
paid. 

The next actuarial valuation of the Fund will be carried out as at 31 March 2019.  
 
7 Material and Unusual Charges in the accounts 

There were no material charges to the accounts. 
 
8 Changes to Accounting Policies 

Note 2 to the Statement of Accounts explains the changes to accounting policies that have been adopted for 2016/17 and 
also those which have not yet been included in the accounting Code of Practice. Changes to the format of the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, the Movement in Reserves Statement and the introduction of the 
new Expenditure and Funding Analysis have required a restatement of these main accounting statements and notes, but 
not the Balance Sheet. 

9 Revenue budget for 2016/17 and beyond 

The table below summarises planned net expenditure on services for 2017/18 compared to 2016/17, and shows how this 
is funded from government grants and council tax. This shows that there is a net budget of £333,000 being returned to 
reserves from revenue. This is made up of returns to the reserves of £215,000 pensions settlement revenue saving from a 
one-off payment made to the Kent Pensions Fund in 2012/13, £12,000 insurance saving from the contract renewal to 
cover policy excess increases and £12,000 for the interest from the “Lend a Hand” mortgage scheme. Also an amount 
equivalent to the £202,000 received of Revenue Support Grant is being paid to the General Fund to achieve financial self-
sufficiency.  

 

Budget 
2016/17 

Budget 
2017/18 

Budget 
Change 

 
£000 £000 £000 

    
Chief Executive 150  152  2 

Finance and Corporate Services 6,519  6,434  (85)  

Change and Communities 459 56 (403) 

Planning and Development 6,259  5,809  (450) 

Net Expenditure on Services 13,387  12,451  (936) 

Net Interest Receivable (681) (581) 100 

Page 24

Appendix A



Narrative Report 

 9 

Net Expenditure by Borough Council 12,706  11,870  (836) 

    
General Grants & Non-Domestic Rates (5,691) (4,750) 941  

Council Tax (7,123) (7,561) (438) 

Income from Grants & Council Tax (12,814) (12,311) 503  

    
Net withdrawal from/(contribution to) reserves (108) (441) (333) 

 
It should be noted that the services expenditure figures above are shown purely on a funding basis and therefore exclude 
adjustments between accounting and funding bases as set out in Note 7 to the Statement of Accounts. 
 
The table below shows the main variances in planned services expenditure from 2016/17 to 2017/18. 
 

Reasons for Major Variances £ 000's 

  
Increased Car Parking Income (462) 

Reduction in Staff Costs (268) 

Debt Recovery Service In-house (105) 

Increase in Crematorium Income (80) 

Business rates revaluation  91 

Other small increases/decreases  in income and expenditure (112) 

Decrease in Net Interest Receivable 100 

Difference in Net Expenditure by Borough Council (836) 

  
Reductions in Government Grants 941 

Council Tax increase and Increased Tax Base (438) 

Difference in Income from Grants & Council Tax 503 

Difference in Net Withdrawal from/(contribution to) Earmarked Reserves (333) 

 
Beyond 2017/18 the Council intends to continue its commitment to balance the revenue budget without the use of 
reserves. Its projections assume that Council Tax will be increased by 3.0% in 2018/19 and that fees and charges will rise 
by an average of 3% each year. 
 
10 Capital Programme 2017/18 to 2019/20 

At their meeting of 9 February 2017 Cabinet approved a new capital programme covering the years 2017/18 to 2019/20. 
This was subsequently amended by deferrals from and to 2016/17 and by some additions and deletions approved at the 
meeting of 22 June 2017. The adjusted capital programme is summarised below: 
 

 

R
e
s

e
rv

e
s
 

B
o

rr
o

w
in

g
 

G
o

v
t.

 G
ra

n
ts

 

O
th

e
r 

g
ra

n
ts

 

&
 c

o
n

tr
ib

s
. 

T
o

ta
l 
 

 
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

2017/18 

     Asset Acquisition Fund - 2,992  - - 2,992  

Crescent Road Car Park 2,760  - - - 2,760  

Public Realm Improvements 379  - - 1,000  1,379  

Disabled Facilities Grants - - 945  - 945  

Dowding House 335  - - - 335  

RVP Car Park Extract Fans 330  - - - 330  

Affordable Housing Grants - - - 314  314  

Calverley Grounds Play Area 70  - - 239  309  

Telephony MKIP Project - - 287 - 287  

Other schemes 990  - 349  370  1,709  

      

Page 25

Appendix A



Narrative Report 

 10 

Total 4,864  2,992  1,581  1,923  11,360  

      2018/19 to 2019/20 

     Cultural Hub 7,280  - - 7,200  14,480  

Disabled Facilities Grants - - 1,648  - 1,648  

Other schemes 548  - - - 548  

      Total 7,828  - 1,648  7,200  16,676  

      Total approved programme 12,692  2,992  3,229  9,123  28,036  

 
 
11 Borrowing 

During 2010/11 the Council investigated the possibility of purchasing properties for the purposes of investment and 
possible future use by the Council. To put itself in a position to bid for and complete the purchase it borrowed £20m from 
the Public Works Loan Board and provision was made in the capital programme for such purchases. At the end of 2016/17 
£4m of the borrowing had been used to finance capital expenditure on two property purchases. The remaining loan has 
been put into planned investments.  

The Council is making repayments of this loan of £2m each year, and will to do this by ensuring that the corresponding 
investments expire in time to make the repayment, by selling surplus assets or borrowing new funds from the PWLB. The 
Council continues to have the choice of repaying the money early, or spending it on further planned property purchases. 

12 Material events after reporting date 

Since 31 March 2017, the Council completed on the sale of land at Holly Farm in Hawkenbury for £9.25m. The receipt will 
be phased upon meeting certain milestones, but £1.85m was received in May 2017. In addition, a further 4 sites were sold 
at auction in May 2017 for a total of £536,000. The total of £2,386,000 will be usable capital receipts that can fund the 
capital programme going forward. 

13 Impact of current economic climate 

Overall 2016/17 proved to be yet another challenging year as the Council was required to manage a further reduction in 
core government grant, bringing the total reduction following the 2010 Spending Review to 82%, which translates to a 
cash reduction of £3.8 million. The Council has continued to operate within the parameters of the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy, which ensures the delivery of the Council’s priorities. 

Through the identification of further savings and increased partnership working the Council was able to set a balanced 
revenue budget for 2016/17 without the use of general reserves. This was made possible by the Council taking a more 
strategic view in reducing costs, which has ensured that savings are delivered on a sound basis and that there are no 
unintended consequences to service delivery.  

The foresight to diversify the investment of reserves away from purely interest rate dependent cash deposits into a 
property fund has proved to be particularly well-timed, achieving both greater levels of return and capital growth.  

The strategic decision to acquire new assets will further diversify income streams and will militate against exposure to the 
rising costs of sourcing temporary accommodation. The borough continued to be a sought after location with both housing 
and businesses with recent press reports identifying over £1 billion of inward investment if all planned schemes are 
delivered. The local property market continues to show positive growth. Local developers are reporting very strong interest 
in the first major new housing schemes for some time, so much so that only limited numbers of properties are being 
released for sale at a time with subsequent releases resulting in even higher asking prices. The glossy brochures 
produced by the developers that are successfully attracting large numbers of people looking to move into the borough 
highlight the attractive environment and facilities of the borough (which are nearly all provided or funded as discretionary 
services by the Council). 

Through the culture of rigorous budget management, investing in digital technology and adapting services to reflect the 
needs of local businesses the Council was able to come in under budget and transfer savings to reserves. This will help to 
prepare for when the government ceases to provide any revenue support grant and the Council will be more reliant on the 
share of retained business rates.    

The national economy continued to improve with the International Monetary Fund (IMF) revising up its growth forecasts for 
the second time in three months due to stronger than expected performance since Brexit. The IMF is now forecasting UK 
growth of 2 per cent in 2017 making it the second fastest growing advanced economy after the US. Despite the dramatic 
reductions in funding experienced by Local Government, the National Government’s budget is still being set with a deficit 
and the original plan to arrive at a budget surplus in 2019/20 has been put back. The headline inflation rate came in above 
the Bank of England’s target of 2.0 per cent whilst the bank rate is expected to remain at 0.25 per cent throughout 2017. 
The cost of providing local services in an expensive and thriving area such as the Tunbridge Wells Borough, continues to 
bring its own challenges regarding the ability of the Council and contractors to recruit and retain staff. This is a particular 

Page 26

Appendix A



Narrative Report 

 11 

pressure for services where fees are set nationally by the Government, and for the Council, results in planning and 
licensing application fees not covering the Council’s costs for processing and determination.  

Locally, economic activity continues to hold up well, although the net impact on the Council’s income streams is rather 
mixed. The Council was able to support a number of initiatives that have benefitted local businesses and residents such 
as the Ice Rink and a period of free Christmas car parking. Despite the unprecedented external challenges faced by Local 
Government, the Council’s proactive financial management ensured that services were provided as planned, and the 
Council still holds a sufficient level of reserves which are needed to invest in existing and new community assets. 

The Borough has the second lowest unemployment rate in Kent at just 0.8 per cent as at March 2017 and residents have 
median earnings of £28,700. The borough has the second highest Gross Value per Head of Population in Kent at £28,256 
and is one of only three districts in Kent to be above the level for the South East as a whole. 

Following the Parliamentary election in 2015 the Government published its Spending Review 2015, which set out even 
more drastic cuts in funding for Local Government as the number of protected Central Government departments has been 
increased. In October 2016 the Council accepted the Government’s four year funding offer which will result in the 
complete loss of Revenue Support. However, the financial performance of the Council in 2016/17 and the adoption of a 
new Medium-Term Financial Strategy place it on a sound footing to manage the ending of government financial support, 
whilst still delivering the broad range of services expected from a successful and growing Borough. 

 

 
 

 

Page 27

Appendix A



Statement of Responsibilities 
 

 12 

Annual Governance Statement 

 
Scope of responsibility 
 

1. Tunbridge Wells Borough Council is responsible for ensuring that its business is conducted in accordance with the 
law and proper standards. It must also ensure that public money is safeguarded and correctly accounted for and 
used economically, efficiently and effectively. The Council also has a duty under the Local Government Act 1999 to 
make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised, having regard 
to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness. 

 
2. In discharging this overall responsibility, Tunbridge Wells Borough Council is responsible for putting in place proper 

arrangements for the governance of its affairs, and for ensuring that there is a sound system of internal control which 
facilitates the effective exercise of its functions, including arrangements for the management of risk. 

 
3. The Council has approved and adopted a code of corporate governance, which is consistent with the principles of 

the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework: ‘Good Governance in Local Government’. This statement explains how Tunbridge 
Wells Borough Council has complied with the code and also meets the requirements of regulation 6 of the Accounts 
and Audit Regulations 2015, which requires all relevant authorities to prepare an Annual Governance Statement. 
This statement builds on last year’s Annual Governance Statement and encompasses the 2016 edition of the 
CIPFA/SOLACE: ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local Government’. 

 
The purpose of the governance framework 

 
4. The governance framework comprises the systems and processes, and culture and values, by which the authority is 

directed and controlled and its activities through which it accounts to, engages with and leads the community. It 
enables the authority to monitor the achievement of its strategic objectives and to consider whether those objectives 
have led to the delivery of appropriate, cost-effective services. 

 
5. The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and is designed to manage risk to a reasonable 

level. It cannot eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives and can therefore only provide 
reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an ongoing 
process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of Tunbridge Wells Borough Council’s 
policies, aims and objectives; to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be 
realised; and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. 

 
6. The governance framework has been in place at Tunbridge Wells Borough Council during the year ended 31 March 

2017 and up to the date of approval of the Financial Report. 
 

The current governance framework is based on the 2007 guidance from CIPFA/SOLACE. 
 

http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/council/councillors-and-meetings/how-the-council-works/council-constitution) 
 
Consequently, it will require review during 2017/18 to demonstrate continued good governance against the 
new guidance. The headings below consequently draw from the 2007 guidance, but also include a brief 
reconciliation against the core components of the 2016 guidance. 

 
The application of the governance framework 

 
7. CIPFA and SOLACE have together undertaken extensive research and consultation to produce a framework for 

delivering good governance in local government. The principles and standards set out in the 2016 framework are 
taken from the International Framework. This framework states that: ‘To deliver good governance in the public 
sector, both governing bodies and individuals working for public sector entities must try to achieve their entity’s 
objectives while acting in the public interest. At all times.’ The framework sets out the following core principles as 
follows: 

 

 Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and respecting the rule of law;  

 Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement;  

 Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and environmental benefits;  

 Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the intended outcomes;  

 Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the individuals within it; 

 Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public financial management; and 

 Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit to deliver effective accountability.  
 
8. The framework also encourages local authorities to test their structures against these principles by: 
 

 reviewing their existing governance arrangements against the framework;  

Page 28

Appendix A

http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/council/councillors-and-meetings/how-the-council-works/council-constitution


Statement of Responsibilities 
 

 13 

 developing and maintaining an up-to-date local code of governance including arrangements for ensuring its 
ongoing application and effectiveness; and  

 preparing a governance statement in order to report publicly on the extent to which they comply with their own 
code on an annual basis, including how they have monitored the effectiveness of their governance 
arrangements in the year, and on any planned changes for the coming period.  

 
9. This statement takes each of the principles espoused in the Council’s Local Code of Corporate Governance in turn 

and assesses the authority’s compliance and performance together with any issues that need to be addressed. 
 

Focus on the purpose of the authority and on outcomes for the community and creating and implementing a 
vision for the local area  

 
10. The Council’s ‘Vision 2026 – Enhancing the Quality of Life for All’ was refreshed at the end of 2013-14 and replaced 

with the first Five Year Plan 2014-2019. This was adopted by Full Council in April 2014 and aligned with the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy to set out a realistic and achievable plan for the authority over the 
following five years. Since that time we have undertaken a refresh of the Five Year Plan, which is currently being 
consulted on publicly, and will be considered by Full Council in September 2017. 

 
11. The ‘Strategic Compass’ aligns with the Council’s Five Year Plan, setting out our corporate commitments to staff and 

elected members. The ‘Strategic Compass’ adopts a balanced scorecard approach and encapsulates all priorities in 
relation to the community, residents and customers, staff and the provision of value for money.  

 
12. The Council’s approach to strategic, financial and service planning is integrated. The Corporate Five Year Plan was 

developed in parallel with the Medium Term Financial Strategy update and the Strategic Compass. The annual 
programme of community projects align with our annual updates of the Corporate Priorities, Asset Management Plan 
and Budget. These documents make clear what are priority and non-priority issues and inform the allocation of 
resources on an annual basis. This process has continued with the refresh of the Five Year Plan, with the MTFS 
recently being refreshed alongside this, and the corporate priorities (community projects) updated. 

 
13. The Cabinet (and other committees of the Council) receive quarterly reports on the progress made against our Five 

Year Plan (our corporate priorities) as well as how we perform against our key performance indicators, resources 
and governance arrangements. The Council’s management team consider a range of indicators relating to 
performance, finance, customer care and sickness absence on a quarterly basis drawn from the Council’s 
performance management system. 

 
We are satisfied that by these measures we are effective in focussing on the purpose of the authority and on 
outcomes for the community. 

 
Members and officers working together to achieve a common purpose with clearly defined functions and 
roles  

 
14. The Council’s Constitution, as approved by the Full Council, clearly sets out the roles and responsibilities of the 

executive, non-executive, scrutiny and officer functions, with clear descriptions of delegations. It includes a Protocol 
on Member/Officer Relations, and a range of communication tools have been developed, including staff conventions, 
weekly councillor e-mail briefings, regular Management Board/Cabinet meetings, and member briefing sessions (see 
below under training). 

 
We are satisfied that Members and officers work together effectively in their defined roles to achieve a common 
purpose. 

 
Promoting the values for the authority and demonstrating the values of good governance through upholding 
high standards of conduct and behaviour  

 
15. The Council has adopted a Code of Corporate Governance which has been prepared in accordance with the 

principles outlined in the 2007 edition of the CIPFA/SOLACE: ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local Government’ 
but which remains consistent with the 2016 principles. The Council has also adopted codes of conduct for members 
and officers. Training has been provided on the various codes and this has been supplemented with written guidance 
and member briefings. Officers and members are required to declare interests that may impact on the Council’s 
decision-making process. In those circumstances where Members or Officers have a pecuniary or other significant 
interest they withdraw from the decision-making process. These interests are held on a register and reviewed on a 
regular basis by the Monitoring Officer. The register of Member Interests is also published on the Council’s website. 

 
16. The Council’s Constitution is kept under review by the Monitoring Officer and the Audit and Governance Committee. 

Changes are prepared through the Constitutional Review Working Party (CRWP) with the most recent proposed 
changes being agreed by the Audit and Governance Committee in June 2015 and March 2016.  

 

Page 29

Appendix A



Statement of Responsibilities 
 

 14 

17. All members and officers are under a duty to ensure that they comply with the relevant laws, regulations, internal 
policies and procedures, and that expenditure is lawful. Mechanisms are in place to ensure compliance including a 
scheme of delegation, authorisations and an active Internal Audit function. Awareness is maintained through regular 
briefings and information posted on the intranet as well as a comprehensive induction programme for councillors and 
staff. 

 
18. The Council operates a Confidential Reporting Code (also known as a Whistle-Blowing Charter) which is attached to 

the Council’s Constitution. The Council wants all its officers and members to be part of the drive towards exemplary 
standards in public life and the policy is designed to promote a culture of honesty and openness, and to reassure 
anyone who feels that their position might be threatened if they speak up. The policy includes a promise from senior 
officers to treat seriously claims made in good faith; that claims will be investigated; that the complainant will be 
informed of the outcome of the investigation; and that no one will suffer any disciplinary action if they make a 
complaint in good faith. The Code is available on the intranet and a briefing paper has been circulated to all staff as 
part of the Corporate Briefing process with links to relevant external agencies.  We have received no reports through 
the Whistleblowing Charter during 2016/17. 

 
We are satisfied that the Council effectively promotes its values and upholds high standards of behaviour. 

 
Taking informed and transparent decisions which are subject to effective scrutiny and managing risk  

 
19. The Council’s Constitution sets out how the Council operates, how decisions are made and the procedures which are 

followed to ensure that these are efficient, transparent and accountable to local people. The Constitution is 
continually reviewed to ensure that it is fit for purpose. The most recent version of the Council’s Constitution can be 
found on the Council’s website at:  

 
http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/council/councillors-and-meetings/how-the-council-works/council-constitution 

 
20. Under the terms of the Constitution, the whole Council is responsible for the determination of the policy and budget 

framework. 
 
21. The Council has a good record of being transparent about where public money is spent. For many years the Council 

has made public details of senior officers’ salaries within the published Statement of Accounts, and as part of the 
annual audit it has always been possible for the public to request to see further information on the various vouchers 
which support the figures.  

 
22. The Council also places a notice every year in the local press so that the public can see the value of allowances and 

expenses paid to every member of the Council.  
 
23. The Council has been at the forefront of making it even easier to see where it spends taxpayers’ money. With this 

regard the Council embraced the transparency agenda of the Coalition Government. This is just the start, and further 
publication of financial information will follow where there is a public appetite.  

 
24. It is hoped that such wide publication of information will turn the tide on the number of bespoke and blanket freedom 

of information requests from the media which continue to demand significant resources to administer.  
 
25. The Council’s Cabinet is responsible for shaping and ensuring the delivery of the Council’s day-to-day services within 

the parameters of the Five Year Plan and Budget. A Forward Plan of Key Decisions is published to enable 
consideration to be given by other elected members, stakeholders and the public. Cabinet meets regularly in public. 
Further details of individual Cabinet members and Cabinet as a whole (including links to agendas and minutes) can 
be found on the website:  

 
http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/council/councillors-and-meetings/how-the-council-works/governance-of-the-
council#cabinet 

 
26. The Council introduced new Standards Arrangements, in accordance with the Localism Act 2011. It was decided to 

allocate the functions of the Standards Committee to the Audit Committee to form an Audit and Governance 
Committee which assists the Council in assuring its overall governance framework. This committee includes 
independent members who have been very effective in providing challenge on a range of governance issues. The 
Audit and Governance Committee have produced annual reports which provide further details of their work.  

 
27. The Council’s Overview and Scrutiny function is discharged by an Overview and Scrutiny Committee. The committee 

undertakes special policy reviews, and through the ‘call-in’ process challenge the decisions made by Cabinet.  
 
28. Further details of the membership and work of this committee can be found on the website:  
 

http://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=359 
 

Page 30

Appendix A

http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/council/councillors-and-meetings/how-the-council-works/council-constitution
http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/council/councillors-and-meetings/how-the-council-works/governance-of-the-council#cabinet
http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/council/councillors-and-meetings/how-the-council-works/governance-of-the-council#cabinet
http://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=359


Statement of Responsibilities 
 

 15 

29. In April 2012 the Council adopted governance arrangements to ensure the decision-making process is more 
inclusive and to involve more non-executive members in the day to day decisions taken by Cabinet. The revised 
model created three Cabinet Advisory Boards whose role is to participate in the development of Cabinet key 
decisions and to help develop the policy framework that Cabinet recommends to Council. The number of Overview 
and Scrutiny committees has been reduced to one. Full details of the governance arrangements can be found on the 
website: 

 
http://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=1506&Ver=4 

 
30. The Council has developed a wide range of methods of consultation and communication which have been brought 

together in the Council’s Communication and Engagement Strategy, which is currently being refreshed. This 
incorporates policies on communication, ‘hard to reach’ groups and customer access. Particular examples include 
the use of social media, a consultation portal, borough magazine, website, surveys, focus groups and traditional 
printed media. The Council also works closely with a wide range of partners and community groups including parish 
councils and the voluntary and community sector.  

 
31. The Council has a Risk Management Strategy which provides a comprehensive framework for identifying, evaluating 

and managing risk. The strategy sets out the role of members and designates the Chief Executive as responsible for 
leading the management of risk in the Council, and allocates responsibilities to risk owners.  

 
32. Following changes to the political and economic environment along with a restructure of the Council, a strategic risk 

register was developed in association with Zurich Municipal plc. The review took the form of a workshop in 
December 2013 which was facilitated by professional risk managers from Zurich Insurance Group and attended by 
the Council’s Management Team, Audit Managers and politicians responsible for finance and governance.  

 
33. Cabinet and senior managers have reviewed the strategic risks, and action plans have been developed to manage 

those risks. The Strategic Risk Register is more focused on those areas which present the greatest risk to the 
Council not achieving its objectives and Strategic Plan.  

 
34. The Risk Register is subject to periodic reviews by the Council’s Management Board, with risk owners invited to 

attend the Audit and Governance Committee throughout the year. A report on the Strategic Risk Register was 
presented to Cabinet in April 2016. 

 
http://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s26923/10%20Strategic%20Risk%20Register%20-
%20Report.pdf 

 
We are satisfied these arrangements are operating effectively but recognise the additional demands brought about 
by reductions in senior staffing and the Council’s development programme, as set out below. 

 
Developing the capacity and capability of members and officers to be effective  

 
35. The Council is committed to identifying and fulfilling the learning and development needs of members and officers. 

Officer training needs are identified through the annual appraisal process, six-monthly review and on an ongoing 
basis. A corporate training budget has been established and a training calendar developed to meet training and 
development needs identified through the appraisal process. Members are periodically surveyed to assess training 
needs, and a separate budget is made available for training that is required yearly (such as planning, licensing and 
audit committee training), or for training that has been identified through the survey. 

 
We are satisfied these arrangements operate effectively to develop the Council’s capacity, but acknowledge the 
staffing changes described below. 

 
Engaging with local people and other stakeholders to ensure robust public accountability 

 
36. The Council manages service quality and the use of resources in a number of ways: through rigorous performance 

management (with key performance indicators aligned to the Council’s key priorities); through the gathering of 
customer satisfaction data through surveys, complaints and mystery shopping; through external and peer reviews; 
and through a process of business transformation. The Council also has a recently updated Equality Policy 
Statement, and conducts equality impact assessments which are publicly consulted on.  

 
37. The Council has for many years carried out regular surveys of its residents. The 2015 face to face survey of 1,000 

residents reported that 67 per cent of residents agree that Tunbridge Wells Borough Council provides value for 
money – a significant improvement on previous years; 2012 (58 per cent), 2010 (51 per cent) and 2008 (30 per cent).  

 
We completed a Residents’ Survey in 2015 which continued to demonstrate effectiveness of the Council’s 
engagement strategy. 

 
 

Page 31

Appendix A

http://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=1506&Ver=4
http://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s26923/10%20Strategic%20Risk%20Register%20-%20Report.pdf
http://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s26923/10%20Strategic%20Risk%20Register%20-%20Report.pdf


Statement of Responsibilities 
 

 16 

Review of effectiveness 

 
38. Tunbridge Wells Borough Council has responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a review of the effectiveness of 

its governance framework, including the system of internal control. The review of effectiveness is informed by the 
work of the executive managers within the authority who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of 
the governance environment, by the Head of Audit Partnership’s annual report, and also by comments made by the 
external auditors and other review agencies and inspectorates. The Council’s Audit and Governance Committee, 
comprising both councillors and co-opted independent members, also has an ongoing responsibility to seek 
assurances concerning the Council’s governance framework, processes and controls. 

 
39. The processes that we have applied in maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control 

are set out below: 
 

Internal Audit 

 
40. The Council has in place arrangements for internal audit for which the Director of Policy, Finance and Development 

has overall responsibility. Internal audit work is planned and undertaken on a risk-based approach and complies fully 
with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, as established by an independent assessment undertaken by the 
Institute of Internal Auditors in April 2015.  

 
41. During 2016/17 the Head of Audit Partnership has delivered the work programme set out in the Audit Plan agreed by 

the Audit & Governance Committee on 29 March 2016.  The Head of Audit opinion to be provided to Members 
provides assurance that the system of internal control, governance and risk management that has been in place for 
the year ended 31 March 2017 accords to proper practice and has operated effectively. One area was reported as 
offering only ‘weak’ assurance in 2016/17; the Council’s arrangements on Safeguarding.  While the audit report 
stressed that the Council had not caused or allowed harm to come to any individuals, it noted weaknesses in the 
rigour and resilience of safeguarding measures. The Council is working to implement the audit recommendations, 
with regular reports on progress to Management Board and members of the Audit & Governance Committee. 

 
Other explicit review/assurance mechanisms 

 
42. The Council has a range of other review/assurance mechanisms which, between them, contribute to the overall 

effectiveness of the Council’s control environment. These include:  
 

 The Council, Cabinet and committees are advised by the Council’s Management Board;  

 Corporate Asset issues come before a Development Advisory Panel to ensure that the Council adopts a holistic 
approach in the acquisition, maintenance, review and disposal of property and assets;  

 Human Resources oversees the Council’s overall approach to effective people management, including regular 
appraisals and the provision of relevant training and development activity;  

 A standardised approach to project management has been adopted by the Council and additional resources 
have been put into key projects to ensure that they are adequately managed and delivered to time, cost and 
quality; 

 The Council works with Maidstone and Swale councils to look at opportunities for partnership working, but has 
an open attitude to working with anyone that can improve the value for money services. As part of this process, 
services are subjected to external review, satisfaction surveys and benchmarking, as well as an examination of 
service processes to assess value for money. 

 In the Summer of 2016, the Council developed plans with the Local Government Association (LGA) to volunteer 
to have a peer challenge to help improve performance and learning from others within the sector. The three day 
on-site assessment reviewed the following areas; 

 
• Understanding of the local place and priority setting 
• Leadership of place 
• Financial planning and viability 
• Organisational leadership and governance; and 
• Capacity to deliver 

 
The findings of the LGA Peer Challenge were reported to Cabinet in March 2017 and overall provided an 
extremely positive set of findings. 

 
http://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s31254/9%20LGA%20Corporate%20Peer%20Chall
enge%20-%20Report.pdf 

 
  
CONCLUSION 

 
43. There is a commitment to monitor the implementation of this Annual Governance Statement and to report back as 

part of the next annual review.  

Page 32

Appendix A

http://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s31254/9%20LGA%20Corporate%20Peer%20Challenge%20-%20Report.pdf
http://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s31254/9%20LGA%20Corporate%20Peer%20Challenge%20-%20Report.pdf


Statement of Responsibilities 
 

 17 

 
CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Head of Internal Audit 

 
44. CIPFA introduced a formal requirement for local authorities to report on compliance with the Statement on the Role 

of the Head of Internal Audit (2010). This Council complies with these requirements. 
 
45. A shared corporate approach is taken in order to compile the Annual Governance Statement, as it is the Council’s 

view that it should be owned by all senior officers and members of the Council, and any delegation to an individual or 
section would dilute the statement’s significance and encourage others to distance themselves from their proper 
responsibilities. 

 
http://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/meetings/documents/g3576/Public%20reports%20pack%2028th-Jun-
2016%2018.00%20Audit%20and%20Governance%20Committee.pdf?T=10 

 
46. Although the evidence provided to date points towards the conclusion of a sound level of internal control, it should be 

noted that there was one audit report which have corporate or significant implications where only ‘weak’ control 
assurance was found to be in place at the end of the financial year. No new assurance rating has been provided as 
actions to implement the recommendations were continuing. However, the review did note positive progress since 
the date of the audit report and anticipated sound assurance being received once actions were in place. The report 
covered: 

 

 Safeguarding. 
 
47. In addition, the reduction in the number of staff has increased the risk of non-compliance with a number of regulatory 

regimes including, Data Protection, Freedom of Information requests, HMRC and Equalities. This vulnerability is 
reflected as a risk to the Strategic Risk Register. Operational risk is managed at service manager level by individual 
managers. 

 
CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government  

 
48. CIPFA introduced a formal requirement for local authorities to report on compliance with the Statement on the Role 

of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government (2010).  
 
49. The Council’s Senior Management Structure complies with all requirements, including the first principle which 

requires that: 
 

 ‘The Chief Financial Officer reports directly to the Chief Executive and is a member of the Leadership Team 
with a status at least equivalent to other members.’  

 
Significant Governance Issues 

 
50. There a number of significant governance issues; 
 

1) The reduction in staff capacity and increased use of services and public expectation leaves the Council 
at a greater risk of non-compliance with a number of regulatory regimes as set out above.  

 
2) The Council has an ambitious development programme that it wants to implement and Cabinet have 

agreed a total budget of up to £5,000,000 to obtain the required expertise to produce business and 
development cases for each site. The report in August 2013 sets out the governance and risk 
management arrangements for this fund. In a buoyant market securing the right level of expertise both 
internal and external is crucial to the delivery of major projects. The Development Programme is now a 
separate risk on the Council’s Strategic Risk Register.  

 
3) Revising the Local Code of Governance to align with the 2016 guidance. 

 
Action Plan 

 
51. These are included on the Council’s Strategic Risk Register; further details are contained within the risk register 

report.  
 

http://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s31570/Item%207A%20-
%20Strategic%20risk%20review%20-%20report.pdf 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 33

Appendix A

http://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/meetings/documents/g3576/Public%20reports%20pack%2028th-Jun-2016%2018.00%20Audit%20and%20Governance%20Committee.pdf?T=10
http://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/meetings/documents/g3576/Public%20reports%20pack%2028th-Jun-2016%2018.00%20Audit%20and%20Governance%20Committee.pdf?T=10
http://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s31570/Item%207A%20-%20Strategic%20risk%20review%20-%20report.pdf
http://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s31570/Item%207A%20-%20Strategic%20risk%20review%20-%20report.pdf


Statement of Responsibilities 
 

 18 

Issues raised in the previous year’s Annual Governance Statement 

 
52. There were four issues raised in the previous year’s Annual Governance Statement, three of which remain live and 

are described above. The other issue concerned the disaggregation of the Planning Support Service from the Mid 
Kent Improvement Partnership. This service was successfully brought back in-house in July 2016.  

 
Reconciliation to the new 2016 principles 

 

Principle Arrangement at TWBC Conclusion on effectiveness 

A: Behaving with integrity… See paragraphs 15-18 Operating effectively 

B: Ensuring openness… See paragraphs 21-24 Operating effectively 

C: Defining sustainable outcomes… See paragraphs 10-13 Operating effectively 

D: Determining necessary 
interventions… 

See paragraphs 19-29 Operating effectively 

E: Developing our capacity… See paragraph 35 Operating effectively, but 
acknowledging challenges ahead 
(paragraph 50) 

F: Managing risk and 
performance… 

See paragraphs 31-34 Operating effectively, but 
acknowledging challenges ahead 
(paragraph 50) 

G: Transparency, reporting and 
audit… 

See paragraphs 38-49 Operating effectively 

 
 
 
Signed: 
 

 
 
 
 
Cllr David Jukes 
Leader of the Council  

 
 

 
 
William Benson 
Chief Executive   

 
On behalf of Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
 

  

Page 34

Appendix A



Statement of Responsibilities 
 

 19 

Statement of Responsibilities 

 

Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts 

The Borough Council’s Responsibilities 

The Council is required to: 

 Make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to ensure that one of its officers has 
the responsibility for the administration of those affairs. In this Council, that officer is the Director of Finance and 
Corporate Services. 

 Manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and to safeguard its assets. 

 Approve the Statement of Accounts 

The Responsibilities of the Director of Finance, Policy and Development 

The Director of Finance, Policy and Development is responsible for the preparation of the Council’s statement of accounts 
in accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Council Accounting in the 
United Kingdom (‘the Code’). 

In preparing this statement of accounts, the Director of Finance, Policy and Development has: 

 selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently 

 made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent 

 complied with the local authority Code 

The Director of Finance, Policy and Development has also: 

 kept proper accounting records which were up to date 

 taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities 

 

 

 

 

 

 

L.M. Colyer CPFA 

Director of Finance, Policy and Development  

 
31 May 2017

 

Page 35

Appendix A



Statement of Accounts 

 20 

Independent Auditor’s Report 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
We have audited the financial statements of Tunbridge Wells Borough Council (the "Authority") for the year ended 31 
March 2017 under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the "Act"). The financial statements comprise the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, the Movement in Reserves Statement, the Balance Sheet, the Cash 
Flow Statement, the Collection Fund and the related notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in 
their preparation is applicable law and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom 2016/17. 
This report is made solely to the members of the Authority, as a body, in accordance with Part 5 of the Act and as set out 
in paragraph 43 of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by Public Sector Audit 
Appointments Limited. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Authority’s members those 
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by 
law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Authority and the Authority's members as a body, 
for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 
 
Respective responsibilities of the Director of Finance and Corporate Services and auditor 

As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities, the Director of Finance and Corporate Services is responsible 
for the preparation of the Statement of Accounts, which includes the financial statements, in accordance with proper 
practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 
2016/17, which give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements 
in accordance with applicable law, the Code of Audit Practice published by the National Audit Office on behalf of the 
Comptroller and Auditor General (the “Code of Audit Practice”) and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). 
Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 
 
Scope of the audit of the financial statements 

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give 
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. 
This includes an assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Authority’s circumstances and have 
been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the 
Director of Finance and Corporate Services; and the overall presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we read 
all the financial and non-financial information in the Narrative Report and the Annual Governance Statement to identify 
material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially 
incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If 
we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report. 
 
Opinion on financial statements 

In our opinion: 
• the financial statements present a true and fair view of the financial position of the Authority as at 31 March 2017 
and of its expenditure and income for the year then ended; and 
• the financial statements have been prepared properly in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice 
on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17 and applicable law. 
 
Opinion on other matters 

In our opinion, the other information published together with the audited financial statements in the Narrative Report and 
the Annual Governance Statement for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with 
the audited financial statements. 
 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

We are required to report to you if: 
• in our opinion the Annual Governance Statement does not comply with the guidance included in ‘Delivering Good 
Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016)’ published by CIPFA and SOLACE; or 
• we have reported a matter in the public interest under section 24 of the Act in the course of, or at the conclusion 
of the audit; or 
• we have made a written recommendation to the Authority under section 24 of the Act in the course of, or at the 
conclusion of the audit; or 
• we have exercised any other special powers of the auditor under the Act. 
We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters. 
 
Conclusion on the Authority’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources 
Respective responsibilities of the Authority and auditor 

 
The Authority is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in 
its use of resources, to ensure proper stewardship and governance, and to review regularly the adequacy and 
effectiveness of these arrangements. 

Page 36

Appendix A



Statement of Accounts 

 21 

 
We are required under Section 20(1)(c) of the Act to be satisfied that the Authority has made proper arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. We are not required to consider, nor have we 
considered, whether all aspects of the Authority's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its 
use of resources are operating effectively. 
 
Scope of the review of the Authority's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use 
of resources 

We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the guidance on the 
specified criteria issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in November 2016, as to whether the Authority had proper 
arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable 
outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The Comptroller and Auditor General determined this criteria as that necessary 
for us to consider under the Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the Authority put in place proper 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 
2017. 
 
We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk assessment, we undertook such 
work as we considered necessary to form a view on whether in all significant respects the Authority has put in place 
proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 
 
Conclusion  

On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance on the specified criteria issued by the Comptroller and Auditor 
General in November 2016, we are satisfied that in all significant respects the Authority put in place proper arrangements 
for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2017. 
 
Certificate 

We cannot formally conclude the audit and issue an audit certificate for the Authority for the year ended 31 March 2017 in 
accordance with the requirements of the Act and the Code of Audit Practice until we have completed our consideration of 
an objection brought to our attention by a local authority elector under Section 27 of the Act. We are satisfied that this 
matter does do not have a material effect on the financial statements or on our conclusion on the Authority's arrangements 
for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2017. 
 
Signature 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Darren Wells  
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Appointed Auditor 
2nd Floor, St John's House, Haslett Avenue West. Crawley. RH10 1HS 
 
Date:  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 37

Appendix A



Statement of Accounts 

 22 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

 
2015/16 Restated 

Note 
 

2016/17 

Expend. Income Net 
  

Expend. Income Net 

£000 £000 £000 
  

£000 £000 £000 

        
167  - 167  

 
Chief Executive 167  (1) 166  

42,457  (36,264) 6,193  
 

Finance and Corporate Services 41,870  (35,715) 6,155  

12,151  (11,147) 1,004  
 

Change and Communities 13,854  (11,601) 2,253  

11,436  (5,894) 5,542  
 

Planning and Development 13,309  (6,527) 6,782  

      
  

      

66,211  (53,305) 12,906  
 

Cost of Services 69,200  (53,844) 15,356  

        

(151) - (151) 
 

(Gain) / Loss on disposal of non-current 
assets 

(27) - (27) 

1,987  - 1,987  
 

Parish Council Precepts 2,073  - 2,073  

52  - 52  
 

Pensions administration expenses 48  - 48  

        
1,888  - 1,888  

 
Other Operating Expenditure 2,094  - 2,094  

        
269  - 269  15  Interest payable 221  - 221  

- (975) (975) 15  Interest and investment income - (1,038) (1,038) 

1,994  - 1,994  20  Pensions interest expense and income 2,004  - 2,004  

        

2,263  (975) 1,288  
 

Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure 

2,225  (1,038) 1,187  

        

328  (4,969) (4,641) 
 

Non-ringfenced government grants and 
contributions 

509  (4,323) (3,814) 

(69) (2,502) (2,571) 
 

Capital grants and contributions - (104) (104) 

- (8,870) (8,870) 
 

Council Tax receivable - (9,301) (9,301) 

17,236  (19,400) (2,164) 
 

NNDR retained income 18,142  (20,981) (2,839) 

- (8) (8) 
 

Donated assets - (1) (1) 

        

17,495  (35,749) (18,254) 
 

Taxation and Non-Specific Grant 
Income 

18,651  (34,710) (16,059) 

        

  
(2,172) 

 
(Surplus) or Deficit on Provision of 
Services   

2,578  

        

  
(3,652) 8.2  

Surplus on revaluation of non-current 
assets   

(15,032) 

  
13  8.2  

Impairment losses on non-current assets 
charged to Revaluation Reserve   

139  

  
(588) 8.2 

(Surplus) or deficit on revaluation of 
available-for-sale financial assets   

162  

  
(8,289) 20  Re-measurement of defined benefit liability 

  
6,037  

  
(12,516) 

 
Other Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure   

(8,694) 

        

  
(14,688) 

 
Total Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure   

(6,116) 

 

Refer to Note 2.2 for explanation of restatement. 

 

 

  

Page 38

Appendix A



Statement of Accounts 

 23 

 

Movement in Reserves Statement 

 

 

G
e
n

e
ra

l 

F
u

n
d

 

C
a
p

it
a
l 

G
ra

n
ts

 &
 

C
o

n
tr

ib
s

. 

C
a
p

it
a
l 

R
e
c
e
ip

ts
 

T
o

ta
l 

U
s
a
b

le
 

R
e
s
e
rv

e
s

 

U
n

u
s

a
b

le
 

R
e
s
e
rv

e
s

 

T
o

ta
l 

R
e
s
e
rv

e
s

 

 
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

       
Balance at 31 March 2015 19,500  547  1,011  21,058  37,946  59,004  

       
Movement in Reserves in 2015/16 (Restated) 

      

       
Surplus or (deficit) on provision of services 
(accounting basis) 

2,172  - - 2,172  - 2,172  

Other Comprehensive Expenditure and Income - - - - 12,516  12,516  

Total Comprehensive Expenditure and Income 2,172  - - 2,172  12,516  14,688  

Adjustments between accounting and funding 
basis under regulation 

(3,669) 586  (11) (3,094) 3,093  (1) 

Net Increase / (Decrease) in Year (1,497) 586  (11) (922) 15,609  14,687  

       
Balance at 31 March 2016 18,003  1,133  1,000  20,136  53,555  73,691  

       
Movement in Reserves in 2016/17 

      

       
Surplus or (deficit) on provision of services 
(accounting basis) 

(2,578) - - (2,578) - (2,578) 

Other Comprehensive Expenditure and Income - - - - 8,694  8,694  

Total Comprehensive Expenditure and Income (2,578) - - (2,578) 8,694  6,116  

Adjustments between accounting and funding 
basis under regulation 

(123) (297) - (420) 420  - 

Net Increase / (Decrease) in Year (2,701) (297) - (2,998) 9,114  6,116  

       
Balance at 31 March 2017 15,302  836  1,000  17,138  62,669  79,807  

 

Details of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure are given in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. A 
further analysis of adjustments between accounting and funding bases are given in Note 7. Refer to Note 2.3 for 
explanation of restatement. The purpose of each Earmarked Reserve is set out in Note 8.  

  

Page 39

Appendix A



Statement of Accounts 

 24 

The Balance Sheet 

 

31 March 2016 Note  31 March 2017 

£000 
  

 £000 
 

   

 

  101,972  
 

10  Property, Plant & Equipment 111,571  
 3,391  

 
11  Heritage Assets 3,412  

 - 
 

12  Investment Property 1,781  
 626  

 
13  Intangible Assets 883  

 15,387  
 

15  Long Term Investments 15,225  
 3,276  

 
16  Long Term Debtors 1,729  

 

      

 
124,652  

 
Long Term Assets 

 
134,601  

      15,286  
 

15  Short Term Investments 5,207  
 45  

  
Stock 41  

 6,830  
 

16  Short Term Debtors 6,946  
 6,992  

  
Cash and Cash Equivalents 11,165  

 - 
 

14  Assets held for sale 9,595  
 

      

 
29,153  

 
Current Assets 

 
32,954  

      (2,058) 
  

Short Term Borrowing (3,049) 
 (9,767) 

 
17  Short Term Creditors (10,755) 

 (2,328) 
 

17  Short term Provisions (1,963) 
 (47) 

  
Capital grants receipts in advance (524) 

 

      

 
(14,200) 

 
Current Liabilities 

 
(16,291) 

      (8,000) 
 

15  Long Term Borrowing (5,000) 
 (886) 

 
17  Long Term Creditors (1,718) 

 (55,426) 
 

20  Long Term Pension Liability (63,594) 
 (1,602) 

  
Capital grants receipts in advance (1,145) 

 

      

 
(65,914) 

 
Long Term Liabilities 

 
(71,457) 

      

 
73,691  

 
Net Assets 

 
79,807  

      18,003  
 

8.1  General Fund 15,302  
 1,133  

 
8.1  Capital Grants & Contributions 836  

 1,000  
 

8.1  Usable Capital Receipts 1,000  
 

      

 
20,136  

 
Usable Reserves 

 
17,138  

      147  
 

8.2  Deferred capital receipts 147  
 31,543  

 
8.2  Revaluation reserve 45,915  

 (55,241) 
 

8.2  Pensions reserve (63,385) 
 75,457  

 
8.2  Capital adjustment account 78,329  

 (4) 
 

8.2  Financial instrument adjustment account (3) 
 266  

 
8.2  Collection fund adjustment account 441  

 1,387  
 

8.2  Available for sale financial instrum reserve 1,225  
 

      

 
53,555  

 
Unusable Reserves 

 
62,669  

      

 
73,691  

 
Total Reserves 

 
79,807  

 

 

  

Page 40

Appendix A



Statement of Accounts 

 25 

The Cash Flow Statement 

 

2015/16 
 

2016/17 

£000 £000 
 

£000 £000 

     
(29,930) 

 
Taxation (30,122) 

 
(37,117) 

 
Grants (41,550) 

 
(15,915) 

 
Sale of goods and rendering of services (16,685) 

 
(972) 

 
Interest received (1,115) 

 
(2,098) 

 
Other receipts from operating activities (2,940) 

 

     

 
(86,032) Cash inflows generated from operating activities 

 
(92,412) 

     
11,529  

 
Employees 11,779  

 
35,176  

 
Housing Benefit paid out 34,464  

 
18,474  

 
National Non-Domestic Rates tariff and levies 18,142  

 
2,214  

 
Precepts paid 2,301  

 
15,771  

 
Cash paid to suppliers of goods and services 18,870  

 
339  

 
Interest paid 230  

 
4,132  

 
Other payments for operating activities 4,483  

 

     

 
87,635  Cash outflows generated from operating activities 

 
90,269  

     

 
1,603  Net cashflows from operating activities 

 
(2,143) 

     

 
4,594  

Purchase of property, plant and equipment, investment 
property and intangible assets  

6,769  

 
10,000  Purchase of short-term and long-term investments 

 
14,000  

 
(151) 

Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment, 
investment property and intangible assets  

(27) 

 
(10,000) 

Proceeds from sale of short-term and long-term 
investments  

(24,000) 

 
(3,169) Grants and contributions to non-current assets 

 
(124) 

     

 
1,274  Net cashflows from investing activities 

 
(3,382) 

     

 
2,000  Repayments of short-term and long-term borrowing: 

 
2,000  

 
(422) Changes in Council tax balances held for preceptors 

 
(626) 

 
(2,299) Changes in NNDR balances held for central government 

 
(22) 

     

 
(721) Net cashflows from financing activities 

 
1,352  

     

 
2,156  

Net (increase) / decrease in cash and cash 
equivalents  

(4,173) 

     

     

 
9,148  Cash and Cash Equivalents as at 1 April 

 
6,992  

 
6,992  Cash and Cash Equivalents as at 31 March 

 
11,165  

 
2,156  

Net (increase) / decrease in cash and cash 
equivalents  

(4,173) 

 

  

Page 41

Appendix A



Statement of Accounts 

 26 

Expenditure and Funding Analysis 

 

 

 Net Expenditure 
Chargeable to 
General Fund 

Balances 

Adjustments 
between Funding 
and Accounting 

Basis 

Net Expenditure in the 
Comprehensive 

Income and 
Expenditure Statement 

2015/16 £000 £000 £000 

 

 

  
Chief Executive 149  18  167  

Finance and Corporate Services 6,547  (390) 6,157  

Change and Communities (621) 1,661  1,040  

Planning and Development 6,293  (751) 5,542  

    
Net Cost of Services 12,368  538  12,906  

    
Other Operating Expenditure 4,896  (3,008) 1,888  

Financing & Investment Income (705) 1,993  1,288  

Taxation & Non-Specific Grant Income (15,062) (3,192) (18,254) 

    
(Surplus) or Deficit 1,497  (3,669) (2,172) 

    

Opening General Fund Balance at 1 April 2015 (19,500) 
  

    
Less Deficit on General Fund In Year 1,497  

  

    

Closing General Fund Balance at 31 March 2016 (18,003) 
  

 

 

2016/17 £000 £000 £000 

 

 

  
Chief Executive 150  16  166  

Finance and Corporate Services 6,663  (508) 6,155  

Change and Communities 104  2,149  2,253  

Planning and Development 7,835  (1,053) 6,782  

    
Net Cost of Services 14,752  604  15,356  

    
Other Operating Expenditure 4,543  (2,449) 2,094  

Financing & Investment Income (816) 2,003  1,187  

Taxation & Non-Specific Grant Income (15,778) (281) (16,059) 

    
(Surplus) or Deficit 2,701  (123) 2,578  

    

Opening General Fund Balance at 1 April 2016 (18,003) 
  

    
Less Deficit on General Fund In Year 2,701  

  

    

Closing General Fund Balance at 31 March 2017 (15,302) 
  

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
Notes to the Accounts  

Page 42

Appendix A



Statement of Accounts 

 27 

Notes to the Core Financial Statements 

 

1 Accounting Policies 

1.1 General Principles 

The Statement of Accounts summarises the Council’s transactions for the 2016/17 financial year and its position at the 
end of 31 March 2017, the close of the financial year. The Council is required to prepare an Annual Statement of Accounts 
by the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, which specify that the Statement is prepared in accordance with proper 
accounting practices. These primarily comprise the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 
2016/17, and the Service Reporting Code of Practice 2016/17, supported by International Financial Reporting Standards.  
The accounting convention adopted is historical cost, modified by the revaluation of certain categories of non-current 
assets. 

1.2 Accruals of Expenditure and Income 

The Council accounts for activity in the year that it takes place, not simply when cash payments are made or received. In 
particular: 

 Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the Council transfers the significant risks and rewards of 
ownership to the purchaser, and it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the 
transaction will flow to the Council. 

 Revenue from the provision of services is recognised when the Council can measure reliably the percentage of 
completion of the transaction and it is probable that economic benefits or service potential associated with the 
transaction will flow to the Council. 

 Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed – where there is a gap between the date supplies 
are received and their consumption, and where the amounts are significant, they are carried as stocks on the 
Balance Sheet. 

 Expenses in relation to services received are recorded as expenditure when the services are received, rather 
than when the payments are made. However, as set out in Note 1.7 below, the Council does not accrue for 
services provided by employees, as the amounts concerned are not material. 

 Interest payable on borrowings and receivable on investments is accounted for on the basis of the effective 
interest rate for the relevant financial instrument rather than the cash flows fixed or determined by the contract. 

 Where income and expenditure have been recognised but cash has not been received or paid, a debtor or 
creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in the Balance Sheet.  

 Accruals for income are offset by allowances for the impairment of debt where it is determined that recovery is 
unlikely, although the Council continues to attempt to recover sums legally due. This policy applies to contractual 
debt as well as to statutory debt for Council Tax, Non-Domestic Rates and overpayment of Housing Benefit. 

The Council collects income from Council Tax payers, but only part of the income relates to this Council, the balance 
being collected on behalf of other major precepting authorities. The amounts of debtors, adjustments for doubtful debts, 
and income in advance that relate to the precepting authorities are shown as a single net creditor in the balance sheet. 
The element of the Collection Fund due to preceptors is split between payments due to be made in the following financial 
year, which are held as Short Term Creditors, and any other amounts, due in succeeding financial years, which are shown 
as Long Term Creditors. In the event of a deficit, the amounts would be split between Short Term and Long Term Debtors. 

Accounting for Non-Domestic Rates is on the same basis as Council Tax. 

1.3 Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable without penalty on notice of not 
more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature three months or less from the date of acquisition and 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value. 

The Council does not operate a cash overdraft on its bank account.. 

1.4 Charges to Revenue for Non-Current Assets and other capital expenditure 

The Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services is debited or credited with the following amounts to record the cost of 
holding non-current assets during the year: 

 Depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant service; 

 Revaluation and impairment losses on assets used by the service, where there are no accumulated gains in the 
Revaluation Reserve against which the losses can be written off; 

 Any subsequent reversal of such losses. 

Page 43

Appendix A



Statement of Accounts 

 28 

 The annual write-down of intangible fixed assets attributable to the service. 

 Any revenue costs which are met from capital resources as Revenue Expenditure Financed from Capital under 
Statute (REFFCUS – see Note 1.22 below) 

The Council is not required to raise Council Tax to fund these charges, and they are therefore reversed through an 
appropriation from the Capital Adjustment Account to the General Fund. 

1.5 Contingent Assets 

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from a past event and whose existence will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Council. Typically 
a contingent asset is related to a legal action by the authority, whose outcome is uncertain when the balance sheet is 
compiled. 

Contingent assets are not recognised in the balance sheet, but their existence is recorded in a note to the accounting 
statements. 

1.6 Contingent Liabilities 

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from a past event and whose existence will be confirmed only by 
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Council. 
Typically a contingent liability is related to a legal action against the authority, whose outcome is uncertain when the 
balance sheet is compiled. 

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the balance sheet, but their existence is recorded in a note to the accounting 
statements. 

1.7 Employee Benefits Payable during Employment 

Accounting standards require that accruals for expenditure are made for short-term compensated absences, covering 
entitlements for annual leave, flexi-time and time in lieu. The Council has determined that the net value of the accumulated 
leave, etc. in previous years is immaterial, and therefore makes no adjustment for these amounts. At the end of each 
financial year an assessment is made to ensure that the amounts involved remain immaterial. 

1.8 Events after the Balance Sheet date 

Events after the Balance Sheet Date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that occur between the end of 
the financial year and the date when the Statement of Accounts is authorised for issue. There are potentially two types of 
events: 

 If they provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period, the Statement of Accounts is 
amended to reflect these events; 

 If they are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period, the Statement of Accounts is not 
amended. If, however, an event would have a material effect, a disclosure is made in the notes to the accounts, 
outlining the event and its estimated financial effect. 

Any event taking place after the accounts are authorised for issue is not reflected in the Statement of Accounts. 

1.9 Exceptional Items 

Where items of income and expense are material, their nature and amount is disclosed separately on the face of the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Account and also in the notes to the accounts. 

1.10 Financial instruments 

Financial Assets 

The term “financial asset” covers cash, equity instruments, and beneficial contractual rights to receive or exchange cash or 
liabilities. The Council’s financial assets fall within two categories: “Loans and Receivables” and “Available-for-Sale 
Assets” 

Loans and Receivables are financial assets that have fixed or determinable payments, and are not quoted in an active 
market. The Council’s balance sheet includes four groups of financial assets: 

 Trade debtors are recorded as invoices issued to individuals or other entities, for which immediate payment is 
required. The balance awaiting collection (“Trade accounts receivable”) is included in the balance sheet under 
“short term debtors”. 

 Cash held in current or call accounts, together with investments for periods of less than one month, is included in 
the balance sheet under “cash and cash equivalents”. 

 Investments receivable within periods of three months and one year are included in the balance sheet as “short 
term investments”. 

Page 44

Appendix A



Statement of Accounts 

 29 

 Investments taken out for periods of longer than one year are included in the balance sheet as “long term 
investments”. 

Trade debtors are regularly assessed for possible non-payment, and an adjustment is made for possible impairment to the 
gross balance. 

Loans and receivables are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Council becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of a financial instrument and are initially measured at fair value. They are subsequently measured at their 
amortised cost. Annual credits to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for interest receivable are based 
on the carrying amount of the asset multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. For the Council’s short-
term investments this means that the amount presented in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal and interest, and 
interest credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is the amount receivable for the year 
according to the loan instrument. The position is the same for long term investments, except that outstanding interest 
receivable within the next year is included under “short-term investments”. 

Available-for-sale assets are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Council becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of a financial instrument and are initially measured at fair value. The Council’s only asset in this category is its 
investment in the Local Authorities Property Fund. Income from the fund is credited to the Financing and Investment 
Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Assets are maintained on the 
balance sheet at fair value, represented by the market price. The gain or loss is recognised in Other Expenditure and 
Income, but is offset by a transfer to or from the Available-for-Sale Reserve. When the asset is derecognised on disposal 
the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in this reserve will be transferred from the reserve and recognised in the 
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

Financial Liabilities 

The term “financial liability” covers contractual obligations to deliver or exchange financial assets to another entity. For the 
most part the Council’s financial liabilities consist of loans taken out with the Public Works Loan Board (the PWLB), and 
with Kent County Council, which come within the category of “loans and receivables”. 

These financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value and carried at their amortised cost. Annual charges to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Account for interest payable are based on the carrying amount of the liability, 
multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. This Council’s PWLB borrowing bears a single rate of interest 
payable throughout the life of the loan, meaning that the effective rate of the interest is the same as the original repayable 
rate. The amount presented in the Balance Sheet under “long term borrowing” is therefore the outstanding principal 
repayable. As the accrued interest is payable within one year of the balance sheet date, it is included under “short term 
borrowing”.  The Kent County Council loan relates to the Local Authority Mortgage Scheme, and the fair value is worked 
out in the same way as that for the deposit (see under “financial assets” above). 

Under the Local Authority Mortgage Scheme the Council guarantees the repayment of loans for a greater proportion of the 
value of a house than the bank would normally allow. This guarantee is recognised as a financial liability, initially equal to 
the difference between the fair value of the deposit with the bank, less the fair value of the Kent County Council loan, and 
the initial amounts of the loan and deposit, adjusted for accrued interest. The value of the guarantee is reviewed and 
adjusted annually. 

1.11 Government grants and other contributions 

Whether paid on account, by instalments or in arrears, the Council recognises government grants and third party 
contributions and donations when they are received. 

Amounts recognised as due to the Council are not credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement until 
conditions attached to the grant or contribution have been satisfied. Conditions are stipulations that specify that the future 
economic benefits or service potential embodied in the asset acquired using the grant or contribution are required to be 
consumed by the recipient as specified, or future economic benefits or service potential must be returned to the transferor. 

Monies advanced as grants and contributions for which conditions have not been satisfied are carried in the Balance 
Sheet as capital grants received in advance (either current or long-term). When conditions are satisfied the grant or 
contribution is credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

Grants and contributions towards specific services for revenue purposes are credited against the appropriate line in the 
Cost of Services, but if grants and contributions are not related to specific services they are credited as Taxation and Non 
Specific Grant Expenditure and Income, along with all grants and contributions receivable towards investment in Property 
Plant and Equipment, Investment Properties or Intangible Assets. As these capital grants and contributions are not legally 
a credit to the General Fund, an equivalent appropriation is made from the General Fund into the Capital Grants and 
Contributions Reserve, which is set aside for the financing of capital investment. 

1.12 Heritage Assets 

Identification of Heritage Assets 

Tangible heritage assets have historical, artistic, scientific, technological, geophysical or environmental qualities that are 
held and maintained principally for their contribution to knowledge and culture. 

The balance sheet includes three groupings of heritage assets: 

Page 45

Appendix A



Statement of Accounts 

 30 

 the collections of the Tunbridge Wells Museum and Art Gallery, including works of art and historic civic regalia; 

 current civic regalia; 

 various works of art on public display 

Recognition 

Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of heritage assets is capitalised on an accruals basis. 
Expenditure that secures but does not add to an asset’s value (e.g. repairs and maintenance) is charged to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Account as an expense when it is incurred. The estimated values of donations of 
assets are also capitalised as they occur, with the corresponding value of the donation being recognised in the “Taxation 
and Non-Specific Grant Income” section of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. As this notional 
income is not a legal credit to the General Fund, a corresponding transfer is made from the General Fund to the Capital 
Adjustment Account. 

Revaluation and Impairments 

The value of assets based on insurance values, which are reviewed and amended on an annual basis, any change being 
debited or credited to the Revaluation Reserve, to the extent to which there is a balance in the reserve for the particular 
asset. In the event that there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve, a reduction is charged to the relevant service 
heading as an impairment in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. A corresponding transfer is made, 
however, from the Capital Adjustment Account to the General Fund, as such impairments are not a legal charge on the 
General Fund. An annual review is also made for impairments caused by theft or physical or economic damage. Any such 
impairments are accounted for in the same way as those to items of property plant and equipment (see Note 1.19). 

Disposals 

Disposals of heritage assets are accounted for in the same way as those of items of property plant and equipment (see 
Note 1.19). 

1.13 Investment Property 

Investment properties are those that are used solely to earn rentals/and or for capital appreciation. The definition is not 
met if the property is used in any way to facilitate the delivery of services or production of goods or is held for sale. 

Investment properties are initially measured initially at cost and subsequently at fair value, being the price that would be 
received to sell such an asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. As a non-
financial asset, investment properties are measured at highest and best use. Properties are not depreciated but are 
revalued annually according to market conditions at the year end.  

Gains and losses on revaluation are posted to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The same treatment is applied to gains and losses on disposal. 
Rentals income received in relation to investment properties are credited to the Financing and Investment Income line and 
result in a gain for the General Fund Balance. However, revaluation and disposal gains and losses are not permitted by 
statutory arrangements to have an impact on the General Fund Balance. The gains and losses are therefore reversed out 
of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement and posted to the Capital Adjustment Account and 
the Capital Receipts Reserve. 

1.14 Intangible assets 

Expenditure on non-monetary assets that do not have physical substance but are controlled by the Council as a result of 
past events (e.g. software licences) is capitalised when it is expected that future economic benefits or service potential will 
flow from the intangible asset to the Council. 

Internally generated assets (not including websites intended to promote or advertise the Council’s goods and services) are 
capitalised where it is demonstrable that the project is technically feasible and is intended to be completed, with adequate 
resources being available, and that the Council will be able to generate future economic benefits or service potential by 
being able to sell or use the asset. Expenditure is capitalised where it can be measured reliably as attributable to the 
asset, and is restricted to that incurred in the development phase, not, therefore, including research expenditure. 

Intangible assets are measured initially at cost. The depreciable amount of an intangible asset is written down over its 
useful life, as estimated by the ICT Shared Service Manager, to the appropriate line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement. No intangible assets are recorded with indefinite lives. An asset is tested for impairment whenever 
there is an indication that the asset might be impaired, and any losses are posted to the appropriate line in the Income and 
Expenditure Statement.  

The calculated amounts for amortisation and impairment are charged to the Cost of Services in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Account, but they are not legal charges against the General Fund. A transfer is therefore made 
from the Capital Adjustment Account to the General Fund to reverse the impact. 

1.15 Leasing 

Definition of a lease 

Page 46

Appendix A



Statement of Accounts 

 31 

A lease is an agreement whereby the lessor conveys to the lessee, in return for a payment or a number of payments, the 
right to use an asset (property, plant and equipment, investment properties, non-current assets available for sale or 
intangible assets) for an agreed period of time. A finance lease is a lease that transfers substantially all of the risks and 
rewards incidental to ownership to the lessee. Any lease that does not come within the definition of a finance lease is 
accounted for as an operating lease. 

The Council has a number of leasing agreements, acting both as lessee (paying for the use of assets) and as lessor 
(receiving money for the use of assets owned by others). 

The Council may also enter into an agreement which, while not itself a lease, nevertheless contains a right to use an asset 
in the same way as a lease. Such agreements are treated as either finance leases or operating leases as set out below 
(the Council has no such arrangements at present). 

The Council reviews all of its leases to determine how they stand against various detailed criteria which distinguish 
between finance and operating leases, to determine whether the risks and rewards have been transferred to the lessee. In 
undertaking this review, however, the Council operates a de minimis level, so that all leases with a term of less than 10 
years, or for assets valued at less than £10,000 would be treated within the accounts as an operating lease without a 
detailed analysis. All leases of land are considered to be operating leases, including the land element of a lease of a 
building. 

Finance leases – Council acting as lessee 

Where the council uses or occupies an asset held under a finance lease, the asset is recognised as such in the 
appropriate line in the balance sheet, subject to the de minimis limit in Note 1.19 below. The value recognised is the fair 
value, or (if lower) the present value of the minimum lease payments. This value is offset on the balance sheet by a 
creditor or long term liability for the leasing charge. 

As these assets are included as part of the Council’s property plant and equipment balance, they are subsequently 
accounted for, in relation to disposal, depreciation, impairment, etc, as set out below in Note 1.19. 

Minimum lease payments are apportioned between interest payable as the finance charge and the reduction of the 
outstanding liability. The finance charge is calculated to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining 
balance of the liability. 

Operating leases – Council acting as a lessee 

Lease payments for operating leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, unless 
they can be otherwise apportioned in line with benefits received. 

Finance leases – Council acting as lessor 

Where the council acts as lessor for an asset held under a finance lease, the relevant asset is written out of the balance 
sheet as a disposal, and accounted for in line with Note 1.19 below. At the start of the lease a receivable (long term debtor 
or short term debtor) is recognised as at an amount equal to the net investment in the lease. The lease payment 
receivable is apportioned between the repayment of principle and interest, the interest being calculated to produce a 
constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. 

Operating leases – Council acting as a lessor 

Income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term, unless they can be otherwise 
apportioned in line with the benefits provided.  

1.16 Overheads and Support Services 

The costs of overheads and support services are charged to those services that benefit from the supply or service. The 
total absorption costing principle is used – the full cost of overheads and support services are shared amongst users in 
proportion to the benefits received. 

The Cost of Services line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement reports on spend by council 
directorate and excludes support services inline with internal management reporting.   

1.17 Post-Employment Benefits 

The majority of employees of the Council are members of the Local Government Pension Scheme, administered by Kent 
County Council for local authorities within Kent. This scheme provides defined benefits to members (retirement lump sums 
and pensions), earned as employees work for the Council. The Council therefore accounts for this scheme as a defined 
benefit plan. 

 The liabilities of the Kent County Council pension scheme attributable to this Council are included in the Balance 
Sheet on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method – i.e. an assessment of the future payments that will 
be made in relation to retirement benefits earned to date by employees, based on assumptions about mortality 
rates, employee turnover rates, etc, and projections of earnings for current employees. 

Page 47

Appendix A



Statement of Accounts 

 32 

 Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, using a discount rate of 2.7% (based on the annualised 
yield at the 20 year point on the Merrill Lynch AA rated corporate bond curve) 

  The Council includes the assets of the Kent County Council Pension Fund attributable to this Council in the 
Balance Sheet at their fair value: 

o quoted securities – current bid price 

o unquoted securities – professional estimate 

o unitised securities – current bid price 

o property – market value 

o target return portfolio – current bid price 

 The change in the net pensions liability is analysed into the following components: 

o service cost, comprising: 

 current service cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of years of service earned this year, 
allocated in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement to the service for which the 
employees worked. 

 past service cost – the increase in liabilities arising from current year decisions whose effect 
relates to years of service earned in earlier years. Past service costs include the cost of 
curtailments, which are normally linked to an event giving rise to a post employment benefit. 
Past service costs are debited to the Non-Distributed Costs line in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement. 

 settlements – transactions that eliminate all further legal or constructive obligations for some of 
the benefits provided, other than by the payment of benefits. Settlements are  debited to the 
Non-Distributed Costs line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

o net interest on the defined liability – the change to the net pension liability that arises from the passage 
of time during the year. This is debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure section 
of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

o administration expenses – charged to Other Operational Income and Expenditure 

o contributions by scheme participants, which reduce plan liabilities, but correspondingly increase plan 
assets, and are therefore not reflected in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

o actuarial gains and losses – changes in the present value of the net pensions liability, resulting from: 

 experience adjustments (the differences between the previous actuarial assumptions and what 
has actually occurred). 

 the effects of changes in actuarial assumptions. 

o  benefits paid, which reduce plan assets, but correspondingly reduce its liabilities, and are therefore not 
reflected in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

o contributions paid to the Kent County Council Pension Fund – the employer’s contributions to the 
pension fund for the financial year, not accounted for as an expense. 

Statutory provisions require the Council to charge the General Fund balance with the amount payable by the Council to 
the pension fund in the year, not the amount calculated according to the relevant accounting standards. This means that 
there are appropriations to and from the Pensions Reserve to remove the notional debits and credits for retirement 
benefits and replace them with debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and the amounts payable to the fund but 
unpaid at the year-end. The negative balance that arises on the Pensions Reserve thereby measures the beneficial impact 
to the General Fund of being required to account for retirement benefits on the basis of contributions paid rather than as 
benefits are earned by the employee. 

1.18 Prior period adjustments 

Prior period adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or to correct a material error. Changes to 
accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting practices or the change provides more reliable or 
relevant information about the effect of transactions, other events and conditions on the Council’s financial position or 
financial performance. When a change is made, it is applied retrospectively (unless stated otherwise), by adjusting 
opening balances and comparative amounts for the prior period as if the new policy had always applied. 

Material errors discovered in prior period figures are corrected retrospectively by amending opening balances and 
comparative figures for the prior period. 

The use of accounting estimates is discussed in Note 1.26 below. Changes in accounting estimates are accounted for 
prospectively, i.e. in the current and future years affected by the change, and do not give rise to a prior period adjustment. 

Page 48

Appendix A



Statement of Accounts 

 33 

1.19 Property plant and equipment 

Definition and Categories 

Property plant and equipment consists of assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the provision of 
services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes, and that are expected to be used during more than one 
financial year. They exclude assets which are held purely for investment purposes (Investment properties) and assets 
which the Council is actively seeking to sell (Assets available for sale). Property plant and equipment consists of the 
following categories: 

 Land and buildings – properties owned by the Council, other than those in another category shown below, or 
Investment Properties. 

 Vehicles, plant and equipment – individual items or groupings of items which are purchased from capital 
resources. 

 Infrastructure – for this Council, this category includes only footway lighting. 

 Community assets – properties such as parks, which are used for the community as a whole, with no 
determinable market value in their present use, and which are not likely to be sold. 

 Surplus assets – individual properties which the Council has determined to be surplus to operational 
requirements as they are not being used to provide services.  

 Assets under construction – capital expenditure on an asset before it is brought into use. 

Recognition 

Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of property plant and equipment is capitalised on an accruals 
basis, provided that it is probable that the future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to 
the Council and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. Expenditure that secures but does not add to an asset’s 
potential to deliver future economic benefits or service potential (e.g. repairs and maintenance) is charged to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Account as an expense when it is incurred. Land and Buildings assets valued at 
less than £25,000 are not included on the balance sheet, provided that the total excluded has no material impact. 

Measurement 

Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising all expenditure that is directly attributable to bringing the asset into 
working condition for its intended use. Assets are then carried in the Balance Sheet using the following measurement 
bases: 

 Land and buildings – current value, usually based on the market value for the existing use (EUV). Some 
specialised properties, where the valuer cannot identify a market for the asset, are instead valued on the basis of 
depreciated replacement cost (DRC). 

 Vehicles, plant and equipment – current value, for which depreciated historic cost is normally used as a proxy. 

 Infrastructure – depreciated historic cost 

 Community Assets – historic cost, depreciated where appropriate. 

 Surplus assets - fair value, based on the market value for the existing use (EUV). 

 Assets under construction – historic cost 

Revaluation 

The Council re-values assets included in the Balance Sheet at current value when there have been material changes in 
the value, but as a minimum every five years. Increases in valuations are matched by credits to the Revaluation Reserve 
to recognise unrealised gains. Gains are credited to the Income and Expenditure Account where they arise from the 
reversal of an impairment loss previously charged to a service revenue account. Reductions in value are charged to the 
Revaluation Reserve, up to the amount held for that asset in the Revaluation Reserve, or otherwise to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement. 

The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 only, the date of its formal 
implementation. Gains arising before that date have been consolidated into the Capital Adjustment Account. 

Impairment 

The values of each category of assets and of material individual assets that are not being depreciated are reviewed at the 
end of each financial year for evidence of reductions in value. Where impairment is identified as part of this review or as a 
result of a valuation exercise, it is written off against any revaluation gains attributable to the relevant asset in the 
Revaluation Reserve, with any excess charged to the relevant service revenue account. 

Page 49

Appendix A



Statement of Accounts 

 34 

Where an impairment loss is reversed subsequently, the reversal is credited to the relevant service line(s) in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, up to the amount of the original loss, adjusted for depreciation that 
would have been charged if the loss had not been recognised. 

Disposals and Non-Current Assets Held for Sale 

When it becomes probable that the carrying amount of an asset will be recovered principally through a sale transaction 
rather than through its continued use, it is reclassified as an Asset Held for Sale. The asset is revalued immediately before 
its reclassification and then carried at the lower of this amount and fair value less costs to sell. Where there is a 
subsequent decrease to fair value less costs to sell, the loss is posted to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Gains to fair value are recognised only up to the amount of any 
losses previously recognised in the Surplus or Deficit on Provision of Services. Depreciation is not charged on Assets Held 
for Sale. 

If assets no longer meet the criteria to be classified as Assets Held for Sale, they are reclassified back to property plant 
and equipment and valued at the lower of their carrying amount before they were classified as held for sale, adjusted for 
depreciation or revaluations that would have been recognised had they not been classified as Held for Sale, and their 
recoverable amount at the date of the decision not to sell. 

When an asset is disposed of or decommissioned, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance Sheet is written off to 
the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Account. An equivalent transfer is 
made to the General Fund to the Capital Adjustment Account to eliminate impact on the General Fund, and any 
revaluation gains accumulated for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve are also transferred to the Capital Adjustment 
Account. 

Amounts received for a disposal in excess of £10,000 are categorised as capital receipts. These are credited to the Other 
Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Account, but an equivalent appropriation is 
made from the General Fund to the Capital Receipts Reserve .There is a legal requirement that sale proceeds held in this 
reserve can only be used to reduce debt or to finance capital expenditure. 

In some cases the receipt of income from asset disposals is delayed until a future financial year. In such cases a credit is 
made to the unusable Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve, matched by a long-term or short term debtor. When the income 
is received, the debtor is written down and a transfer is made from the Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve to the Capital 
Receipts Reserve. 

Depreciation 

Depreciation is provided for on all assets with a determinable finite life by allocating the value of the asset in the Balance 
Sheet over the periods expected to benefit from their use. Depreciation is based on the opening net book value, as 
adjusted by gains or losses arising from revaluations at 1 April each year. 

Depreciation is calculated on the following bases: 

 Land – not subject to depreciation 

 Buildings – straight-line allocation over the life of the property as estimated by the valuer 

 Vehicles, plant and equipment – a percentage of the value of each class of assets in the Balance Sheet: 

ICT equipment 5 years 

Litter bins 5 years 

Play area equipment 10 years 

Other equipment Normally 5 years 

 Infrastructure – footway lighting is depreciated on a straight-line basis over a period of 30 years. 

 Community assets – not subject to depreciation 

 Surplus assets – straight-line allocation over the life of the property as estimated by the valuer 

 Assets under construction – not subject to depreciation 

Where new assets are acquired or brought into use, depreciation is charged from the start of the following year. 
Depreciation is charged for the full final year when assets are sold. 

Where an asset has major components with different estimated useful lives, these are depreciated separately. 

Depreciation is charged to the Cost of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Account, but is not a legal 
charge against the General Fund. A transfer is therefore made from the Capital Adjustment Account to the General Fund 
to reverse the impact. 

Revaluation gains are also depreciated, with an amount equal to the difference between current value depreciation 
charged on assets and the depreciation that would have been chargeable based on their historical cost being transferred 
each year from the Revaluation Reserve to the Capital Adjustment Account. 

Page 50

Appendix A



Statement of Accounts 

 35 

1.20 Provisions 

The Council recognises provisions to represent liabilities of uncertain timings or amounts. Provisions in the balance sheet 
represent cases where: 

 The Council has a present obligation as a result of a past event; 

 It is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential will be required to 
settle the obligation; 

 A reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

Provisions may sometimes relate to income, where the Council has collected income in a previous financial year and 
has a quantifiable liability to repay some or all of it. In the particular case of the provision for losses arising from rating 
appeals, the whole of the provision is included in the Collection Fund Statement, but only the Council’s 40% share of 
the liability is included in the Balance Sheet. 

1.21 Reserves 

The Council maintains both usable and unusable reserves. The usable reserves consist of general and earmarked 
reserves. General reserves are to meet general rather than specific future expenditure and earmarked reserves are for 
specific purposes. No expenditure is charged directly to a reserve, but is charged to the service revenue account within 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, which is then offset by a reserve appropriation within the 
Movement in Reserves Statement. The unusable reserves are held for statutory reasons and to comply with proper 
accounting practice, for example non-current assets and retirement benefits, which do not represent resources available 
for use by the Council.  

1.22 Revenue Expenditure financed from capital under statute 

Expenditure incurred during the year that may be capitalised under statutory provisions but does not result in the creation 
of a non-current asset, is charged as expenditure to the relevant service revenue account in the year.  Where the Council 
has determined to meet the cost of this expenditure from existing capital resources or by borrowing, a transfer to the 
Capital Adjustment Account then reverses out the amounts charged, so there is no impact on the level of Council Tax. 

1.23 Stocks 

Where the values are significant to an operation, stocks are included in the Balance Sheet at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. 

1.24 Termination Benefits 

Termination benefits include lump sum payments to departing employees, enhancements to retirement benefits, and 
salaries paid to the end of a notice period, when the employee ceases to provide services to the Council. The Council 
accrues for such payments at the point when a decision is made to terminate employment, rather than when the benefits 
fall due for payment. These payments are charged to the appropriate service line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement. 

1.25 Value Added Tax (VAT) 

VAT is included as an expense only to the extent that it is not recoverable from Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs 
(HMRC). VAT receivable is excluded from income, except in the unusual circumstance where VAT was charged to 
customers in a previous financial year, but where the Council was able to challenge successfully the legality of the charge. 
In these circumstances recovered VAT is credited to the appropriate line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement. 

1.26 Assumptions made about the future, and other major sources of estimating uncertainty 

Pensions accounting 

The Statement of Accounts contains estimated figures that are based on assumptions made by the Council about the 
future or that are otherwise uncertain. Estimates are made, taking into account historical experience, current trends and 
other relevant factors. However, because balances cannot be determined with certainty, actual results could be materially 
different from the assumptions and estimates. 

For this Council the only balance where there could be some uncertainty is the liability for future pension costs, which 
stood at £63.6m at 31 March 2017. The estimate of this liability depends on a number of complex judgements relating to 
the discount rate used, the rate at which salaries are projected to increase, changes to retirement ages, mortality rates 
and expected returns on pension fund assets. A firm of consulting actuaries, Barnett Waddingham, is engaged to provide 
the Council with expert advice about the assumptions to be applied. The table below shows the impact of small changes to 
the major assumptions: 

31 March 2016 
 

31 March 2017 

£000 

 
£000 

   

 
Discount Rate: 

 

Page 51

Appendix A



Statement of Accounts 

 36 

(2,076) Increase of 0.1% (3,128) 

2,184   Reduction of 0.1% 3,290   

   

 
Salary increases: 

 2,130   Increase of 0.1% 3,208   

(2,128) Reduction of 0.1% (3,208) 

   

 
Pension increases: 

 2,183   Increase of 0.1% 3,290   

(2,076) Reduction of 0.1% (3,128) 

   

 
Adjustment to mortality estimates 

 2,183   Increase of 1 year 3,310   

(2,076) Reduction of 1 year (3,109) 
 

Valuations of Property 

Valuations of property depend on various assumptions, as set out in detail in Note 10.3 below. In particular, valuers have 
to determine: 

 The estimated life of the building. 

 Whether or not there is a market for the property in its existing use, which means that they could value at such a 
market value (EUV). If there is no such market, properties are valued at Depreciated Replacement Cost (DRC), 
which is likely to give a higher value. 

Note 10.3 shows how asset valuations are included in the total value of property plant and equipment. 

 

2 Changes to Accounting Policies and to previous years’ figures 

2.1 Accounting policies newly adopted 

The 2016/17 Code includes amendments to the Code’s provisions on the presentation of financial statements to reflect the 
reporting requirements for the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and the Movement in Reserves 
Statement and has introduced a new Expenditure and Funding Analysis as a result of the “Telling the Story” review of 
improvements to the presentation of local authority financial statements. This change in accounting policy requires the 
2015/16 figures to be re-stated in line with the 2016/17 Code of Practice within the 2016/17 financial statements, as shown 
in Note 2.2 and Note 2.3 below. 

2.2 Restatement of Service Expenditure and Income 

The 2016/17 Code requires that authorities present expenditure and income on services on the basis of its reportable 
segments. These reportable segments are based on the authority’s internal management reporting structure. This is a 
change from the previous requirement to present expenditure and income in accordance with the Service Expenditure 
Code of Practice. The comparative figures for 2015/16 have been adjusted in accordance with this change, but with no 
impact on the Cost of Services. The table below shows how the expenditure and income has been restated. 

 

As reported in 
the 

Comprehensive 
Income and 
Expenditure 
Statement 

2015/16 

Adjustments 
between 
SERCOP 

classifications 
and internal 

reporting 
classifications 

As restated 
2015/16 

 

 
£000 £000 £000 

 

     
Net Expenditure 

    
Central services to the public 1,280  (1,113) 167  Chief Executive 

Cultural and related services 3,939  (2,899) 1,040  Change & Communities 

Environmental and regulatory services 4,842  (4,842) - 
 

Highways and transport services (2,987) 2,987  - 
 

Other housing services 1,616  (1,616) - 
 

Planning services 2,123  3,419  5,542  Planning & Development 

Corporate and democratic core 1,984  4,173  6,157  Finance & Corporate Services 

Non distributed costs - other 109  (109) - 
 

Page 52

Appendix A



Statement of Accounts 

 37 

 
  

   
Cost of Services 12,906  - 12,906  

 

     
Gross Expenditure 

    
Central services to the public 2,102  (1,935) 167  Chief Executive 

Cultural and related services 7,382  4,769  12,151  Change & Communities 

Environmental and regulatory services 8,085  (8,085) - 
 

Highways and transport services 4,122  (4,122) - 
 

Other housing services 37,744  (37,744) - 
 

Planning services 4,664  6,772  11,436  Planning & Development 

Corporate and democratic core 2,003  40,454  42,457  Finance & Corporate Services 

Non distributed costs - other 109  (109) - 
 

 
  

   
Cost of Services 66,211  - 66,211  

 

     
Income 

    
Central services to the public (822) 822  - Chief Executive 

Cultural and related services (3,443) (7,668) (11,111) Change & Communities 

Environmental and regulatory services (3,243) 3,243  - 
 

Highways and transport services (7,109) 7,109  - 
 

Other housing services (36,128) 36,128  - 
 

Planning services (2,541) (3,353) (5,894) Planning & Development 

Corporate and democratic core (19) (36,281) (36,300) Finance & Corporate Services 

Non distributed costs - other - - - 
 

 
  

   
Cost of Services (53,305) - (53,305) 

 
 

2.3 Restatement of Movement in Reserves Statement 

The 2016/17 Code requires the total General Fund Balance be presented whereas in the past it was recommended that 
Earmarked Reserves be separately presented. The 2015/16 Movement in Reserves Statement has been restated for this 
change. The table below shows how this has been restated. 

 

G
e
n

e
ra

l 
F

u
n

d
 a

s
 

p
re

v
io

u
s
ly

 s
ta

te
d

 

E
a
rm

a
rk

e
d

 G
e
n

e
ra

l 
F

u
n

d
 

R
e
s
e
rv

e
s
 a

s
 p

re
v
io

u
s
ly

 
s
ta

te
d

 

G
e
n

e
ra

l 
F

u
n

d
 B

a
la

n
c

e
 

R
e
s
ta

te
d

 

 
£000 £000 £000 

    
Balance at 31 March 2015 7,720  11,780  19,500  

    
Movement in Reserves in 2015/16 

   

    
Surplus or (deficit) on provision of services 
(accounting basis) 

2,172  - 2,172  

Total Comprehensive Expenditure and Income 2,172  - 2,172  

Adjustments between accounting and funding 
basis under regulation 

(3,669) - (3,669) 

Net Increase / (Decrease) before Transfers to 
Earmarked Reserves 

(1,497) - (1,497) 

Transfers to / from Earmarked Reserves 1,728  (1,728) - 

Increase / Decrease in Year 231  (1,728) (1,497) 

    
Balance at 31 March 2016 7,951  10,052  18,003  

 

Page 53

Appendix A



Statement of Accounts 

 38 

2.4 Accounting policies issued but not yet adopted 

The Code requires changes in accounting policy to be applied retrospectively unless alternative transitional arrangements 
are specified in the Code. An authority is required to disclose information relating to the impact of an accounting change 
that will be required by a new standard that has been issued but not yet adopted by the Code for the relevant year. The 
additional disclosures that will be required in the 2016/17 and 2017/18 financial statements in respect of accounting 
changes that are introduced in the 2017/18 Code are: 

 Amendment to the reporting of pension fund scheme transaction costs 

 Amendment to the reporting of investment concentration 

 

3 Critical Judgements in Accounting Policies 

In applying the accounting policies set out in Note 1 the authority has to make judgements about complex transactions or 
those involving uncertainty about future events. The critical judgements made in preparing the Council’s 2016/17 accounts 
are as follows: 

Employee Benefits 

As noted above in Note 1.7, accounting standards normally require that the value of employee benefits such as 
outstanding annual leave is taken into account as a liability at the end of the financial year. The Council evaluates the 
amount concerned at the end of each financial year, and in all cases it has determined that the amount is not material, and 
therefore, as allowed by the accounting standards, not made any adjustment to its accounts for these amounts. Under 
legislation such accruals would be matched by appropriations to or from an adjustment account (an unusable reserve), so 
there would be no impact on the call on Council Tax or on the General Fund balance. 

Finance and operating leases 

The Council has examined all its leasing arrangements to determine whether they should be classified as finance or 
operating leases. In accordance with Note 1.15, all leases of land or of buildings values at less than £10,000 have been 
classified as operating leases. Other leases have been checked against various criteria, the main one in practice being the 
length of the lease compared with the expected life of the asset. This has resulted in two cases, where the Council pays 
rent for its operational properties, where the leases have been classified as finance leases, while all other leases have 
been determined to be operating leases. 

Embedded leases 

Under the accounting Code of Practice some legal agreements, such as waste collection contracts, may be regarded as 
containing a lease for the use of assets operated by the contractors. Such leases, in turn, may be judged to be either 
finance leases or operating leases, as set out in Note 1.15. The Council has examined its service contracts, particularly 
the Waste Collection contract, and has determined that, in the circumstances in which the contract was negotiated and is 
operated, it does not contain such a lease. 

Group Accounts 

The Tunbridge Wells Property Holdings Company began trading on 18 May 2015 and is a wholly owned subsidiary of the 
council. The revenue has only been £88,000 during the year and is considered immaterial. Hence the council has 
determined that it is not yet necessary to provide Group Accounts. This will be monitored in the future and should the 
revenue become material, Group Accounts will be provided.   

 

4 Events after the Reporting Period 

This Statement of Accounts was authorised for issue by the Director of Finance, Policy and Development on 31 May 2017. 

Since 31 March 2017, the Council has sold land at Holly Farm in Hawkenbury for £9.25m. The receipt will be phased upon 
meeting certain milestones, but £1.85m was received in May 2017. In addition, a further 4 sites were sold at auction in 
May 2017 for a total of £536,000. The total of £2,386,000 will be usable capital receipts that can fund the capital 
programme going forward. 

 

5 Note to Expenditure and Funding Analysis 

This note details the main adjustments from Net Expenditure Chargeable to the General Fund Balance to arrive at the 
amounts in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

 Adjustments 
for Capital 
Purposes 

Net Change 
for the 

Pensions 
Adjustments 

Other 
Differences 

Total 
Adjustment 

2015/16 £000 £000 £000 £000 

 

 

   

Page 54

Appendix A



Statement of Accounts 

 39 

Chief Executive - 18  - 18  

Finance and Corporate Services 443  (833) - (390) 

Change and Communities 1,155  506  - 1,661  

Planning and Development (1,255) 504  - (751) 

     
Net Cost of Services 343  195  - 538  

     
Other Operating Expenditure (3,060) 52  - (3,008) 

Financing & Investment Income - 1,994  (1) 1,993  

Taxation & Non-Specific Grant Income (2,571) - (621) (3,192) 

     

Difference between General Fund surplus 
or deficit and Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement Surplus or Deficit 

(5,288) 2,241  (622) (3,669) 

 

 Adjustments 
for Capital 
Purposes 

Net Change 
for the 

Pensions 
Adjustments 

Other 
Differences 

Total 
Adjustment 

2016/17 £000 £000 £000 £000 

 

 

   
Chief Executive - 16  - 16  

Finance and Corporate Services 345  (853) - (508) 

Change and Communities 1,685  464  - 2,149  

Planning and Development (1,481) 428  - (1,053) 

     
Net Cost of Services 549  55  - 604  

     
Other Operating Expenditure (2,497) 48  - (2,449) 

Financing & Investment Income - 2,004  (1) 2,003  

Taxation & Non-Specific Grant Income (104) - (177) (281) 

     

Difference between General Fund surplus 
or deficit and Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement Surplus or Deficit 

(2,052) 2,107  (178) (123) 

 

The total adjustments are also shown in the General Fund adjustments between accounting and funding basis in Note 7. 

 

6 Expenditure and Income Analysed by Nature 

The table below breaks down the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services, as shown in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement, into the different types of income and expenditure. 

2015/16  2016/17 

£000 
 

£000 

   16,705  Employee benefit expenses 17,412  

50,652  Other service expenses 52,375  

900  Depreciation, etc 1,465  

269  Interest payments 221  

1,987  Precepts and levies 2,073  

(151) Gain or loss on disposal of fixed assets (27) 

   70,362  Total Expenditure 73,519  

   (15,682) Fees, Charges and other service income (16,508) 

(975) Interest and Investment Income (1,038) 

(8,870) Income from council tax (9,301) 

(2,164) Retained NNDR income (2,839) 

Page 55

Appendix A



Statement of Accounts 

 40 

(44,843) Government grants and contributions (41,255) 

   (72,534) Total Income (70,941) 

   (2,172) (Surplus) or Deficit on provision of services 2,578  

 

The Fees, charges and other service income is analysed further below between the directorates into which the Council is 
organised. 

2015/16 
 

2016/17 

£000 

 

£000 

   - Chief Executive (1) 

(541) Finance & Corporate Services (978) 

(9,860) Change & Communities (10,022) 

(5,281) Planning & Development (5,507) 

(15,682) Cost of Services (16,508) 

 

7 Adjustments between Accounting and Funding Basis under Regulations 

This note details the adjustments that are made to the comprehensive income and expenditure recognised by the Council 
in the year according to proper accounting practice to arrive at the resources that are specified by statutory provisions as 
being available to the Council to meet future capital and revenue expenditure.  

 

G
e
n

e
ra

l 

F
u

n
d

 

C
a
p

it
a
l 

G
ra

n
ts

 &
 

C
o

n
tr

ib
s

. 

C
a
p

it
a
l 

R
e
c
e
ip

ts
 

T
o

ta
l 

U
s
a
b

le
 

R
e
s
e
rv

e
s

 

U
n

u
s

a
b

le
 

R
e
s
e
rv

e
s

 

T
o

ta
l 

R
e
s
e
rv

e
s

 

 
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

2015/16 
      

       
Reversal of items debited or credited to Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement: 

 
Write down Intangible Assets 156  - - 156  (156) - 

Depreciation of Property Plant and Equipment 2,667  - - 2,667  (2,667) - 

Impairment to Property Plant and Equipment (2,708) - - (2,708) 2,708  - 

Revenue Expenditure financed from Capital 
under Statute 

228  - - 228  (228) - 

Gain or (Loss) on sale of non-current assets (151) - 151  - - - 

Difference between accounting and statutory 
finance costs 

(1) - - (1) 1  - 

Difference between accounting and statutory 
credit for Council Tax 

(613) - - (613) 613  - 

Difference between accounting and statutory 
pension costs 

2,241  - - 2,241  (2,241) - 

Donated assets (8) 
  

(8) 8  - 

Insertion of items not debited or credited to Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement: 
 

Capital expenditure from revenue (2,909) - - (2,909) 2,909  - 

Capital grants and contributions in 
Comprehensive I&E Account 

(2,571) 2,571  - - - - 

Financing of capital expenditure directly from reserves: 
     

Financing from capital grants and contributions 
reserve 

- (1,985) - (1,985) 1,985  - 

Financing from capital receipts reserve - - (161) (161) 161  - 

       
Total to Movement in Reserves Statement (3,669) 586  (10) (3,093) 3,093  - 

       

 

G
e
n

e
ra

l 

F
u

n
d

 

C
a
p

it
a
l 

G
ra

n
ts

 &
 

C
o

n
tr

ib
s

. 

C
a
p

it
a
l 

R
e
c
e
ip

ts
 

T
o

ta
l 

U
s
a
b

le
 

R
e
s
e
rv

e
s

 

U
n

u
s

a
b

le
 

R
e
s
e
rv

e
s

 

T
o

ta
l 

R
e
s
e
rv

e
s

 

 
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

2016/17 
      

Page 56

Appendix A



Statement of Accounts 

 41 

       
Reversal of items debited or credited to Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement: 

 
Write down Intangible Assets 159  - - 159  (159) - 

Depreciation of Property Plant and Equipment 2,856  - - 2,856  (2,856) - 

Impairment to Property Plant and Equipment (3,010) - - (3,010) 3,010  - 

Revenue Expenditure financed from Capital 
under Statute 

544  - - 544  (544) - 

Gain or (Loss) on sale of non-current assets (27) - 27  - - - 

Difference between accounting and statutory 
finance costs 

(1) - - (1) 1  - 

Difference between accounting and statutory 
credit for Council Tax 

(175) - - (175) 175  - 

Difference between accounting and statutory 
pension costs 

2,107  - - 2,107  (2,107) - 

Donated assets (1) 
  

(1) 1  - 

Insertion of items not debited or credited to Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement: 
 

Capital expenditure from revenue (2,471) - - (2,471) 2,471  
 

Capital grants and contributions in 
Comprehensive I&E Account 

(104) 104  - - - - 

Financing of capital expenditure directly from reserves: 
     

Financing from capital grants and contributions 
reserve 

- (401) - (401) 401  - 

Financing from capital receipts reserve - - (27) (27) 27  - 

       
Total to Movement in Reserves Statement (123) (297) - (420) 420  - 

 

8 Reserves 

The Movement in Reserves Statement shows the annual movements on reserves but only shows a summary of the 
movements. A detailed analysis and explanation of each reserve is shown below.  

8.1 Usable Reserves 

General Fund: this represents a non specific reserve, without legal restrictions on spending, arising from annual surpluses 
or deficits as well as earmarked reserves to cover specific projects or contingencies. The earmarked reserve amounts are 
transferred from the General Fund, and amounts are withdrawn as required to finance such expenditure. The expenditure 
itself is charged to the appropriate line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. There are no legal 
restrictions on the use of earmarked reserves, and unspent balances can be taken back to the General Fund. 

The table below shows the balance on the General Fund including the earmarked reserves, and the transfers between the 
reserves. 

 1/4/15 Inc. Exp. 1/4/16 Inc. Exp. 31/3/17 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

 
       General Fund 7,720  231  - 7,951  908  (4,700) 4,159  

Capital and Revenue Initiatives 5,838  85  (3,465) 2,458  4,931  (4,229) 3,160  

Torrington Car Park 40  - - 40  62  - 102  

On-Street Parking 50  79  - 129  257  - 386  

Local Development Framework 606  - - 606  120  (120) 606  

Section 106 contribution interest 18  17  - 35  - (1) 34  

Maintenance of Graves 32  - - 32  19  (51) - 

Maint of Garden of Remembrance 24  2  (8) 18  1  (19) - 

Strategic Plan 652  43  (167) 528  109  (30) 607  

Performance Reward 133  - (44) 89  - (57) 32  

RVP Car Park Maintenance 399  367  - 766  - (113) 653  

Carbon Reduction 50  - - 50  - - 50  

Government Grants 261  79  (40) 300  138  (42) 396  

Invest to Save 1,201  454  (24) 1,631  - (396) 1,235  

Cultural Reserve 64  2  (3) 63  81  - 144  

Pensions Settlement 677  250  - 927  250  - 1,177  

Housing Renewal 111  69  - 180  51  (1) 230  

Insurance 63  25  - 88  51  - 139  

LAMs Scheme Interest 72  28  - 100  28  - 128  

Page 57

Appendix A



Statement of Accounts 

 42 

MMI 30  20  - 50  - - 50  

Grant volatility 797  323  - 1,120  - - 1,120  

ICT MKIP Partnership 343  24  (50) 317  - (47) 270  

Establishment 243  73  - 316  6  - 322  

Parish Enabling 15  - - 15  10  - 25  

Ice Rink 61  34  - 95  78  - 173  

Digital Transformation - 50  - 50  - (2) 48  

Traveller Protocol - 7  - 7  7  - 14  

Land charges loss of income - 42  - 42  - - 42  

     
  

  
  Total 19,500  2,304  (3,801) 18,003  7,107  (9,808) 15,302  

 

The reasons for maintaining the earmarked reserves are shown below: 

Capital & Revenue Initiatives Used to support future capital and revenue schemes in accordance with the 
Council’s Corporate and Financial Plan. 

Torrington Car Park To be used to refurbish Torrington car park. 

On Street Parking The ring-fenced parking surplus that is used to fund highways and transport 
schemes in the borough. 

Local Development Framework A reserve for costs associated with the Local Development Framework due to a 
re-phasing of timeframes and costs. 

Section 106 Contributions  These are developers’ contributions to be used to finance capital projects: 
normally they would have to be repaid with interest if they cannot be used for the 
specified purpose within a given time. Sufficient money is retained within this 
reserve to pay interest on unapplied contributions. 

Maintenance of Graves and Garden 
of Remembrance 

Where money is donated for these purposes it is retained in these reserves until it 
can be spent. 

Strategic Plan Where the Council obtains more money from investment income than it has 
budgeted for, it places the excess into this reserve, which is then used to finance 
various strategic projects. 

Performance Reward Money received in previous years as a result of reaching targets under the Local 
Area Agreement has been set aside to fund individual projects. 

RVP Car Park To provide for periodic maintenance in the car parks used for the Royal Victoria 
Place shopping centre. 

Carbon Reduction Reserve This will enable the Council to purchase initial and subsequent allowances under 
the Carbon Reduction Commitment scheme, a mandatory ‘cap and trade’ scheme 
which started in April 2010. 

Government Grants Contains the equivalent amount of grants provided by the Government during the 
financial year that cannot be used until after 31 March each year. 

Invest to Save This was created to cover the redundancy costs for various money saving 
restructures but is now also used to fund revenue and capital initiatives which will 
result in savings or increase income streams. 

Cultural This reserve is used to support grant applications and encourage fund-raising, 
thereby providing an enhanced pot of money to undertake key cultural projects in 
the Borough. 

Pensions Settlement The balance of the reserve was used in 2012/13 to finance the one-off payment 
to the pension fund to settle the Council’s liability for unfunded “added years” 
pensions. From 2012/13 the amount that the Council would have paid for 
unfunded pensions has instead been paid into this reserve to meet possible 
future increases in pension liability. 

Housing Renewal When housing renewal grants are repaid an equivalent contribution is made to 
this reserve, which will be used to finance future grants. 

Insurance Savings made through higher excess thresholds in the new insurance contract 
are paid into this reserve, and will be used where necessary to finance 
expenditure that would previously have been recovered from the insurers. 

Local Authority Mortgage Scheme An amount equal to the net interest receivable from the mortgage scheme deposit 

Page 58

Appendix A



Statement of Accounts 

 43 

Interest is placed in this reserve to meet possible future defaults, as described in Note 
17.3 below. 

MMI This reserve is maintained for use in case the Council’s share of the overall MMI 
deficit, as described in Note 17.3, rises beyond the current estimate. 

Land charges refunds This reserve is used to finance the repayment of land charge search fees. 

Grant Volatility This reserve will be used to cushion the impact of any further changes to 
government grant funding that could not have been anticipated from information 
available at the time of setting the budget. 

ICT MKIP Partnership All Information Technology services are now provided from Maidstone Borough 
Council via a partnership agreement. This reserve will be used to hold any budget 
surpluses or fund deficits between financial years. This enables the agreed 
budgets to be retained although project implementation timetables may flex. 

Establishment The Council introduced Contribution Related Pay for 2012/13 which was paid for 
the first time in 2013/14. This reserve provides for differences between budgets 
set and actual performance assessed and will also provide for any rebasing of 
salaries as a result of the agreed triennial review.  

Parish Enabling This reserve is to be used to assist parish and town Councils who wish to take on 
responsibility of discretionary services or who may face financial difficulties. 

Ice Rink This reserve will be used to smooth the impact of inclement weather on the 
financial success of the Ice Rink and accompanying events. 

Digital Transformation This reserve has been created from the ICT MKIP Partnership reserve to fund 
digital transformation projects.   

Traveller Protocol This reserve will be used to manage traveller incursions and will be matched by 
parish and town Council contributions. The reserve will be used to enable the 
Borough Council to enforce a Section 77/78 court-ordered eviction or to restore 
land after the vacation of an unauthorised encampment. 

Land Charges Loss of Income This reserve has been created from an overachievement in Land Charges income 
to mitigate against the surplus revenue that will be lost if Government centralises 
the service.  

 

Capital Grants and Contributions Reserve: the Council receives grants and contributions towards capital expenditure, and, 
where there are no repayment conditions, or when such conditions have been fulfilled, these are credited to the Income 
and Expenditure Account and immediately transferred into the Capital Grants and Contributions Reserve until required to 
finance capital investment. 

Usable Capital Receipts Reserve: proceeds from the sales of Property, Plant and Equipment are initially credited to the 
Income and Expenditure Account, but legally can only be used to finance capital expenditure, and so are transferred to the 
Capital Receipts Reserve and afterwards used for this specific purpose.  

8.2 Unusable Reserves 

Capital Receipts Reserve: proceeds from the sales of Property, Plant and Equipment are initially credited to the Income 
and Expenditure Account, but legally can only be used to finance capital expenditure, and so are transferred to the Capital 
Receipts Reserve and afterwards used for this specific purpose. Repayments of mortgages advanced by the Council are 
also included in this reserve, a transfer from the Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve being made as the payment is actually 
received. 

2015/16 
£000 

 
Deferred Capital Receipts 

2016/17 
£000 

 

147  Balance at 1 April 147  

147  Balance 31 March 147  

 

Revaluation Reserve: this consists of accumulated gains on individual items of Property, Plant and Equipment. The 
Reserve contains only gains accumulated since 1 April 2007, the date that the Reserve was created. Accumulated gains 
before that date are consolidated into the balance on the Capital Adjustment Account. The balance is reduced when 
assets with accumulated gains are: 

o revalued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost 

o used in the provision of services and the gains are consumed through depreciation, or 

Page 59

Appendix A



Statement of Accounts 

 44 

o disposed of and the gains are realised. 

2015/16 

 

2016/17 

£000 

 

£000 

 Revaluation Reserve 
 28,365  Balance at 1 April 31,543  

3,652  Gain on revaluation of non-current assets 15,032  

(13) Impairment losses on non-current assets charged to Revaluation Reserve (139) 

(461) Adjustment for depreciation in revalued non-current assets (521) 

31,543  Balance 31 March 45,915  

 

Pensions Reserve: this is a statutory reserve to offset the Pension Liability assessed on an accounting and actuarial basis, 
and to ensure that variations in this liability do not affect the General Fund. 

2015/16 

 

2016/17 

£000 

 

£000 

 Pension Reserve 
 (61,289) Balance at 1 April (55,241) 

8,289  Re-measurement of defined benefit liability (6,037) 

(2,241) Difference between accounting and statutory pension costs (2,107) 

(55,241) Balance 31 March (63,385) 

 

Capital Adjustment Account:  receives credits when capital is financed from revenue resources or other usable reserves, 
and receives debits to offset depreciation and other charges relating to capital which are not chargeable against the 
General Fund. The Account is credited with the amounts set aside by the Council as finance for the costs of acquisition, 
construction and enhancement. The account contains revaluation gains accumulated on Property Plant and Equipment 
before 1 April 2007, the date on which the Revaluation Reserve was created to hold such gains. 

2015/16 

 

2016/17 

£000 

 

£000 

 Capital Adjustment Account 
 70,276  Balance at 1 April 75,457  

(156) Write Down Intangible Assets (159) 

(2,667) Depreciation of Property, Plant and Equipment (2,856) 

2,708  Impairment to Property, Plant and Equipment 3,010  

(228) Revenue Expenditure financed from Capital under Statute (544) 

8  Donated assets 1  

2,909  Capital expenditure financed from revenue 2,471  

1,985  Capital expenditure financed from grants and contributions 401  

161  Capital expenditure financed from capital receipts 27  

461  Adjustment for depreciation on revalued non-current assets 521  

75,457  Balance 31 March 78,329  

 

Financial Instruments Adjustment Account: this represents the difference between the accounting and legislative charges 
for finance costs. 

2015/16 

 

2016/17 

£000 

 

£000 

 Financial Instruments Adjustment 
 (5) Balance at 1 April (4) 

1  Difference between accounting and statutory finance costs 1  

(4) Balance 31 March (3) 

 

Collection Fund Adjustment Account: this represents the differences arising from the recognition of council tax income and 
non-domestic rates in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as it falls due from council tax payers, 
compared with the statutory arrangements for paying across amounts from the Collection Fund to the General Fund.  

2015/16 

 

2016/17 

£000 

 

£000 

 Collection Fund Adjustment 
 (347) Balance at 1 April 266  

613  Difference between accounting and statutory credit for Council Tax 175  

266  Balance 31 March 441  

Page 60

Appendix A



Statement of Accounts 

 45 

 

Available-for-sale Reserve: the balance represents the difference between the fair value of available-for-sale assets (the 
Local Authorities Property Fund) and the purchase price. 

2015/16 

 

2016/17 

£000 

 

£000 

 Available for Sale 
 799  Balance at 1 April 1,387  

588  (Surplus) or deficit on revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets (162) 

1,387  Balance 31 March 1,225  

 

9 Summary of capital expenditure and financing 

Capital expenditure was incurred and financed as shown below.  

           2015/16 
 

           2016/17 

£000 £000 
 

£000 £000 

 

 
  

 
 1,182  Opening Capital Financing Requirement 

 1,167  

4,793  

 

Property Plant and Equipment 4,166  

 - 

 

Investment Property 1,781  

 35  

 

Intangible Assets 416  

 
784  

 

Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute 
(REFFCUS) 

1,460  

   5,612  Total capital investment   7,823  

 
 

  
 

 
 

Financed by: 
 

 (162) 

 

Capital Receipts (27) 

 (1,985) 

 

Government Grants and other contributions (401) 

 (556) 

 

Grants and contributions towards REFFCUS (916) 

 (2,909) 

 

Revenue financing (2,471) 

 
 (5,612) Total financing 

 (3,815) 

 
 

  
 

 (15) Movement in Long Term Debtors within CFR 
 (16) 

 
 

  
 

 1,167  Closing Capital Financing Requirement 
 5,159  

 

The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) is the measure, taken from the Balance Sheet, of the capital expenditure 
incurred historically by the Council, which has yet to be financed at the end of the financial year. This Council’s CFR in 
2015/16 was represented partly by past capital expenditure on assistance to a housing association and a bowls club, 
which is being reimbursed annually by repayments of mortgages, and by half of its investment in the Local Authority 
Mortgage Scheme (LAMS), financed by a loan from Kent County Council. The amount advanced to a housing association 
and the bowls club is reduced by their annual repayments, while the loan relating to LAMS will be repaid with the proceeds 
of the repayment from Lloyds Banking Group at the end of the five year LAMS period. 

The Council made two capital purchases totalling £4.0m in 2016/17 which has yet to be financed so this amount has been 
added to the Capital Financing Requirement. The Council will need to set aside money from the General Fund to reduce 
the CFR for both of these items, starting in 2017/18. 

The CFR is made up of the following balance sheet totals: 

31 March 2016 
 

31 March 2017 

£000 
 

£000 

   101,972  Property plant and equipment 111,571  

3,391  Heritage assets 3,412  

- Investment Properties 1,781  

626  Intangible assets 883  

2,178  Long term debtors financed from capital 161  

- Short term debtors financed from capital 2,000  

- Assets available for sale 9,595  

(31,543) Revaluation reserve (45,915) 

(75,457) Capital adjustment account (78,329) 

   

Page 61

Appendix A



Statement of Accounts 

 46 

1,167  Total 5,159  

 

10 Property Plant and Equipment 

10.1 Analysis of carrying amounts 

The following table shows the net carrying amounts of the categories of Property Plant and Equipment, as at 31 March, 
split between the gross carrying amount and the accumulated depreciation and impairment.  

 

L
a

n
d

 &
 B

u
il
d

in
g

s
 

V
e
h

ic
le

s
, 
P

la
n

t 
&

 

E
q

u
ip

m
e
n

t 

In
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 

S
u

rp
lu

s
 

A
s
s
e
ts

 U
n

d
e

r 
C

o
n

s
tr

u
c
ti

o
n

 

T
o

ta
l 

 
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

        
Balance at 1 April 2016: 

       
Gross carrying amount 93,284  3,729  854  7,453  150  1,177  106,647  

Cumulative depreciation & impairment (2,678) (1,345) (508) (144) - - (4,675) 

        
Total 90,606  2,384  346  7,309  150  1,177  101,972  

        
Balance at 31 March 2017: 

       
Gross carrying amount 102,574  3,972  854  7,834  - - 115,234  

Cumulative depreciation & impairment (1,339) (1,643) (537) (144) - - (3,663) 

        
Total 101,235  2,329  317  7,690  - - 111,571  

 

Note 1.19 sets out the methods for measuring the gross carrying amounts, and of calculating depreciation and impairment. 

10.2 Reconciliation of opening and closing balances 

The table below shows the movements in the different categories for the year:  

 

L
a

n
d

 &
 B

u
il
d

in
g

s
 

V
e
h

ic
le

s
, 
P

la
n

t 
&

 
E

q
u

ip
m

e
n

t 

In
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 

S
u

rp
lu

s
 

A
s
s
e
ts

 U
n

d
e

r 

C
o

n
s

tr
u

c
ti

o
n

 

T
o

ta
l 

 
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

        
Movements 2015/16 

       
Balance at 1 April 2015 85,571  2,182  374  5,319  - 55  93,501  

Additions 1,099  581  - 1,990  - 1,122  4,792  

Revaluations 3,639  - - - - - 3,639  

Impairment losses (1) - - - - - (1) 

Impairment loss reversals 2,708  - - - - - 2,708  

Depreciation (2,260) (379) (28) - - - (2,667) 

Transfers to assets held for sale - - - - - - - 

Reclassifications (150) - - - 150  - - 

 
              

Balance at 31 March 2016 90,606  2,384  346  7,309  150  1,177  101,972  

        
Movements 2016/17 

       
Balance at 1 April 2016 90,606  2,384  346  7,309  150  1,177  101,972  

Additions 2,344  419  - 381  - 1,022  4,166  

Revaluations 5,429  - - - - - 5,429  

Impairment losses (722) - - - - - (722) 

Impairment loss reversals 3,732  - - - - - 3,732  

Page 62

Appendix A



Statement of Accounts 

 47 

Depreciation (2,353) (474) (29) - - - (2,856) 

Transfers to assets held for sale - - - - (150) - (150) 

Reclassifications 2,199  - - - - (2,199) - 

 
              

Balance at 31 March 2017 101,235  2,329  317  7,690  - - 111,571  

 

10.3 Valuation of property 

Two of the categories shown in the tables above (land and buildings and surplus assets) are subject to valuations. The 
Royal Victoria Place shopping centre is valued as at 31 March each year by GVA Grimley Ltd, the others being dealt with 
by G L Hearn Ltd. Other than the shopping centre and the Council’s multi-storey car parks, all assets have been revalued 
at 5 year intervals (20% as at 31 March each year). 

Many of this Council’s assets had been subject to losses in values in previous years, particularly those triggered by the 
reduction in asset values around 2007/08. As the Revaluation Reserve was established only at 1 April 2007 most of those 
losses had to be accounted for as impairment losses – gains in value prior to 1 April 2007 being absorbed into the Capital 
Adjustment Account. 

Revaluations and impairment reversals are treated in line with Note 1.19.  

The table below analyses the gross carrying cost at 31 March for these two categories of assets according to the year of 
valuation.  

31 March 2016 
 

31 March 2017 

Land & 
Buildings 

Surplus 
Assets 

Assets 
under 
Cons 

 
Land & 

Buildings 
Surplus 
Assets 

Assets 
under 
Cons 

£000 £000 £000 
 

£000 £000 £000 

       90,606  150  1,177  Net Book Value at 31 March 101,235  - - 

   
Adjust for changes since last valuation: 

   (1,296) - (1,177) Additions (2,434) - - 

2,677  - - Depreciation 1,339  - - 

91,987  150  - Total valuations 100,140  - - 

       

   
Valuation in financial year: 

   - - - 2016/17 81,008  - - 

56,834  150  - 2015/16 5,634  - - 

2,074  - - 2014/15 2,075  - - 

30,919  - - 2013/14 11,423  - - 

2,160  - - 2012/13 - - - 

91,987  150  - Total valuations 100,140  - - 

 

The valuers employed by both firms are members of the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors. For the majority of assets 
the basis of valuation for fair value is market value in its existing use (EUV). For a minority of specialised properties the 
valuers are unable to identify market evidence of such a value, and these assets are instead measured on the basis of 
depreciated replacement cost (DRC). 

The significant assumptions applied in estimating the fair value are: 

 A continuation of the existing use; 

 Mains services for built properties are connected to the properties and drainage is to the public sewer; 

 There is no environmental contamination; 

 Buildings being marketed for sale or let have an Energy Performance Certificate in place, which has not revealed 
any shortcomings impacting on the value; 

 Freehold interests are not subject to easements, restrictive covenants, encumbrances, leases or licences that 
would adversely affect their sale; 

 Accuracy and completeness of information provided by Council officers. 

10.4 Surplus Assets 

The surplus asset value shown in Note 10.1 for 2015/16 related to land at Holly Farm, which was deemed to be surplus as 
it was not being used to deliver services. Proposals were explored to sell the site for development and planning was 

Page 63

Appendix A



Statement of Accounts 

 48 

permission obtained during 2016/17. The asset, which has now been revalued at £9.25m and has been sold in 2017/18 as 
set out in Note 4, has therefore been classified as an asset held for sale and transferred, as set out in Note 14. 

10.5 Impairments 

Impairments are assessed each year, in accordance with the policy in Note 1.19, for losses triggered by such occurrences 
as physical, environmental or economic damage, but no such impairments have been recorded in 2016/17. As noted 
above in Note 10.3, the impairments (usually reversals) recorded arise from the revaluation of assets carried out in the 
year. 

10.6 Capital commitments 

At 31 March 2017 the Council was contractually committed to the payment of £810,000 for the acquisition of property plant 
and equipment, compared to £1,124,000 at 31 March 2016. 

11 Heritage Assets 

As set out in the accounting policies in Note 1.12 above, the Council maintains three groupings of heritage assets: 

 Civic regalia 

 The contents of the Museum and Art Gallery, including works of art on display in the Town Hall 

 Various monuments and public works of art, including the war memorial, the Canon Hoare memorial, and the 
water fountain in Dunorlan Park. 

The museum’s assets are generally enhanced by donations from members of the public. 

The annual movements in the balance sheet figures for heritage assets are shown below: 

2015/16 
 

2016/17 

£000 
 

£000 

   3,383  Balance at 1 April 3,391  

8  Additions by donation 2  

- Revaluations 19  

   3,391  Balance at 31 March 3,412  

 

12 Investment Property 

The following table summarises the movement in the fair value of investment properties over the year. 

2015/16 
 

2016/17 

£000 
 

£000 

   - Balance at 1 April - 

- Purchases 1,781  

   - Balance at 31 March 1,781  

 

The Council’s investment properties consist of one commercial property purchased during 2016/17. 

The following income and expense have been accounted for in the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line 
in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

2015/16 
 

2016/17 

£000 
 

£000 

- Rental Income from investment properties 26  

- Direct operating expenses from investment properties - 

- Net Gain/(Loss) 26  

 

13 Intangible Assets 

As set out in the accounting policies in Note 1.14 above, the Council accounts for its software as intangible assets. The 
balance sheet value is only £883,000 in 2016/17, compared to £626,000 in 2015/16 and is immaterial. 

 

 

Page 64

Appendix A



Statement of Accounts 

 49 

14 Assets held for sale 

Following its policy of seeking to dispose of properties not required to provide services, for the best price available, the 
Council has disposed of a number of pieces of land in recent years. Most of these were considered below the de minimis 
level for recognising in Property, Plant and Equipment. Note 1.19 specifies that assets made available for sale are held at 
the lower of carrying value and market value, so that, although the Council expects to gain capital receipts from their 
disposal, they are not recognised in the Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2017. There are four exceptions, which have been 
valued as they are being prepared to be sold in May 2017. One of these has been transferred from Surplus Assets during 
2016/17. 

2015/16 
 

2016/17 

£000 
 

£000 

   - Balance at 1 April - 

- Transfers from Surplus Assets 150  

- Revaluations 9,445  

   - Balance at 31 March 9,595  

 

15 Financial Instruments 

15.1 Year-end balances compared to fair values 

As noted in the accounting policies Note 1.10 above, all of the Council’s investments fall within two categories:  “loans and 
receivables” and “available-for-sale assets”. Loans and receivables are financial assets that have fixed or determinable 
payments, and are not quoted in an active market.  The only asset within the  Available-for-sale category is a long-term 
investment with the Local Authorities’ Property Fund which is a Collective Investment Scheme investing in UK properties. 
The book value, representing the market value, was £10,225,000 at 31 March 2017 compared to £10,378,000 at 31 March 
2016. The table below summarises the “loans and receivables” category. 

31 March 2016 

 

31 March 2017 

Book Value Fair Value 
 

Book Value Fair Value 

£000 £000 
 

£000 £000 

     5,044 5,184 Investments over one year 5,049 5,188 

(44) - Less interest due within one year (49) - 

     
5,000 5,184 Long term investments 5,000 5,188 

     
9,147 9,147 Available for sale assets 9,130 9,130 

(147) - Less interest due within one year (130) - 

1387 1387 Add gain on available for sale assets 1,225 1,225 

     
10,387 10,534 Available for sale assets 10,225 10,355 

     
2,032 2,032 Loans and Receivables 1,459 1,459 

(32) - Less interest due within one year - - 

     
2,000 2,032 Long term debtors 1,459 1,459 

     
15,095 15,137 Investments less than one year 5,028 5,042 

191 - Add accrued interest on long term 179 - 

     
15,286 15,137 Short term investments 5,207 5,042 

     
- - Loans and Receivables 2,421 2,421 

755 755 Trade accounts receivable 1,036 1,036 

32 - Add accrued interest on long term - - 

     
787 755 Short term debtors 3,457 3,457 

     
5,002 5,002 Cash in bank call accounts 10,005 10,005 

Page 65

Appendix A



Statement of Accounts 

 50 

1,990 1,990 Cash and bank balances 1,160 1,160 

     
6,992 6,992 Cash and cash equivalents 11,165 11,165 

     
40,452 40,634 Total Financial Assets 36,513 36,666 

     
8,000 8,201 Borrowing over one year 5,000 5,156 

     
8,000 8,201 Long term borrowing 5,000 5,156 

     
2,042 2,109 Borrowing less than one year 3,000 3,120 

16 - Add accrued interest  49 - 

     
2,058 2,109 Short term borrowing 3,049 3,120 

     
10,058 10,310 Total Financial Liabilities 8,049 8,276 

 

15.2 Interest and Investment Income Receivable and Payable 

The table below sets out the interest receivable and payable for the year related to financial assets and liabilities, 
reconciled to the amounts included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement: 

2015/16 

 

2016/17 

£000 

 

£000 

  
 

 

Interest and investment income 

 (854) Interest from loans and receivables (833) 

(56) Local Authority Mortgage Scheme (56) 

- Investment Income (26) 

(65) Other interest receivable (123) 

 
 

 
(975) Total Interest and investment income (1,038) 

 
 

 

 
Interest payable 

 
241  Interest on long term borrowing 193  

28  Local Authority Mortgage Scheme 28  

 
 

 
269  Total Interest payable 221  

 

15.3 Valuation Techniques for Fair Value 

The fair values valuations have been provided by the Council’s Treasury Management advisor, Capita Asset Services. 
This uses the Net Present Value (NPV) approach, which provides an estimate of the value of payments in the future in 
todays terms. This is a widely accepted valuation technique commonly used by the private sector. The discount rate used 
in the NPV calculation should be equal to the current rate in relation to the same instrument from a comparable lender. 
This will be the rate applicable in the market on the date of valuation, for an instrument with the same duration i.e. equal to 
the outstanding period from valuation date to maturity. The structure and terms of the comparable instrument should be 
the same, although for complex structures it is sometimes difficult to obtain the rate for an instrument with identical 
features in an active market. In such cases, Capita has used the prevailing rate of a similar instrument with a published 
market rate, as the discount factor. 

The Available for Sale Asset, which is an investment in the Local Authorities’ Property Fund, is included on the balance 
sheet at fair value. The Fund is an unquoted investment with the value being determined on a monthly basis by the fund 
manager. 

The purpose of the fair value disclosure is primarily to provide a comparison with the carrying value in the Balance Sheet. 
Since this will include accrued interest as at the Balance Sheet date, the calculations also include accrued interest in the 
fair value calculation. This figure is calculated up to and including the valuation date.  

The rates quoted in this valuation were obtained by Capita from the market on 31st March, using bid prices where 
applicable. The rate for the Available for Sale Asset was calculated based on the net asset value price as provided by the 
Local Authorities’ Property Fund. 

Page 66

Appendix A



Statement of Accounts 

 51 

15.4 Risk Management 

The Council’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: 

 credit risk – the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due to the authority 

 liquidity risk – the possibility that the authority might not have funds available to meet its commitments to make 
payments 

 market risk – the possibility that financial loss might arise for the authority as a result of changes in such 
measures as interest rates and stock market movements. 

The Council’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to 
minimise potential adverse effects on the resources available to fund services. Risk management is carried out by the 
Accountancy Section, under policies approved by the Council in the annual Treasury Management Policy and Strategy. 
The Council provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas, 
such as interest rate risk, credit risk, and the investment of surplus cash. 

The investment in the Local Authorities’ Property Fund is the Council’s only investment with a Collective Investment 
Scheme. The Fund employs a risk management process, including the use of appropriate stress-testing procedures, 
which enable it to identify measure, manage and monitor at any time the relevant risks of the positions to which the Fund 
is or may be exposed and their contribution to the overall risk profile of the Fund.  

Credit risk 

Credit risk arises from deposits with banks and financial institutions. The risk is minimised through the Treasury 
Management Policy and Strategy, which specifies that deposits are not made with financial institutions unless they meet 
identified criteria, as assessed by its main agency, Fitch. It also reviews ratings from the other agencies, Moodys and 
Standard and Poors. The Policy and Strategy also imposes a maximum sum to be invested with a financial institution 
within each category, and the maximum period for a deposit. The Policy & Strategy also specifies that the Council can 
invest with other UK Local Authorities and the Government’s Debt Management Office. 

The Council’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its investments in private sector financial institutions, 
amounting to £29m at 31 March 2017, cannot be assessed generally, as the risk of any institution failing to make interest 
payments or to repay the principal sum, will be specific to each individual institution. Recent experience indicates that it is 
rare for such entities to be unable to meet their commitments. A risk of non recoverability applies to all of the Council’s 
deposits, but there was no evidence at 31 March 2017 that this was likely to crystallise.  There has been no experience of 
default by any of the institutions holding the Council’s financial instruments, other than for trade accounts receivable, see 
Note 16 below. 

The investment with the Local Authorities’ Property Fund is represented by the purchase of units within the fund. The price 
of units and the income from them may fall and rise and therefore as a unit holder the Council may not recover the full 
amount invested.  

Note 17.3, Contingent Liabilities, refers to the Local Authority Mortgage Scheme under which the Council could be liable 
for the mortgage sums they have guaranteed, should the owner default. To date there have been no defaults. 

Liquidity risk 

The Council has a comprehensive cash flow management system that seeks to ensure that cash is available as needed. If 
unexpected movements happen, the authority has ready access to borrowings from the money markets and the Public 
Works Loans Board. There is no significant risk that it will be unable to raise finance to meet its commitments under 
financial instruments.  

The Council’s investment with the Local Authorities’ Property Fund, which is a collective investment scheme investing in 
properties in the UK, is an illiquid investment and therefore the Council has ensured that these funds will not be needed in 
the medium term future. The units in the fund are purchased and redeemed through the fund manager. The investment is 
not traded in an active market and offer and bid prices quoted by the manager may be adjusted to protect subsisting unit 
holders. 

The maturity analysis of financial liabilities is as follows: 

 31-Mar-16 31-Mar-17 

Less than one year £2m £3m 

Between 1 and 2 years £3m £2m 

Between 2 and 5 years £5m £3m 

Total Financial Liabilities £10m £8m 

 

Market risk 

The Council is exposed to risk in terms of its exposure to interest rate movements on its investments. Reductions in 
interest rates would reduce the interest income credited to the Income and Expenditure Account, while increases in 
interest rates would increase the income.  

Page 67

Appendix A



Statement of Accounts 

 52 

The treasury management team has an active strategy for assessing interest rate exposure that feeds into the setting of 
the annual budget and which is used to update the budget quarterly during the year. This allows any adverse changes to 
be accommodated. 

According to this assessment strategy, at 31 March 2017, if interest rates had been 1% higher with all other variables held 
constant, the financial effect would have been to increase investment income by £459,000. 

The Council had a loan of £9 million from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) at the start of the year, at a fixed interest 
rate of 2.38%. £2 million of this has been repaid during the year. If the interest rate at which this money was borrowed had 
been 1% lower with all other variables held constant, the financial effect would have been to decrease interest payable by 
£81,000. 

The return from the Local Authorities Properties’ Fund is expected to fluctuate in response to changes in capital 
appreciation or income. The Fund is permitted to borrow up to 50% of the value of the Fund in order to purchase direct 
properties. A failure by the Fund to perform its obligations under the terms of any such loan would permit lenders to 
demand early repayment of the finance and to realise any security they have over the Fund’s Property. Borrowing also 
increases risk by magnifying capital and income performance, gains and losses. 

16 Debtors 

16.1 Groupings of Debt 

The table below analyses the balance sheet figures between different types of debt. 

31 March 
2016 

 

31 March 
2017 

£000 
 

£000 

   755  Trade accounts receivable 1,036  

1,081  Other trade debtors 1,344  

2,856  Related parties (central government) 202  

467  Prepayments 432  

1,671  Other debtors 3,932  

  
 

  

6,830  Total Short Term Debtors 6,946  

   3,276  Long Term Debtors (all "other debtors") 1,729  

10,106  Total Debtors 8,675  

 

16.2 Trade Accounts Receivable 

As explained in Note 1.10 above, the grouping of “Trade accounts receivable” comes within the definition of Financial 
Instruments. Invoices are sent to individuals and other entities, where money cannot be obtained in advance of the service 
being rendered, and where payment is required on the receipt of the invoice. 

The Council gives priority to collecting this debt, taking action through collection agencies or legal processes where 
appropriate, but has to make a prudent provision for impairment for doubtful debts, based on previous experience of 
default and on assessment of individual outstanding balances. The table below shows the age profile of this debt. 

31 March 
2016 

 

31 March 
2017 

£000 
 

£000 

580  Less than 3 months 896  

34  3 to 6 months 18  

39  6 to 12 months 10  

102  More than 1 year 112  

   755  Total Debtors 1,036  

 

The increase in Trade Debtors is due to a small number of larger invoices being raised at the end of March 2017. The 
Council has made a provision for impairment of £45,000 for doubtful debts in this category, compared to £61,000 as at 31 
March 2016. 

The Council has also made doubtful debt provisions of £2,373,000 at 31 March 2017, compared to £2,168,000 at 31 
March 2016, covering debts for Housing Benefit overpayments, this Council’s share of Council Tax and Non-Domestic 
Rates debts, rents and Penalty Charge Notices for parking. The approach to assessing these impairment provisions is 
similar to those for trade debtors, as outlined above, although such debts do not fall within the definition of financial 
instruments. 

Page 68

Appendix A



Statement of Accounts 

 53 

16.3 Groupings of Debtor 

The table below analyses the balance sheet total for short-term debtors into different groups of debtor. Long-term debtors 
all come within the “all other bodies” grouping. 

31 March 
2016 

 

31 March 
2017 

£000 
 

£000 

   2,856  Central government 203  

234  Other local authorities 256  

3,740  All other bodies 6,487  

  
 

  

6,830  Total Short Term Debtors 6,946  

   3,276  Long Term Debtors (other bodies) 1,729  

10,106  Total Debtors 8,675  

 

16.4 Contingent Assets 

There are no contingent assets to be reported. 

17 Liabilities 

17.1 Creditors 

The table below analyses short-term creditors between different types of creditor.  

31 March 
2016 

 

31 March 
2017 

£000 
 

£000 

   (3,576) Central government (4,182) 

(1,613) Other local authorities (1,322) 

(4,578) All other bodies (5,251) 

   (9,767) Total Short Term Creditors (10,755) 

   (313) Central government (450) 

(573) Other local authorities (1,268) 

   (886) Total Long Term Creditors (1,718) 

   (10,653) Total Creditors (12,473) 

 

17.2 Provisions 

Settlement of Legal Case 

A provision for £21,000 has been made for the costs to settle a dispute over the savings share earned by Expense 
Reduction Analysts during the recovery of water charges from Southern Water. 

Appeals against Business Rate Valuations 

As part of the changes relating to business rates retention that came into force in 2013, a provision is now made to allow 
for the potential losses from appeals against valuations, based on the appeals outstanding at 31 March 2017 and the 
average reduction achieved from settled appeals. New legislation came into effect on 1

st
 April 2015 which stated that 

appeals would no longer be backdated and no further appeals can be made on the 2010 Rating List after 31
st
 March 2017. 

This is due to the new 2017 Rating List that will be applicable from 1
st
 April 2017. The provision has been decreased to 

£1,941,000 (£2,252,000 at 31 March 2016) to reflect the decrease in forecast outstanding appeal values, which represents 
this Council’s 40% share of the total provision. 

17.3 Contingent Liabilities 

Municipal Mutual “Run Off” Liabilities  

Municipal Mutual Insurance Company (MMI) was the main local authority insurer for many years up until 1992 when the 
company failed and went into "run-off". A Scheme of Arrangement was approved in 1994 with the aim of meeting all 
claims and achieving a solvent run-off. For a number of years the Administration and Creditors Committee reported that a 
solvent run off was likely to be achieved and sought to sell the business to another insurer to bring the arrangement to a 

Page 69

Appendix A



Statement of Accounts 

 54 

conclusion. Unfortunately a sale has never been achieved and more recently claims have emerged where courts have 
ruled in favour of claimants rather than MMI. In 2015/16 a review of the Scheme of Arrangements concluded that a 25% 
levy must be charged on claims since the Scheme of Arrangement commenced and the Council duly paid this in the last 
financial year. Each year MMI now provides an estimate of the outstanding claims as at 31

st
 March, which for 2016/17 is 

zero. However, the Council has put £50,000 aside in a reserve for any future claims that are made or any further 
adjustments made to the levy rate.  

Local Authority Mortgage Scheme 

Under the Local Authority Mortgage Scheme (LAMS) the Council has undertaken to indemnify possible losses for the 
difference between 75% and 95% mortgages. At 31 March 2017, £1,864,730 had been committed against new 
mortgages, of which this Council is responsible for half of any losses. None of the mortgages are in arrears and no losses 
have been incurred by 31 March 2017, so there is no provision made in the balance sheet for the Council’s possible 
guarantee liabilities. The 2.79% interest from the scheme has, however, been set aside in a reserve and can be used 
should any liability arise. The total available is now £128,000, which will be released upon the cessation of the scheme in 
September 2017, providing there is no call upon it.  

Business rates appeals not yet lodged 

The Local Government Finance Act 2012 introduced the business rates retention scheme which began on 1
st
 April 2013 

and was based upon the 2010 Rating List. Until 31
st
 March 2017, local businesses could still appeal against the Rateable 

Value on the 2010 Rating List and a successful appeal could be backdated as far as April 2010. The Council therefore 
reported a contingent liability for any future appeals not yet lodged, as any refund could have been in relation to the 
present or past financial years. 
 
However, a new Rating List was introduced for 2017 and the Valuation Office will no longer accept any appeals in relation 
to the 2010 Rating List. Any new appeals can now only be backdated to the 1

st
 April 2017, which removes the financial 

risk of any future appeals having an impact on the financial position of the organisation in 2016/17. Therefore, there is no 
contingent liability in 2016/17 for business rates appeals not yet lodged, although the process will commence again next 
year unless there is any legislative change. 
  
 
18 Grants and Contributions 

The table below outlines Government grants and other external contributions accounted for within the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement and the Cash Flow Statement. 

2015/16  2016/17 

Grants Contribs Total  Grants Contribs Total 

£000 £000 £000  £000 £000 £000 

   
 

   (35,315) - (35,315) DWP benefits grants (34,622) - (34,622) 

- (1,411) (1,411) Cont. from other local auth and health sector - (1,453) (1,453) 

- (556) (556) Contributions to rev exp financed from capital - (917) (917) 

(26) (315) (341) Other grants and contributions - (344) (344) 

   
 

   (35,341) (2,282) (37,623) Total within Cost of Services (34,622) (2,714) (37,336) 

   
 

   (1,633) - (1,633) Revenue Support Grant (834) - (834) 

(142) - (142) New Burdens Grant (171) - (171) 

(569) - (569) Benefits and NNDR administration grants (503) - (503) 

(1,226) - (1,226) New Homes Bonus (1,778) - (1,778) 

(521) - (521) Small business rate relief (467) - (467) 

(438) - (438) Section 31grants, re rate income (64) - (64) 

- (8) (8) Donated assets - (1) (1) 

- (2,571) (2,571) Grants & conts towards capital expenditure - (104) (104) 

(271) (169) (440) Other grants and contributions (381) (125) (506) 

   
 

   

(4,800) (2,748) (7,548) 

Total within Taxation and non-specific grant 
income (4,198) (230) (4,428) 

   
 

   

(40,141) (5,030) (45,171) 

Total within Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement (38,820) (2,944) (41,764) 

   
 

   3,024  353  3,377  Adjust for variation in accruals and cap grants (2,730) (101) (2,831) 

   
 

   (37,117) (4,677) (41,794) Total within Cash Flow Statement (41,550) (3,045) (44,595) 

Page 70

Appendix A



Statement of Accounts 

 55 

 

The Council has also received contributions under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, which 
enables developers to make contributions in connection with the granting of planning permission. Where these 
contributions are to be used towards capital investment, and if the agreements contain a condition specifying a date by 
which the contribution must be used for a specific purpose, this income is held on the balance sheet under the heading 
“capital grants receipts in advance”. Balances under “current liabilities” represent those expected to be used to finance 
capital in the next financial year, and other balances are held under “long term liabilities”. 

19 Officers Remuneration 

19.1 Remuneration of Senior Management 

The tables below set out in more detail the remuneration of the senior staff of the Council.  The pay of the officers 
concerned is also included in the remuneration band table set out in Note 19.2 below. 

 
Salary Benefits 

Compen. 
Loss of 

Employment 

Pension 
Contribs. 

Total 
Remun. 

 
£ £ £ £ £ 

2015/16 
     

Chief Executive 118,335  - - 14,472  132,807  

Director of Change & Communities 97,911  251  - 11,749  109,911  

Director of Planning & Development 97,355  - - 11,683  109,038  

Director of Finance & Corporate Services (Section 
151 Officer) 

90,180  - 
- 

10,602  100,782  

 
403,780  251    48,506  452,538  

      

 
Salary Benefits 

Compen. 
Loss of 

Employment 

Pension 
Contribs. 

Total 
Remun. 

 
£ £ £ £ £ 

2016/17 
     

Chief Executive 126,240  618  - 14,298  141,156  

Director of Change & Communities 96,801  - - 11,616  108,417  

Director of Planning & Development 100,064  60  247,207  11,616  358,947  

Director of Finance & Corporate Services (Section 
151 Officer) 

96,879  231  - 10,867  107,977  

 
419,984  909  247,207  48,397  716,497  

 

It should be noted that: 

 No bonuses were payable to any of these officers. 

 The figures for the Chief Executive include fees payable for the role of Returning Officer for electoral purposes. 
The amounts fluctuate between years, depending on what elections fall due during the financial year. The 
amount paid in 2016/17 was £12,886 compared to £7,103 in 2015/16. 

19.2 Remuneration Bands 

The table below shows the number of employees in the year whose remuneration was greater than £50,000. For this 
purpose remuneration means amounts paid to or receivable by an employee, and includes sums due by way of expenses 
allowance (so far as these sums are chargeable to United Kingdom income tax), and the estimated money value of any 
other benefits received by an employee otherwise than in cash. The table displays two columns for each year: the first 
column, in line with the Accounts and Audit Regulations, compares amounts paid to individuals including severance pay. 
As this can vary considerably between years, a second column is also included which excludes severance pay completely. 

The table below shows total remuneration paid to individual employees for the year, whereas the detailed tables above in 
19.1 show remuneration against the relevant senior post. This does not cause any difference for the two years reported 
above, but in other years a particular post may be held by more than one employee during the course of the year, and 
conversely an employee may occupy different posts during the year. 

2015/16 
 

2016/17 

Inc. Severance Exc. Severance Remuneration Band Inc. Severance Exc. Severance 

     7  7  £50,000 - £54,999 7  7  

Page 71

Appendix A



Statement of Accounts 

 56 

5  5  £55,000 - £59,999 4  4  

2  2  £60,000 - £64,999 4  4  

2  1  £65,000 - £69,999 1  1  

2  2  £70,000 - £74,999 - - 

2  2  £75,000 - £79,999 3  3  

1  1  £90,000 - £94,999 - - 

2  2  £95,000 - £99,999 2  2  

- - £100,000 - £104,999 1  1  

1  1  £115,000 - £119,999 - - 

- - £125,000 - £129,999 1  1  

- - £345,000 - £349,999 1  - 

     24  23  Total 24  23  

 

20 Post Employment Benefits 

20.1 Participation in defined liability pension plan 

As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its employees, the Council makes contributions towards the cost of 
post-employment benefits. Although these will not actually be payable until employees retire, the Council has a 
commitment to make the payments, and this needs to be disclosed at the time that employees earn their future 
entitlement. 

The Council participates in the Local Government Pension Scheme, and therefore in the Kent Pension Scheme, which is 
administered by Kent County Council.  

Under the Local Government Pension Scheme retirement benefits are based on the employee’s final salary, and are 
increased each year in line with the Consumer Price Index.  

The accounting policy for this pension plan, including the recognition of actuarial gains and losses, is set out in the 
accounting policies set out in Note 1.17. 

20.2 Annual movement in plan obligations and assets 

The table below shows separately the movements in the obligations and assets relating to the accounting group: 

2015/16 
 

2016/17 

Liabilities Assets Net 
 

Liabilities Assets Net 

£000 £000 £000 
 

£000 £000 £000 

(136,768) 75,207  (61,561) Asset / Liability at 1 April (130,321) 74,895  (55,426) 

  
 

   
 (2,414) - (2,414) Current service cost (2,163) - (2,163) 

(17) - (17) Curtailments (462) - (462) 

(4,458) 2,464   (1,994) Interest expense and income (4,754) 2,750   (2,004) 

- (52) (52) Administration expenses - (48) (48) 

   
 

   (6,889) 2,412   (4,477) To Surplus / Deficit on Prov. Of Services (7,379) 2,702   (4,677) 

   
 

   

   

Contributions: 

   - 2,323   2,323   Employer - 2,546   2,546   

(581) 581   - Employee (592) 592   - 

3,975   (3,975) - Payments to beneficiaries 4,312   (4,312) - 

   
 

   3,394   (1,071) 2,323   Other movements 3,720   (1,174) 2,546   

   
 

   - (1,653) (1,653) Return on assets excluding interest income - 12,786   12,786   

   

Actuarial gains / (losses): 

   9,942   - 9,942   Changes in financial assumptions (30,234) - (30,234) 

- - - Changes in demographic assumptions 2,694   - 2,694   

- - - Experience gains and losses 8,469   248   8,717   

   
 

   9,942   (1,653) 8,289   Re-measurements (19,071) 13,034   (6,037) 

   
 

   (130,321) 74,895   (55,426) Asset / Liability at 31 March  (153,051) 89,457   (63,594) 

 

Page 72

Appendix A



Statement of Accounts 

 57 

20.3 Plan Assets 

The plan’s assets consist of the following categories: 

31 March 2016 
 

31 March 2017 

£000 % 
 

£000 % 

     49,947   66.7% Equities 63,133  70.7% 

663   0.9% Gilts 667  0.7% 

8,223   11.0% Bonds 8,715  9.7% 

10,879   14.5% Property 11,148  12.5% 

1,928   2.6% Cash 2,285  2.5% 

3,255   4.3% Target Return Portfolio 3,509  3.9% 

     74,895   100% Total 89,457   100% 

 

20.4 Actuarial Assumptions 

Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method, an estimate of the pensions that will 
be payable in future years dependent on assumptions on mortality rates, salary levels, etc. The liabilities have been 
assessed by Barnett Waddingham, an independent firm of actuaries, being based on the latest full valuation of the 
scheme as at 31 March 2017. The main assumptions used in their calculations are: 

2015/16 

 

2016/17 

 
Mortality assumptions: 

 22.9  Longevity at 65 for current pensioners: Men 23.0  

25.3  Longevity at 65 for current pensioners: Women 25.0  

25.2  Longevity at 65 for future pensioners: Men 25.1  

27.7  Longevity at 65 for future pensioners: Women 27.4  

   4.2% Rate of increase in salaries 4.2% 

2.4% Rate of increase in pensions 2.7% 

3.7% Rate for discounting scheme liabilities 2.7% 

50.0% Take-up of option to convert annual pension into retirement lump sum 50.0% 

 

20.5 Funding Arrangements 

The estimated cash contribution for 2017/18 is £2,379,000 compared with the actual contribution of £2,564,000 for 
2016/17.  

21 Termination Benefits and Exit Packages 

In 2016/17 the Council paid £119,000 in severance payments (excluding pension curtailment costs) to 13 former members 
of staff, compared to £36,000 paid to 3 former members of staff in 2015/16. 2 payments were settlement agreements and 
11 were compulsory redundancies, 1 of which was a senior manager whose remuneration is disclosed in Note 19.1. 

The table below shows the complete cost of exit packages agreed in each year that has been charged to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The costs shown include severance pay and any “curtailment” costs 
relating to the cost of allowing employees to take their pensions before normal retirement age. 

2015/16 Banding 2016/17 

Number Cost 
 

Number Cost 

 
£000 

  
£000 

     2  8  0 - £19,999 11  59  

1  28  £20,000 - £39,999 - - 

- - £60,000 - £79,999 1  71  

- - £200,000 - £249,999 1  247  

     3  36  
 

13  377  

 

22 Members Allowances 

The total amount of members’ allowances paid in 2016/17 was £362,702, compared to £363,973 in 2015/16. 

The Council produces a statement, in accordance with the Local Authorities Members’ Allowance (England) Regulations 
2003, giving details of the allowances paid. The statement may be seen on the Council’s website or copies can be 

Page 73

Appendix A



Statement of Accounts 

 58 

obtained by writing to the Democratic Services Manager, Town Hall, Royal Tunbridge Wells, Kent TN1 1RS. Telephone 
01892 554179 or e-mail committee@tunbridgewells.gov.uk  

23 Agency Income and Expenditure 

The Council is responsible for the Collection of National Non-Domestic Rates and Council Tax, which it then passes on to 
the Government, Kent County Council, the Kent Police Authority and the Kent Fire and Rescue Service as shown below. 
While the element of Council Tax and National Non-Domestic Rates collected for this Council is accounted for in the 
Income and Expenditure Account, the remainder of the tax collection activity is excluded from this account and is 
accounted for as an agency service. 

All amounts collected and paid over under these agency activities are excluded from the main accounting statements and 
the notes, other than the Cash Flow Statement, where the changes during the year are included in the “financing activities” 
heading. 

The totals collected on this basis are shown below: 

2015/16 
 

2016/17 

Council Tax Rates Total 
 

Council Tax Rates Total 

£000 £000 £000 
 

£000 £000 £000 

       - 24,958  24,958  Government - 26,226  26,226  

47,224  4,492  51,716  Kent County Council 49,913  4,721  54,634  

6,375  - 6,375  Kent Police Authority 6,699  - 6,699  

3,060  499  3,559  Kent Fire and Rescue Service 3,169  525  3,694  

       56,659  29,949  86,608  Total agency income 59,781  31,472  91,253  

 

24 External Audit Costs  

The audit fees for 2016/17, payable to Grant Thornton, are set out below.  

2015/16  2016/17 

£000  £000 

 
 

 51  External Audit Services - Statutory Accounts 2016/17 51  

12  Audit & Statutory Certification of Grant Claims 2016/17 9  

63  Total 60  

 

25 Leasing 

25.1 Finance leases – Council acting as lessee 

The Council holds two properties under long term leases, as shown below. As the length of the leases are in line with, or 
greater than, the life expectancy of the building, the building element of these agreements are treated as a finance lease. 

 
Lease start Lease term 

Value 
31/03/16 

Value 
31/03/17 

   
£000 £000 

     TN2 Centre 2006 30 years 500 475 

Putlands Sports & Leisure Centre 1995 99 years 264 252 

     

   
764 727 

 

As these leases are on peppercorn rents there are no lease commitments. 

The Council has sub-let accommodation within the TN2 Centre back to the YMCA, also on a peppercorn rent, and to Kent 
County Council, for use as a library, for £14,000 per annum, under a sub-lease expiring on 16 March 2036. 

25.2 Operating leases – Council acting as lessee 

The Council makes payments under operating leases for photocopiers and printers, the Housing Leasing scheme (the 
Council obtained the use of various properties which were used for temporary accommodation), the Tourist Information 
Centre and various car parks. 

Combined, the leases have a total value of £36,000, compared with £47,000 in 2015/16 and are immaterial.  

The Council paid out £20,000 in minimum lease payments during 2016/17 compared to £19,500 in 2015/16. The Council 
did not pay any contingent rents or receive income under subleases, in either year. 

Page 74

Appendix A

mailto:committee@tunbridgewells.gov.uk


Statement of Accounts 

 59 

25.3 Finance leases – Council acting as lessor 

The Council has not leased out any properties under finance leases. 

25.4 Operating leases – Council acting as lessor 

The Council leases out various properties that it does not directly occupy, for purposes such as housing, leisure and 
economic development, including the ground rent received for the Royal Victoria Place shopping centre. 

The future minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable leases as at the end of the financial year are: 

31 March 2016 

 

31 March 2017 

£000 
 

£000 

 
Leases expiring: 

 (15) Within one year (52) 

(1,063) Between two and five years (177) 

(80,079) Later than five years (81,640) 

   (81,157) Total (81,869) 

 

The minimum lease payments receivable as shown in the above table do not include rents that are contingent upon events 
taking place after the start of the lease, such as adjustments following rent reviews. In 2016/17 the Council received 
£23,000 in contingent rents, compared to £25,000 in 2015/16. 

26 Related Parties 

26.1 Definition 

The term “related party” covers relationships between the Council and a body or individual where one of the parties can 
exercise significant influence over the policies and decisions of the other.  

26.2 Central Government 

The UK central government provides much of the Council’s funding and determines its statutory framework. Details of 
transactions with central government are shown in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, the Cash Flow 
Statement, and Note 16 Debtors, Note 17 Liabilities and Note 18 Grants and Contributions. 

26.3 Kent Pension Scheme 

The Council participates in the Kent Pension Scheme, making annual contributions to the Kent Pension Fund as set out in 
Note 20. Although the scheme is administered by Kent County Council, the pension fund is a separate entity, and Kent 
County Council is not in itself a related party. 

26.4 Tunbridge Wells Property Holdings Limited 

This company was incorporated on 9 March 2015, with the purpose of owning and managing some of the Council’s 
property portfolio, particularly those properties being developed as part of the capital programme. The company is wholly 
owned by the Council and there are 3 company Directors, comprising 2 Councillors and the Head of Economic 
Development. A letting agent has been appointed to manage the tenant relationships and the administration is provided by 
the council and recharged to the company. 

The company started trading on the 18 May 2015, when 8 properties were leased to the company by the Council on 22 
year leases. A further 7 properties were leased during 2016/17. In the second year of trading the company has made a 
loss of £6,400 due to the start up costs associated with the new properties. The accounts will be filed at Companies House 
by December 2017. Group Accounts have not been prepared as the revenue is immaterial as shown in Note 3. 

26.5 Members and senior officers 

All members and senior officers are required to complete an annual return, disclosing the details of any interest of 
themselves and their close family members, which might have an impact on their activities on behalf of the Council. 
Members also disclose such interests in the Register of Members’ Interests, which is held at the Town Hall, Tunbridge 
Wells, and is open to public inspection. 

Returns were received from all Councillors elected for the 2016/17 financial year and all Chief Officers and there were no 
transactions considered of material significance to warrant separate disclosures in the accounts. 

Details of payments to senior officers and to members are shown in Note 19 and Note 22 respectively. 

 

 

Page 75

Appendix A



Statement of Accounts 

 60 

The Collection Fund  

 

The Collection Fund is an agent’s statement that reflects the Council’s statutory obligation for billing authorities to maintain 
a separate Collection Fund. The statement shows the transactions of the billing authority in relation to the collection from 
taxpayers and the distribution to local authorities and the Government of council tax and non-domestic rates. 

 2015/16    2016/17  

C Tax Rates Total  C Tax Rates Total 

£000 £000 £000  £000 £000 £000 

   
 

   (65,849) (53,886) (119,735) Income Collectable (69,203) (53,050) (122,253) 

- - - 

Transfer from General Fund: Council 
Tax Benefit - - - 

(65,849) (53,886) (119,735) Income Receivable (69,203) (53,050) (122,253) 

   
 

   

   

Apportionments of previous year 
surplus: 

   - - - Kent County Council - - - 

- - - Kent Police Authority - - - 

- - - Kent Fire and Rescue Service - - - 

- - - Tunbridge Wells Borough Council - - - 

       

   

Precepts and central share: 

   46,974  4,365  51,339  Kent County Council 49,353  4,705  54,058  

6,342  - 6,342  Kent Police Authority 6,624  - 6,624  

3,045  485  3,530  Kent Fire and Rescue Service 3,135  523  3,658  

8,823  19,400  28,223  Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 9,196  20,910  30,106  

- 24,250  24,250  Government - 26,138  26,138  

       

   

Transfer to General Fund: 

   - 177  177  Cost of Collection allowance - 177  177  

       

   

Impairment of debts: 

   311  673  984  Write offs 101  313  414  

10  461  471  Allowance for impairments 21  684  705  

   
 

   

   

Impairments resulting from appeals: 

   - 2,603  2,603  Allowance for impairments - (778) (778) 

   
 

   - 55  55  Transitional protection payments - 202  202  

       65,505  52,469  117,974  Expenditure 68,430  52,874  121,304  

   
 

   

   
 

   

(344) (1,417) (1,761) 
(Increase) / Reduction in fund balance 

(773) (176) (949) 

(246) 950  704  Balance on Fund 1 April (590) (466) (1,056) 

(590) (466) (1,056) Balance on Fund 31 March (1,363) (642) (2,005) 

 
 
Notes to the Collection Fund 

1 Non-Domestic Rates 

The total non domestic rateable value at 31 March 2017 was £127.343m (£126.967m as at 31 March 2016).  The national 
non-domestic multiplier for the year was 49.7p (49.3p for 2015/16). Revaluation usually takes place every 5 years to 
maintain fairness by ensuring that rateable values reflect changes in the property market. The next revaluation however, 
has been delayed to 2017 due to the vulnerable state of the economy and pressures on the valuation office. The most 
recent revaluation came into effect on 1 April 2010. At revaluation, the multipliers are revised so that the overall national 
business rates bill only changes in line with inflation. 

Page 76

Appendix A



Statement of Accounts 

 61 

In 2015/16 the Council joined the Kent Non-Domestic Rates Pool, which enables the County to retain much of the 
Business Rates Levy that would otherwise have been paid to Government. The Council was permitted to keep an 
additional £164,000 of the Business Rates income from the Borough.  

The Council has received applications for mandatory relief from business rates on behalf of 2 NHS Foundation Trusts, but 
it considers the basis of these applications to be unfounded and has made no allowance for them in its financial 
statements. 

2 Council Tax Base 

The Council Tax base i.e. the number of chargeable dwellings in each valuation band (adjusted where discounts apply) 
converted to an equivalent number of band D dwellings was calculated as follows: 

  2015/16   2016/17  

 
Estimated No. 
Of Properties Multiplier 

Band D 
Equivalent 
Dwellings 

Estimated 
No. Of 

Properties Multiplier 

Band D 
Equivalent 
Dwellings 

A 1,975.59 6/9 1,317.31 1,992.92 6/9 1,329.76 

B 3,420.34 7/9 2,660.27 3,455.55 7/9 2,688.13 

C 10,251.69 8/9 9,112.63 10,448.79 8/9 9,287.80 

D 8,440.99 9/9 8,440.99 8,512.52 9/9 8,512.52 

E 5,848.42 11/9 7,148.09 5,873.75 11/9 7,179.03 

F 4,167.35 13/9 6,019.49 4,198.23 13/9 6,064.10 

G 4,798.67 15/9 7,997.79 4,829.69 15/9 8,049.50 

H 483.50 18/9 967.00 500.50 18/9 1,001.00 

TOTAL BAND D EQUIVALENTS 43,663.57 39,811.95  44,111.84 

COLLECTION RATE 0.987   0.987 

TAX BASE 43,095.94   43,538.39 

 

Page 77

Appendix A



This page is intentionally left blank



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  |  2016/17 

The Audit Findings
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Year ended 31 March 2017

Darren Wells
Director
T +44 (0)1293 554120
E darren.j.wells@uk.gt.com
Ade Oyerinde
Manager
T +44 (0)20 7728 3332
E ade.o.oyerinde@uk.gt.com

25 July 2017

P
age 79

A
ppendix B



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  |  2016/17 2

Private and Confidential

Chartered Accountants
Grant Thornton UK LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales: No.OC307742. Registered office: Grant Thornton House, Melton Street, Euston Square, London NW1 2EP.
A list of members is available from our registered office. Grant Thornton UK LLP is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority.
Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL and
its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. Please see grant-thornton.co.uk for further details..

Private and Confidential

This Audit Findings report highlights the key findings arising from the audit that are significant to the responsibility of those charged with governance (in the case of 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council, the Audit and Governance Committee), to oversee the financial reporting process, as required by International Standard on Auditing 
(UK & Ireland) 260, the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the National Audit Office Code of Audit Practice. Its contents have been discussed with officers. 
As auditor we are responsible for performing the audit, in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK & Ireland) ('ISA (UK&I)'), which is directed towards 
forming and expressing an opinion on the financial statements that have been prepared by management with the oversight of those charged with governance. The audit of 
the financial statements does not relieve management or those charged with governance of their responsibilities for the preparation of the financial statements. 
The contents of this report relate only to those matters which came to our attention during the conduct of our normal audit procedures which are designed primarily for the 
purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements and giving a value for money conclusion. Our audit is not designed to test all internal controls or identify all 
areas of control weakness. However, where, as part of our testing, we identify any control weaknesses, we will report these to you. In consequence, our work cannot be 
relied upon to disclose defalcations or other irregularities, or to include all possible improvements in internal control that a more extensive special examination might 
identify. We do not accept any responsibility for any loss occasioned to any third party acting, or refraining from acting on the basis of the content of this report, as this 
report was not prepared for, nor intended for, any other purpose.
We would like to take this opportunity to record our appreciation for the kind assistance provided by the finance team and other staff during our audit.
Yours sincerely
Darren Wells, 
Engagement Lead.

Grant Thornton UK LLP 
Fleming Way
Manor Royal
Crawley
RH10 9GT
T +44 (0)1293 554 130 
www.grant-thornton.co.uk 

25 July 2017
Dear Committee Members
Audit Findings for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council for the year ending 31 March 2017

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Mount Pleasant Road
Royal Tunbridge Wells
Kent
TN1 1RS

P
age 80

A
ppendix B



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  |  2016/17 3

Contents
Section Page
1. Executive summary 4
2. Audit findings 8
3. Value for Money 17
4. Other statutory powers and duties 20
5. Fees, non-audit services and independence 22
6. Communication of audit matters 24
Appendices
A  Action plan
B  Audit opinion

P
age 81

A
ppendix B



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  |  2016/17 

Section 1: Executive summary

01. Executive summary
02. Audit findings
03. Value for Money
04. Other statutory powers  and duties

06. Communication of audit matters
05. Fees, non audit services and independence

P
age 82

A
ppendix B



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  |  2016/17 5

Executive summary

Purpose of this report
This report highlights the key issues affecting the results of Tunbridge Wells 
Borough Council ('the Council') and the preparation of the Council's financial 
statements for the year ended 31 March 2017. It is also used to report our audit 
findings to management and the Audit and Governance Committee in accordance 
with the requirements of ISA (UK&I) 260,  and the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 ('the Act').  
Under the National Audit Office (NAO) Code of Audit Practice ('the Code'), we 
are required to report whether, in our opinion, the Council's financial statements 
give  a true and fair view of the financial position of the Council and its income 
and expenditure for the year and whether they have been properly prepared in 
accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting. 
We are also required to consider other information published together with the 
audited financial statements (including the Annual Governance Statement (AGS) 
and Narrative Report, whether it is consistent with the financial statements, 
apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, our 
knowledge of the Council acquired in the course of performing our audit; or 
otherwise misleading.
We are required to carry out sufficient work to satisfy ourselves on whether the 
Council has made proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources ('the value for money (VFM) conclusion'). 
Auditor Guidance Note 7 (AGN07) clarifies our reporting requirements in the 
Code and the Act. We are required to provide a conclusion whether in all 
significant respects, the Council has put in place proper arrangements to secure 
value for money through economic, efficient and effective use of its resources for 
the year.
The Act also details the following additional powers and duties for  local 
government auditors, which we are required to report to you if applied:

• a public interest report if we identify any matter that comes to our attention 
in the course of the audit that in our opinion should be considered by the 
Council or brought to the public's attention (section 24 of the Act); 

• written recommendations which should be considered by the Council and 
responded to publicly (section 24 of the Act);

• application to the court for a declaration that an item of account is contrary 
to law (section 28 of the Act);  

• issue of an advisory notice (section 29 of the Act); and
• application for judicial review (section 31 of the Act).  
We are also required to give electors the opportunity to raise questions about 
the accounts and consider and decide upon objections received in relation to 
the accounts under sections 26 and 27 of the Act. 
Introduction
In the conduct of our audit we have not had to alter or change our audit 
approach, which we communicated to you in our Audit Plan dated 4 April 2017. 
Our audit is substantially complete although we are finalising our procedures in 
the following areas: 
• Receipt and review of arrangements for oversight of fraud, laws and 

regulation assurance from Committee Chair; 
• obtaining and reviewing the management letter of representation;
• updating our post balance sheet events review, to the date of signing the 

opinion.
We received draft financial statements and accompanying working papers on 1 
June 2017 in accordance with the agreed timetable.

P
age 83

A
ppendix B



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  |  2016/17 6

Executive summary

Key audit and financial reporting summary
Financial statements opinion
The draft financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2017 recorded 'Other 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure' of £8,694k and our work has not 
resulted in a change to the reported position. 
The key messages arising from our audit of the Council's financial statements are:
• the quality of the draft statements presented for audit on 1 June 2017 was good 

and free of errors; 
• the finance team responded promptly and comprehensively to audit requests 

and queries;
• for the second year running, the audit was completed two months before the 

statutory deadline.
Further details are set out in section two of this report.
We anticipate providing a unqualified audit opinion in respect of the financial 
statements (see Appendix B).
Other financial statement responsibilities
As well as an opinion on the financial statements, we are required to give an 
opinion on whether other information published together with the audited 
financial statements is consistent with the financial statements. This includes if the 
Narrative Report and Annual Governance Statement (AGS) is misleading or 
inconsistent with the information of which we are aware from our audit.
Based on our review of the Council’s Narrative Report and AGS we are satisfied 
that they are consistent with the audited financial statements. We are also 
satisfied that the AGS meets the requirements set out in the CIPFA/SOLACE 
guidance and that the disclosures included in the Narrative Report are in line 
with the requirements of the CIPFA Code of Practice.

Controls
Roles and responsibilities
The Council's management is responsible for the identification, assessment, 
management and monitoring of risk, and for developing, operating and 
monitoring the system of internal control.
Our audit is not designed to test all internal controls or identify all areas of 
control weakness.  However, where, as part of our testing, we identify any 
control weaknesses, we report these to the Council. 
Findings
Our work has not identified any control weaknesses which we wish to highlight 
for your attention.   

P
age 84

A
ppendix B



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  |  2016/17 7

Executive summary

Value for Money
Based on our review, we are satisfied that, in all significant respects, the Council 
had proper arrangements in place to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness 
in its use of resources.
Further detail of our work on Value for Money are set out in section three of this 
report.
Other statutory powers and duties
We have not identified any issues that have required us to apply our statutory 
powers and duties under the Act.
A local authority elector raised an objection in relation to the accounts under 
sections 26 and 27 of the Act. Our consideration of the objection isn’t complete. 
However, we are satisfied that this matter does not have a material effect on the 
financial statements or on our conclusion on the Council's arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year 
ended 31 March 2017.

Grant certification
In addition to our responsibilities under the Code, we are required to 
certify the Council's Housing Benefit subsidy claim on behalf of the 
Department for Work and Pensions. At present our work on this claim is 
in progress and is not due to be finalised until 30 November 2017. We will 
report the outcome of this certification work through a separate report to 
Audit and Governance Committee which is due in January 2018.
The way forward
Matters arising from the financial statements audit and our review of the 
Council's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness 
in its use of resources have been discussed with the Director of Finance 
and Corporate Services.
Acknowledgement
We would like to take this opportunity to record our appreciation for the 
assistance provided by the finance team and other staff during our audit.

Grant Thornton UK LLP
July 2017

P
age 85

A
ppendix B



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  |  2016/17 

Section 2: Audit findings

01. Executive summary
02. Audit findings
03. Value for Money
04. Other statutory powers and duties
05. Fees, non audit services and independence
06. Communication of audit matters

P
age 86

A
ppendix B



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  |  2016/17 9

Audit findings

In performing our audit, we apply the concept of materiality, following the requirements of ISA (UK&I) 320: Materiality in planning and performing an audit. The standard 
states that 'misstatements, including omissions, are considered to be material if they, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements'. 
As we reported in our Audit Plan, we determined overall materiality to be £1,324k (being 2% of gross revenue expenditure). We have considered whether this level 
remained appropriate during the course of the audit and the increase in gross revenue within the draft statements led us to revise our overall materiality to £1,384k (being 
2% of gross revenue expenditure).
We also set an amount below which misstatements would be clearly trivial and would not need to be accumulated or reported to those charged with governance because we 
would not expect that the accumulated effect of such amounts would have a material impact on the financial statements. We have defined the amount below which 
misstatements would be clearly trivial to be £69k. Our assessment of the value of clearly trivial matters has been adjusted to reflect our revised materiality calculation.
As we reported in our Audit Plan, we identified the following item where we decided that a separate materiality level was appropriate. This remain the same as reported in 
our Audit Plan.

Balance/transaction/disclosure Explanation Materiality level
Cash and cash equivalents Although the balance of cash and cash equivalents is immaterial, all 

transactions made by the Council affect the balance and it is therefore 
considered to be material by nature.  

£500k

Materiality

Misstatements, including omissions, are considered to be material if they, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of the financial statements; Judgments about materiality are made in light of surrounding circumstances, and are affected by the size or nature of a misstatement, 
or a combination of both; and Judgments about matters that are material to users of the financial statements are based on a consideration of the common financial information needs 
of users as a group. The possible effect of misstatements on specific individual users, whose needs may vary widely, is not considered. (ISA (UK&I) 320)

P
age 87

A
ppendix B



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  |  2016/17 10

Audit findings against significant risks
Risks identified in our audit plan Work completed Assurance gained and issues arising
The revenue cycle includes fraudulent transactions
Under ISA (UK&I) 240 there is a presumed risk that 
revenue may be misstated due to the improper 
recognition of revenue. 
This presumption can be rebutted if the auditor 
concludes that there is no risk of material misstatement 
due to fraud relating to revenue recognition.
Practice Note 10 suggests that the risk of material 
misstatement due to fraudulent financial reporting that may 
arise from the manipulation of expenditure recognition 
needs to be considered.

Having considered the risk factors set out in ISA240 and the 
nature of the revenue streams at Tunbridge Wells Borough 
Council, we have determined that the risk of fraud arising from 
revenue recognition can be rebutted, because:
 there is little incentive to manipulate revenue recognition;
 opportunities to manipulate revenue recognition are very 

limited; and
 the culture and ethical frameworks of local authorities, 

including Tunbridge Wells Borough Council, mean that all 
forms of fraud are seen as unacceptable.

Our audit work has not identified any issues in 
respect of revenue recognition.

Management over-ride of controls
Under ISA (UK&I) 240 it is presumed  that the risk of  
management  over-ride of controls is present in all 
entities.

We have undertaken the following work in relation to this risk:
 documented the control environment and walkthrough of the 

system in respect of journal entries;
 reviewed the journal entry process and tested selection of 

unusual journal entries for months back to supporting 
documentation;

 reviewed accounting estimates, judgements and decisions 
made by management;

 reviewed unusual significant transactions.

Our audit work has not identified any evidence of 
management over-ride of controls. In particular the 
findings of our review of journal controls and testing 
of journal controls and testing of journal entries has 
not identified any significant issues. 
We did not identify, nor were made aware of, any 
unusual significant transactions. 
We set out later in this section of the report our work 
and findings on key accounting estimates and 
judgements. 

Audit findings

In this section we detail our response to the significant risks of material misstatement which we identified in the Audit Plan. As we noted in our Plan, there are two 
presumed significant risks which are applicable to all audits under auditing standards.

"Significant risks often relate to significant non-routine transactions and judgmental matters. Non-routine transactions are transactions that are unusual, due to either size or nature, 
and that therefore occur infrequently. Judgmental matters may include the development of accounting estimates for which there is significant measurement uncertainty." (ISA (UK&I) 
315) . In making the review of unusual significant transactions "the auditor shall treat identified significant related party transactions outside the entity's normal course of business as 
giving rise to significant risks." (ISA (UK&I) 550)

P
age 88

A
ppendix B



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  |  2016/17 11

Audit findings against other risks
Transaction 
cycle Description of risk Work completed Assurance gained & issues arising
Operating
expenses

Non-pay expenditure represents a significant 
percentage of the Council’s gross expenditure. 
Management uses judgement to estimate accruals 
of un-invoiced non-pay costs. 
We identified the completeness of non- pay 
expenditure in the financial statements as a risk 
requiring particular audit attention: 
 creditors and accruals understated or not 

recorded in the correct period.

We have undertaken the following work in relation to this risk:
 documented our understanding of processes and key controls 

over the transaction cycle;
 undertaken walkthrough of the key controls to assess the 

whether those controls were in line with our documented 
understanding;

 reviewed year end account reconciliations;
 sample testing of operating expenditure during the year;
 testing of the year end payables;
 testing for unrecorded liabilities and manual accruals.

Our audit work has not identified any 
significant issues in relation to the risk 
identified.

Employee 
remuneration

Payroll expenditure represents a significant 
percentage of the Council’s gross expenditure.
We identified the completeness of payroll 
expenditure in the financial statements as a risk 
requiring particular audit attention: 
 employee remuneration accruals understated

We have undertaken the following work in relation to this risk:
 documented our understanding of processes and key controls 

over the transaction cycle;
 undertaken walkthrough of the key controls to assess the 

whether those controls were in line with our documented 
understanding;

 Reviewed your year end reconciliations of the payroll to the 
ledger ;

 completed sample testing of payroll transactions during the year;
 completed directional analytical review using trend analysis.

Our audit work has not identified any 
significant issues in relation to the risk 
identified.

Audit findings

In this section we detail our response to the other risks of material misstatement which we identified in the Audit Plan.  

"In respect of some risks, the auditor may judge that it is not possible or practicable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence only from substantive procedures. Such risks may 
relate to the inaccurate or incomplete recording of routine and significant classes of transactions or account balances, the characteristics of which often permit highly automated 
processing with little or no manual intervention. In such cases, the entity’s controls over such risks are relevant to the audit and the auditor shall obtain an understanding of them." 
(ISA (UK&I) 315) 

P
age 89

A
ppendix B



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  |  2016/17 12

Audit findings against other risks continued
Transaction cycle Description of risk Work completed

Assurance gained & issues 
arising

Valuation of property, 
plant and equipment 

The Council revalues its assets 
on a rolling basis over a five year 
period. The Code requires that 
the Council ensures that the 
carrying value at the balance
sheet date is not materially 
different from the current value. 
This represents a significant 
estimate by management in the 
financial statements.

We have undertaken the following work in relation to this risk:
 Reviewed management's processes and assumptions for the calculation of 

the estimate;
 Reviewed the competence, expertise and objectivity of management experts;
 Reviewed the instructions issued to valuation experts and the scope of their 

work;
 Discussed with valuer the basis on which the valuation is carried out and 

challenge of the key assumptions;
 Reviewed and challenged the information used by the valuer to ensure it is 

robust and consistent with our understanding;
 Testing of revaluations made during the year to ensure they are input 

correctly into the Council's asset register;
 Evaluated the assumptions made by management for those assets not 

revalued during the year and how management satisfied themselves that 
these are not materially different to current value.

Our audit work has not identified 
any significant issues in relation to 
the risk identified.

Valuation of pension 
fund net liability

The Council's pension fund asset 
and liability as reflected in its 
balance sheet represents  a 
significant estimate in the 
financial statements.

We have undertaken the following work in relation to this risk:
 Documented the controls put in place by management to ensure that the 

pension fund liability is not materially misstated;
 reviewed the competence, expertise and objectivity of the actuary who 

carried out your pension fund valuation. We gained an understanding of the 
basis on which the valuation is carried out;

 undertook procedures to confirm the reasonableness of the actuarial 
assumptions made;

 reviewed the consistency of the pension fund asset and liability and 
disclosures in notes to the financial statements with the actuarial report from 
your actuary.

Our audit work has not identified 
any significant issues in relation to 
the risk identified.
We used an auditor’s expert to 
provide assurance on the Council’s 
actuary’s work. Our expert 
concluded that the assumptions 
used by the actuary to be 
reasonable in most cases although 
in some instances the assumptions 
fall outside of expected ranges. 
Looking at the impact of all 
assumptions holistically, we 
obtained sufficient assurance that 
the pension fund liability is not 
materially misstated. 

Audit findings

P
age 90

A
ppendix B



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  |  2016/17 13

Audit findings against other risks continued
Transaction cycle Description of risk Work completed Assurance gained & issues arising
Changes to the 
presentation of local
authority financial 
statements

CIPFA has been working on the 
‘Telling the Story’ project, for which 
the aim was to streamline the 
financial statements and improve 
accessibility to the user and this has 
resulted in changes to the 2016/17 
CIPFA Code of Practice.
The changes affect the presentation 
of income and expenditure in the 
financial statements and associated 
disclosure notes. A prior period 
adjustment (PPA) to restate the 
2015/16 comparative figures is also 
required.

We have undertaken the following work in relation to this risk:
 documented and evaluated the process for the recording the required 

financial reporting changes to the 2016/17 financial statements;
 reviewed the re-classification of the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement (CIES) comparatives to ensure that they are 
in line with the Council’s internal reporting structure;

 reviewed the appropriateness of the revised grouping of entries within 
the Movement In Reserves Statement (MIRS);

 tested the classification of income and expenditure for 2016/17 
recorded within the Cost of Services section of the CIES;

 tested the completeness  of income and expenditure by reviewing the 
reconciliation of the CIES to the general ledger;

 tested the classification of income and expenditure reported within the 
new Expenditure and Funding Analysis (EFA) note to the financial 
statements;

 reviewed the new segmental reporting disclosures within the 2016/17 
financial statements  to ensure compliance with the CIPFA Code of 
Practice.

Our audit work has not identified any 
significant issues in relation to the 
disclosure changes.

Audit findings

P
age 91

A
ppendix B



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  |  2016/17 14

Accounting policies, estimates and judgements
Accounting area Summary of policy Comments Assessment
Revenue 
recognition

The Council accounts for activity in the year that it takes place, not
simply when cash payments are made or received. Revenue policies
set out in Note 1.2 include:
 revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the Council

transfers the significant risks and rewards of ownership to the
purchase, and it is probable that the economic benefits or service
potential associated with the transaction will flow to the Council

 revenue from the provision of services is recognised when the 
Council can measure reliably the percentage of completion of the 
transaction and it is probable that economic benefits or service 
potential associated with the transaction will flow to the Council.

Your revenue recognition policies are appropriate and in line with the 
CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting. 
The Council has significant revenue streams from a number of 
different sources, principally fees and charges, income from council 
tax revenues and grant income. We did not identify any issues with 
how revenue has been recognised from these sources. 
Accounting policies in respect of revenue recognition are adequately 
disclosed. 


Green

Judgements and 
estimates

 Key estimates and judgements include:
 pension fund valuations and settlements
 revaluations
 Impairments
 Provisions
 useful life of capital equipment.

The critical areas of judgement applied in compiling the Council's 
financial statements have been explained  in the statement of 
accounts. 
The Council is advised by external experts in relation to property and 
pension fund valuations. We have reviewed the work of experts and 
are satisfied that the experts used by the Council are independent, 
appropriately skilled and  have carried out their work in accordance 
with professional practices. Where estimates and judgements have 
been applied by officers we are satisfied they are free from material 
bias. 


Green

Going concern The Director of Finance and Corporate Services, s151 officer has a 
reasonable expectation that the services provided by the Council 
will continue for the foreseeable future.  Members concur with this 
view. For this reason, the Council continue to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

We reviewed management's assessment of the going concern 
assumption and the disclosures in the financial statements and 
concluded that the going concern basis is appropriate for the 
2016/17 financial statements.


Green

Other accounting 
policies

We have reviewed the Council's policies against the requirements 
of the CIPFA Code and accounting standards.

Our review of accounting policies has not highlighted any issues 
which we wish to bring to your attention. 

Green
Assessment
 Marginal accounting policy which could potentially attract attention from regulators  Accounting policy appropriate but scope for improved disclosure  Accounting policy appropriate and disclosures sufficient

Audit findings

In this section we report on our consideration of accounting policies, in particular revenue recognition policies, and key estimates and judgements made and included 
with the Council's financial statements.  

P
age 92

A
ppendix B



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  |  2016/17 15

Other communication requirements
Issue Commentary

1. Matters in relation to fraud  We have not been made aware of any other incidents in the period and no other issues have been identified during the course of our 
audit procedures.

2. Matters in relation to related 
parties

 From the work we carried out, we have not identified any related party transactions which have not been disclosed.

3. Matters in relation to laws and 
regulations

 You have not made us aware of any significant incidences of non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations and we have not 
identified any incidences from our audit work.

4. Written representations  A standard letter of representation has been requested from the Council.
5. Confirmation requests from 

third parties 
 We obtained direct confirmations from the PWLB loans and requested from management permission to send confirmation requests to  

the Co-Operative Bank, Lloyds, NatWest, Santander, Fife Council and the Local Authorities' Property Fund for bank and investment 
balances. This permission was granted and the requests sent and provided. Our review found no issues.

6. Disclosures  Our review found no material omissions in the financial statements.
7. Matters on which we report by 

exception
 We are required to report on a number of matters by exception in a number of areas:
We have not identified  any issues we would be required to report by exception in the following areas:
 if the Annual Governance Statement does not meet the disclosure requirements set out in the CIPFA/SOLACE guidance or is 

misleading or inconsistent with the information of which we are aware from our audit
 the information in the Narrative Report is materially inconsistent with the information in the audited financial statements or our 

knowledge of the Council acquired in the course of performing our audit, or otherwise misleading.
8. Specified procedures for 

Whole of Government 
Accounts 

We are required to carry out specified procedures (on behalf of the NAO) on the Whole of Government Accounts (WGA) consolidation
pack under WGA group audit instructions. 
 Note that work is not required as the Council does not exceed the threshold.

Audit findings

We set out below details of other matters which we, as auditors, are required by auditing standards and the Code to communicate to those charged with governance.

P
age 93

A
ppendix B



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  |  2016/17 16

Misclassifications and disclosure changes
Audit findings

Adjustment type Value
£'000

Account balance Impact on the financial statements

1 Disclosure 11,165 Financial Instruments 
Note 15

Financial Instruments note for Cash and Cash Equivalents was updated to 
included cash and bank balances of £1.2 million to comply with IAS32. 

The table below provides detail of the disclosure change identified during the audit which has been made in the final set of financial statements. 

P
age 94

A
ppendix B



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  |  2016/17 

Section 3: Value for Money

01. Executive summary
02. Audit findings
03. Value for Money

05. Fees, non-audit services and independence
06. Communication of audit matters

04. Other statutory powers and duties

P
age 95

A
ppendix B



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  |  2016/17 18

Value for Money

Risk assessment 
We carried out an initial risk assessment in March 2017 and identified a number of significant risks in respect of specific areas of proper arrangements using the guidance contained in AGN03. We communicated these risks to you in our Audit Plan dated 4 April 2017.  
We have continued our review of relevant documents up to the date of giving our report, and have not identified any significant risks requiring further work.

Background
We are required by section 21 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 ('the Act') and the NAO Code of Audit Practice ('the Code') to satisfy ourselves that the Council has put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. This is known as the Value for Money (VFM) conclusion. 
We are required to carry out sufficient work to satisfy ourselves that proper arrangements are in place at the Council. The Act and NAO guidance state that for local government bodies, auditors are required to give a conclusion on whether the Council has put proper arrangements in place. 
In carrying out this work, we are required to follow the NAO's Auditor Guidance Note 3 (AGN 03) issued in November 2016. AGN 03 identifies one single criterion for auditors to evaluate: 

In all significant respects, the audited body takes properly informed decisions and deploys resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. 
AGN03 provides examples of proper arrangements against three sub-criteria but specifically states that these are not separate criteria for assessment purposes and that auditors are not required to reach a distinct judgement against each of these. 

P
age 96

A
ppendix B



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  |  2016/17 19

Significant qualitative aspects
AGN 03 requires us to disclose our views on significant qualitative aspects of the 
Council's arrangements for delivering economy, efficiency and effectiveness.
Our work has not identify any significant risks since we issued our Audit Plan. In 
arriving at our conclusion, our main considerations included the following:
 The Council delivered another strong financial performance during 2016/17 

achieving an underspend of £770k against the cost of services budget of 
£16,126k. You have arrangements in place that monitors your performance and 
the reports of key variances to Cabinet quarterly. These variances are properly 
disclosed to stakeholders in Section 4 of the Narrative Report.  

 You have arrangements in place that continuously updates your medium term 
financial strategy (MTFS). The MTFS is updated annually and the most recent 
Plan covers the 5 year period from 2017/18 and 2021/22. The MTFS is linked to 
your Five Year Plan and sets out your key budget assumptions. Along with other 
districts, you are facing reductions in central government funding, with Revenue 
Support Grant decreasing from £834k in 2016/17 to £(606)k payment to central 
government by 2019/20. At the time of writing (June 2017), the overall budget 
set shows total net additional costs not yet met by identified savings totalling £3.4 
million over the 5 year period covered by the MTFP. Work is continuing to 
identify the required medium to longer term savings and it includes the 
consideration of alternative income generation plans. During 2016/17, the 
Council purchased one commercial property which is appropriately disclosed in 
the notes to the accounts (Note 12 Investment Property).

 Your risk management arrangements are sound. The Audit and Governance 
Committee (A&GC) receives regular reports on your strategic risks. We note the 
good practice where the individual risk holders attend the A&GC on a cyclical 
basis to present the key risks and mitigations reported in the strategic risk register. 
We observed a good level of challenge and discussion during Committee 
meetings particularly around the adequacy of mitigating controls against each key 
risk.

 You continue to work in partnerships with other Kent authorities to 
achieve a better outcome for your residents. Recently, the Cabinet 
resolved to support the West Kent Public Health Preventative Service 
model, a partnership agreement between Kent County Council, 
Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council, Sevenoaks District Council and 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council. The aim is to work together to deliver 
the West Kent Public Health Preventative Services  model over the three 
years 2017/18 to 2019/20.

Overall conclusion
Based on the risk assessment work we performed, we concluded that:
 the Council had proper arrangements in all significant respects to ensure 

it delivered value for money in its use of resources. 
The text of our report, which confirms this can be found at Appendix B.
Significant difficulties in undertaking our work
We did not identify any significant difficulties in undertaking our work on 
your arrangements which we wish to draw to your attention.
Significant matters discussed with management
There were no matters where no other evidence was available or matters of 
such significance to our conclusion or that we required written 
representation from management or those charged with governance. 
Any other matters
There were no other matters from our work which were significant to our 
consideration of your arrangements to secure value for money in your use of 
resources.

Value for Money

P
age 97

A
ppendix B



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  |  2016/17 

Section 4: Other statutory powers and duties

01. Executive summary
02. Audit findings
03. Value for Money
04. Other statutory powers and duties
05. Fees, non audit services and independence
06. Communication of audit matters

P
age 98

A
ppendix B



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  |  2016/17 21

Other statutory powers and duties

Issue Commentary
1. Public interest report  A local authority elector has raised an objection in relation to the accounts under sections 26 and 27 of the Act, requesting a report in 

the public interest.  
 We cannot formally conclude the audit and issue an audit certificate for the Authority for the year ended 31 March 2017 in accordance 

with the requirements of the Act and the Code of Audit Practice until we have completed our consideration of the objection. We are 
satisfied that this matter does not have a material effect on the financial statements or on our conclusion on the Authority's 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2017.

2. Written recommendations  We have not made any written recommendations that the Council is required to respond to publicly
3. Application to the court for a 

declaration that an item of 
account is contrary to law 

 We have not used this duty 

4. Issue of an advisory notice  We have not used this duty 

5. Application for judicial review  We have not used this duty 

We set out below details of other matters which we, as auditors, are required by the Act and the Code to communicate to those charged with governance.

P
age 99

A
ppendix B



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  |  2016/17 

Section 5: Fees, non-audit services and independence

01. Executive summary
02. Audit findings
03. Value for Money

05. Fees, non audit services and independence
06. Communication of audit matters

04. Other statutory powers and duties

P
age 100

A
ppendix B



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  |  2016/17 23

We confirm below our final fees charged for the audit and there are no fees for the provision of non audit services.
Independence and ethics
• We confirm that there are no significant facts or matters that impact on our 

independence as auditors that we are required or wish to draw to your attention. We 
have complied with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards and confirm that 
we are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial 
statements.

• We confirm that we have implemented policies and procedures to meet the 
requirements of the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards.

Fees, non audit services and independence

Fees
Proposed fee  

£
Final fee  

£
Council audit 51,230 51,230
Grant certification 8,925 *TBC

Total audit fees (excluding VAT) 60,155 51,230

Grant certificationOur fees for grant certification cover only housing benefit subsidy 
certification, which falls under the remit of Public Sector Audit 
Appointments Limited. We have not undertaken any other grant 
work in the year. 
* Audit of Housing benefit subsidy will be completed by the 
November 2017 deadline.

No non-audit or audited related services have been undertaken for the Council.

P
age 101

A
ppendix B



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  |  2016/17 

Section 6: Communication of  audit matters

01. Executive summary
02. Audit findings
03. Value for Money

05. Fees, non audit services and independence
06. Communication of audit matters

04. Other statutory powers and duties

P
age 102

A
ppendix B



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  |  2016/17 25

Communication to those charged with governance
Our communication plan

Audit 
Plan

Audit 
Findings

Respective responsibilities of auditor and management/those charged 
with governance



Overview of the planned scope and timing of the audit. Form, timing 
and expected general content of communications



Views about the qualitative aspects  of the entity's accounting and 
financial reporting practices, significant matters and issues arising 
during the audit and written representations that have been sought



Confirmation of independence and objectivity  
A statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence,  relationships and other matters which might  
be thought to bear on independence. 
Details of non-audit work performed by Grant Thornton UK LLP and 
network firms, together with  fees charged 
Details of safeguards applied to threats to independence

 

Material weaknesses in internal control identified during the audit 
Identification or suspicion of fraud involving management and/or others 
which results in material misstatement of the financial statements



Non compliance with laws and regulations 
Expected modifications to auditor's report, or emphasis of matter 
Unadjusted misstatements and material disclosure omissions 
Significant matters arising in connection with related parties 
Significant matters in relation to going concern  

ISA (UK&I) 260, as well as other ISAs, prescribe matters which we are required to 
communicate with those charged with governance, and which we set out in the table 
opposite.  
This document, The Audit Findings, outlines those key issues and other matters 
arising from the audit, which we consider should be communicated in writing rather 
than orally, together with an explanation as to how these have been resolved. 

Respective responsibilities
The Audit Findings Report has been prepared in the context of the Statement of 
Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies issued by Public Sector Audit 
Appointments Limited (http://www.psaa.co.uk/appointing-auditors/terms-of-
appointment/)
We have been appointed as the Council's independent external auditors by the Audit 
Commission, the body responsible for appointing external auditors to local public 
bodies in England at the time of our appointment. As external auditors, we have a 
broad remit covering finance and governance matters. 
Our annual work programme is set in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice 
('the Code') issued by the NAO (https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/about-
code/). Our work considers the Council's key risks when reaching our conclusions 
under the Code. 
It is the responsibility of the Council to ensure that proper arrangements are in place 
for the conduct of its business, and that public money is safeguarded and properly 
accounted for.  We have considered how the Council is fulfilling these 
responsibilities.

Communication of audit matters

P
age 103

A
ppendix B



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  |  2016/17 

Appendices

A. Action Plan
B. Audit Opinion

P
age 104

A
ppendix B



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  |  2016/17 27

A. Action plan
Priority
Rec no. Recommendation Priority Management response Implementation date and responsibility
1 Financial Instrument disclosureReview in 2017/18, the creditor balance sheet codes to assess if they give rise to a contractual obligation per IAS32.Where they do lead to a contractual obligation, they should be disclosed as part of your 2017/18 Financial Instruments note.

A further review will take place, however IAS 32 is far from 
clear as to the constitution of a “contractual arrangement” 
and is open to interpretation. Sector, our financial advisors, 
have indicated that our disclosure is adequate and our 
presentation of financial instruments, which hasn’t changed, 
has never been raised as an issue by the auditors before.

Jane Fineman
Head of Finance & Procurement 
October 2017

Controls
 High – Significant effect on control system
 Medium – Effect on control system
 Low – Best practice

P
age 105

A
ppendix B



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  |  2016/17 28

B: Audit opinion
We anticipate we will provide the Council with an unmodified audit report 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF TUNBRIDGE WELLS 
BOROUGH COUNCIL - DRAFT
We have audited the financial statements of Tunbridge Wells Borough Council (the "Authority") for the year 
ended 31 March 2017 under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the "Act"). The financial 
statements comprise the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, the Movement in Reserves 
Statement, the Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow Statement, the Collection Fund, the Expenditure and Funding 
Analysis and the related notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation 
is applicable law and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom 2016/17.
This report is made solely to the members of the Authority, as a body, in accordance with Part 5 of the Act 
and as set out in paragraph 43 of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published 
by Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state 
to the Authority’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no 
other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the Authority and the Authority's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for 
the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of the Director of Finance and Corporate Services and auditor
As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities, the Director of Finance and Corporate Services 
is responsible for the preparation of the Statement of Accounts, which includes the financial statements, in 
accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17, which give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit 
and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law, the Code of Audit 
Practice published by the National Audit Office on behalf of the Comptroller and Auditor General (the 
“Code of Audit Practice”) and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards 
require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.
Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient 
to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether 
caused by fraud or error. 

This includes an assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Authority’s 
circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by the Director of Finance and Corporate Services; and the overall presentation 
of the financial statements. In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the 
Narrative Report and the Annual Governance Statement to identify material inconsistencies with the audited 
financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or 
materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we 
become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for 
our report.
Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion:
 the financial statements present a true and fair view of the financial position of the Authority as at 31 

March 2017 and of its expenditure and income for the year then ended; and
 the financial statements have been prepared properly in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of 

Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17 and applicable law.
Opinion on other matters
In our opinion, the other information published together with the audited financial statements in the 
Narrative Report and the Annual Governance Statement for the financial year for which the financial 
statements are prepared is consistent with the audited financial statements.
Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We are required to report to you if:
 in our opinion the Annual Governance Statement does not comply with the guidance included in 

‘Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016)’ published by CIPFA and 
SOLACE; or

 we have reported a matter in the public interest under section 24 of the Act in the course of, or at the 
conclusion of the audit; or

 we have made a written recommendation to the Authority under section 24 of the Act in the course of, 
or at the conclusion of the audit; or

 we have exercised any other special powers of the auditor under the Act.
We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters.

Appendices

P
age 106

A
ppendix B



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  |  2016/17 29

Conclusion on the Authority’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its 
use of resources
Respective responsibilities of the Authority and auditor
The Authority is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources, to ensure proper stewardship and governance, and to review regularly 
the adequacy and effectiveness of these arrangements.
We are required under Section 20(1)(c) of the Act to be satisfied that the Authority has made proper 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. We are not required 
to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the Authority's arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively.
Scope of the review of the Authority's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the 
guidance on the specified criteria issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in November 2016, as to 
whether the Authority had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions and deployed 
resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The Comptroller and 
Auditor General determined this criteria as that necessary for us to consider under the Code of Audit 
Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the Authority put in place proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2017.
We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk assessment, we 
undertook such work as we considered necessary to form a view on whether in all significant respects the 
Authority has put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use 
of resources.

Conclusion
On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance on the specified criteria issued by the Comptroller 
and Auditor General in November 2016, we are satisfied that in all significant respects the Authority put in 
place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the 
year ended 31 March 2017.
Certificate
We cannot formally conclude the audit and issue an audit certificate for the Authority for the year ended 31 
March 2017 in accordance with the requirements of the Act and the Code of Audit Practice until we have 
completed our consideration of an objection brought to our attention by a local authority elector under 
Section 27 of the Act. We are satisfied that this matter does not have a material effect on the financial 
statements or on our conclusion on the Authority's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2017.

Signature
Darren Wells 
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Appointed Auditor
2nd Floor, St John’s House, 29-35 High Street, Crawley, RH10 1BQ
[Date] 

Appendices

P
age 107

A
ppendix B



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  |  2016/17 

© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights served. 
'Grant Thornton' refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member firms, as the context requires. 
Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International LTD (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL, and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one another's acts or omissions. 
grant-thornton.co.uk

P
age 108

A
ppendix B



 

Audit & Governance 
Committee 

25 July 2017 

Is the final decision on the recommendations in this report to be made at this meeting? Yes 

 

Strategic Risk Review 
 

Final Decision-Maker Audit & Governance Committee 

Portfolio Holder(s)  All 

Lead Director  Lee Colyer – Director of Finance, Policy and 
Development  

Head of Service Jane Clarke – Head of Policy & Governance 

Lead Officer/Report Author Lee Colyer – Director of Finance, Policy and 
Development  

Classification Non-Exempt 

Wards affected All 

  

This report makes the following recommendations to the final decision-maker: 
 

1. That the Committee notes the risk management report and arrangements for 
managing strategic risk. 

 

  

This report relates to the following Five Year Plan Key Objectives: 

 A Prosperous Borough 

 A Green Borough 

 A Confident Borough 

 

This report is concerned with the internal control and governance of the Council.  Successful 
controls and effective governance are a crucial underpinning for all corporate priorities. 

  

Timetable  

Meeting Date 

Management Board 19 July 2017 

Audit and Governance Committee 25 July 2017 

Page 109

Agenda Item 5(B)



 

Strategic Risk Register 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 The report sets out the strategic risks identified by the Council and currently 

being managed and tracked by senior management.  The report provides a 
current update on the evaluated threat level and controls in place for each risk 
issue. 

 

 
2. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 The risks included in the report were initially developed in a risk management 

workshop facilitated by Zurich Management Services on 10 December 2013, 
with the risks being formally adopted by Cabinet on 16 May 2014.  Since that 
time, risk owners have kept the risks and controls under review with periodic 
reporting both to the Cabinet and the Audit & Governance Committee.   

 
2.2 Following the award of a new insurance contract a strategic risk management 

review will be undertaken. 
 

2.3 The Council’s Management Board periodically reviews the risks identified along 
with the risk owners.   

 

2.4 Risk owners (managers) for certain risks are invited to attend the Audit and 
Governance Committee meetings to outline the Council’s approach to 
managing their particular risk(s). For this Committee meeting, members will be 
able to examine the risks owned by Karen Fossett, Head of Planning, namely; 

 

 Risk 1: Cinema site remains undeveloped; and 

 Risk 8: Inspector decision which challenges housing target vs housing supply. 
 

 
3. AVAILABLE OPTIONS 
 
3.1 There is no legal requirement on the authority formally to monitor its risks, still 

less is there a defined framework to do so.  Although failing to monitor and 
record risks will leave the Council vulnerable to external criticism – for example 
by its external auditors who are required to assess the effectiveness of risk 
management when considering their annual Value For Money conclusion – the 
Council could decide that is a price worth paying against using some of its 
resources to identify and monitor risk. 
 

3.2 Even accepting the utility in gathering systematic monitoring information on the 
risks it faces, there is a wide range of different approaches the Council might 
adopt.  Even if one looks solely at the local government sector, there are myriad 
formats, structures and arrangements adopted to record and present 
information to senior officers and members. 

Page 110

Agenda Item 5(B)



 

 

 
4. PREFERRED OPTION AND REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 The report sets out the risks using the methodology and format previously 

agreed by the Council, which is essentially the method advocated by Zurich 
from the 2013 risk workshop. 

 

 

5. CONSULTATION RESULTS AND PREVIOUS COMMITTEE FEEDBACK 
 
5.1 The Strategic Risk Register has undergone periodic review and examination by 

the Council’s Management Board, the Cabinet and the Audit & Governance 
Committee.  This stands in addition to ongoing monitoring by the identified risk 
owners.  This report incorporates feedback and updates from all sources. 

 

 
6. CROSS-CUTTING ISSUES AND IMPLICATIONS 
 
 

Issue Implications Sign-off 

(name of officer 
and date) 

Legal including 
Human Rights Act 

None identified at this stage. Lee Colyer, 
Director of 
Finance, Policy 
and Development 

 

Finance and other 
resources 

None identified at this stage. 

Staffing 
establishment 

None identified at this stage. 

Risk management   Risk management is the subject of the report but 
it does not of itself raise new risk issues for 
consideration. 

Environment  
and sustainability 

None identified at this stage. 

Community safety None identified at this stage. 

Health and Safety None identified at this stage. 

Health and 
wellbeing 

None identified at this stage. 

Equalities None identified at this stage. 

 
  

Page 111

Agenda Item 5(B)



 

 
7. REPORT APPENDICES 
 
The following document is to be published with this report and forms part of the 
report: 

 Appendix A: Strategic Risk Register Update July 2017 
 

 
8. BACKGROUND PAPERS  
 
None 

Page 112

Agenda Item 5(B)



Strategic Risk Update July 2017 
 

The Strategic Risk Profile chart below shows each risk scored onto the risk matrix graph. The 
further towards the top right hand corner the greater the risk to the Council. This is a dynamic 
and not always linear process; circumstances could mean changes in direction, identification 
of new risks or existing risks becoming resolved. The chart below provides only a snapshot 
on a particular date. 
 
The risk scenarios are: 
 

 CSR01: Cinema site remains undeveloped 

 CSR02: Unable to maximise economic opportunities and resolve infrastructure issues 

 CSR03: Resident engagement 

 CSR04: Unable to plan financially over the longer term 

 CSR05: National policy changes in short term impact negatively on TWBC and direction 

 CSR06: Service interruption 

 CSR07: Unable to meet expectations within resources 

 CSR08: Inspector decision which challenges housing targets versus housing supply 

 CSR09: Not managing control and change effectively 

 CSR10: Development programme 

 
 
 
 

L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

6 

    

CSR 05 

  
  

Likelihood 

6 = Very High 
5 = High 
4 = Significant 
3 = Low 
2 = Very Low 
1 = Minimal 

5 

    

CSR 02 
CSR 07 
CSR 10 

  
  

4 

  

  
CSR 04 
CSR 06 
CSR 08 

  
  

Impact 

4 = Major 
3 = Severe 
2 = Medium 
1 = Negligible 

3 

  

  
CSR 01 
CSR 03 
CSR 09 

  
  

2 

        
   

1 

        
   

  

1 2 3 4 

   

  

Impact 

   

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Strategic Risk Profile July 2017 

Page 113

Appendix A



The table below tracks movement in the identified strategic risk areas since initial approval by Cabinet in April 2014.  
 

Risk 
 Ref 

Title  Sept. 2016 Dec. 2016 May 2017 July 2017 
2 Year 
Trend 

CSR 01 Cinema site remains undeveloped. 
12 12 12 9 


(4 x Lk, 3 x Im) (4 x Lk, 3 x Im) (4 x Lk, 3 x Im) (3 x Lk, 3 x Im) 

CSR 02 
Unable to maximise economic opportunities 
and resolve infrastructure issues. 

15 15 15 15 


(5 x Lk, 3 x Im) (5 x Lk, 3 x Im) (5 x Lk, 3 x Im) (5 x Lk, 3 x Im) 

CSR 03 Resident engagement. 
9 9 9 9 


(3 x Lk, 3 x Im) (3 x Lk, 3 x Im) (3 x Lk, 3 x Im) (3 x Lk, 3 x Im) 

CSR 04 
Unable to plan financially over the longer 
term. 

12 12 12 12 


(4 x Lk, 3 x Im) (4 x Lk, 3 x Im) (4 x Lk, 3 x Im) (4 x Lk, 3 x Im) 

CSR 05 
National policy changes in short term impact 
negatively on TWBC and direction. 

18 18 18 18 


(6 x Lk, 3 x Im) (6 x Lk, 3 x Im) (6 x Lk, 3 x Im) (6 x Lk, 3 x Im) 

CSR 06 Service Interruption 
    8 12 


    (4 x Lk, 2 x Im) (4 x Lk, 3 x Im) 

CSR 07 
Unable to meet expectations within 
resources. 

15 15 15 15 


(5 x Lk, 3 x Im) (5 x Lk, 3 x Im) (5 x Lk, 3 x Im) (5 x Lk, 3 x Im) 

CSR 08 
Inspector decision which challenges housing 
targets vs housing supply. 

12 12 12 12 


(4 x Lk, 3 x Im) (4 x Lk, 3 x Im) (4 x Lk, 3 x Im) (4 x Lk, 3 x Im) 

CSR 09 Not managing control and change effectively. 
12 12 12 9 


(4 x Lk, 3 x Im) (4 x Lk, 3 x Im) (4 x Lk, 3 x Im) (3 x Lk, 3 x Im) 

CSR 10 Development programme. 
15 15 15 15 


(5 x Lk, 3 x Im) (5 x Lk, 3 x Im) (5 x Lk, 3 x Im) (5 x Lk, 3 x Im) 

 
 
 

P
age 114

A
ppendix A



Risk Scenario 1: Cinema site remains undeveloped 
 

 
Risk Description:  Likelihood/Impact Low(3) / Severe(3) 

Cinema Site 

Member Risk 

Owner 

David Jukes Officer Risk Owner Karen Fossett 

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors Potential Impact/ 

Consequences 

Current Controls/ Mitigations in place 

 The Cinema site has a significant impact 
on the overall perception and reputation 
of Tunbridge Wells. Resolving the lack of 

progress on this site is not wholly within 
the Council’s control 

 

 Damage to reputation 

 Curtails attractiveness and 
discourages new investment in 

the town centre 

 

 

 Following constructive pre-application 

meetings, a detailed planning application for 

the development of the former cinema site 

has been received and validated on 12 July 

2017. A decision by the Planning Committee 

is expected to take place in the Autumn of 

2017. 

P
age 115

A
ppendix A



Risk Scenario 2: Being unable to maximise economic opportunities and resolve infrastructure issues   

 
Risk Description:  Likelihood/Impact High (5) / Severe (3) 

Economic development and 

infrastructure 

Member Risk 

Owner 

Jane March/Alan 

McDermott 

Officer Risk Owner David Candlin 

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors Potential Impact/ 

Consequences 

Current Controls/ Mitigations in place 

 There are economic opportunities but other 
areas are also chasing these. 

 The local economic offer and reputation is 
strong and improving with latent demand, 
particularly in retail and ‘in town’ while the 
Council has developed wider Borough 
opportunities, e.g. North Farm. 

 There are issues around cost of housing and 
infrastructure, particularly traffic congestion 
which could affect ability to make the most of 
opportunities. 

 Referendum (‘Brexit’) decision to leave the 
European Union. The implications of this 
decision have the potential to have a 
significant impact on the local economy. 

 Lose out to other areas 

 Unable to secure sufficient 
opportunities 

 Local area and people lose out 

 Insufficient inward investment 

 Impact on economic vitality of area 

 Curtails attractiveness 

 Impact on revenue streams and 
income 

 Suffer in comparison to others 

 Damage to reputation 

 

 Delivery by Highways Agency of A21 Tonbridge to 
Pembury dualling 

 Delivery of North Farm infrastructure improvements 

 Secure KMEP and SELEP support for delivery of key 
infrastructure improvements 

 Maintain and develop working relationships with key 
partners, landowners & developers 

 Establishment of Royal Tunbridge Wells Together town 
centre partnership 

 Ensure Local Plan and Transport Strategy address 
economic & transport issues 

 Professional advice secured to establish viability of 
transport schemes 

 Monitor Brexit negotiations and terms impacting on the 
local economy and business sectors in the Borough 

 Lobby with partners and stakeholders (including 
SELEP) to minimise negative impact of Brexit terms 

 Development programme and support for community 
facilities in the rural towns 

  

P
age 116

A
ppendix A



Risk Scenario 3: Resident engagement 
 

Risk Description:  Likelihood/Impact Low (3) / Severe (3) 

Local engagement 

Member Risk 

Owner 

David Jukes Officer Risk Owner William Benson 

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors Potential Impact/ 

Consequences 

Current Controls/ Mitigations in place 

 As a result of the significant financial 
pressures it is experiencing, the Council 

has discontinued a number of the 
mechanisms it has used to engage with 
residents including Ward Walks and 

annual residents’ surveys. 

 Local engagement is crucial in place-

shaping and future direction. There is a 
need to ensure mechanisms are in place 

to ensure that decisions are grounded in 
empirical evidence. 

 

 Direction and decisions out of 
line with public opinion 

 Impact on key areas, e.g. 
growth or economic 
development 

 Directing resources to wrong 
areas, potentially away from 

areas of most need 

 

 The Council has set up a number of 
forums/advisory groups representing parish 

councils, residents, retailers and businesses. 

 The Council has undertaken a Borough-wide 
survey. 

 The Council makes proactive use of social 
media both to listen and to engage with 

residents. 

 The Council has engaged comprehensively as 

part of the process of updating the Five Year 
Plan and will continue to engage on the various 
significant projects contained within it. 

 

P
age 117

A
ppendix A



Risk Scenario 4: Unable to plan financially over the longer term  

 
Risk Description:  Likelihood/Impact Significant (4) /Severe (3) 

Longer Term Financial Planning 

Member Risk 

Owner 

Cllr David Reilly Officer Risk Owner Lee Colyer 

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors Potential Impact/ 

Consequences 

Current Controls/ Mitigations in 

place 

 Core Government funding has reduced significantly in 

favour of incentive based schemes reliant on growth. 

 The Government have offered a four year funding 
settlement from 2016/17 which would result in all 

Revenue Support Grant (£1.6 million) disappearing. 

 Negative grant is still a possibility in 2019/20. 

 The New Homes Bonus scheme has been significantly 
diluted with the first 200 homes not being eligible.  

 The Infrastructure Bill transferred the statutory 

responsibility for Land Charges to the Land Registry. This 
will substantially reduce the Council’s income and write-

off the investment in technology and performance in this 
area. There is also a risk to the public and local 
businesses as national government computer projects 

have a poor track record of delays, budget overspends 
and delivering expected outcome. 

 The Local Government Finance Bill ‘fell’ with the snap 
election and has not been reintroduced as part of the 
Queen’s Speech. Local Government is awaiting 

clarification of what this means for the policy of letting 
local government retain 100 per cent of business rates 

income by 2020.  

 Reactive decision making and 

budgeting rather than 
planning 

 Short term perspective 

reinforced 

 Central control of fees, 

burdens the Council Tax payer 
rather than the user of the 
service 

 Impact on decisions 

 Unpredictability and trust 

 Resources and staffing 
reduced or redeployed 

 Impact on staff retention 

 Credibility damaged 

 Impact on partnership 

working 

 Missed opportunities to 
collaborate 

 Appeals wipe out any growth 
with no new funding flowing 

to the Council 

 Revenue budget balanced 

without the use of general 
reserves 

 MTFS has manageable deficits 

 The Council has accepted the 
four year funding offer 

 The Council has less exposure to 
changes to government funding 
such as Revenue Support Grant 

and New Homes Bonus 

 ‘User Pays’ principle to recover 

costs where allowable 

 Government has provided more 
flexibility surrounding Council 

Tax income, and a review of 
planning fees and licensing fees 

is underway 
 Raising awareness of the impact 

of appeals on local tax payers 

 Pushing for change in the way 
legislation excludes the Council 

from understanding how the 
Valuation Office Agency settles 
appeals. 

P
age 118

A
ppendix A



Risk Scenario 5:  National policy changes in short term that impact negatively on TWBC and on direction 
 

Risk Description:  Likelihood/Impact Very High (6) / Severe (3) 

Central government policy changes 

Member Risk 

Owner 

David Jukes Officer Risk Owner William Benson 

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors Potential Impact/ 

Consequences 

Current Controls/ Mitigations in place 

 The past few years have been 
characterised by significant changes to 

the public sector environment and the 
regulations that govern it.  

 The recent general election and the 

return of a minority government has 
placed further uncertainty over reforms 

to finance (including the proposed 
review of needs and Business Rates) 

and the recent push towards ‘devolution 
deals’. 

 On 23 June 2016, the United Kingdom 

of Great Britain and Northern Ireland 
voted to leave the European Union. The 

impacts of this decision have the 
potential to be significant but at this 
time it is difficult to quantify how this 

will affect this Council’s ability to plan 
and deliver its priorities. 

 Changes to external 
environment in which TWBC 

operates 

 Unpredictability and frequent 
changes required to Council 

operations 

 Increased costs/reduced 

income 

 

 Flexibility encouraged amongst staff 

 Partnership working presents opportunities to 

collaborate on service delivery and address 
constraints on capacity 

 Ongoing discussions with KCC and neighbouring 

councils to explore opportunities for aligning or 
devolving services 

 Engagement with the LGA and central 
government 

 Proactive work with representative bodies 

 Further reports will come before members as 
the implications of BREXIT become clearer 

 

P
age 119

A
ppendix A



Risk Scenario 6:  Service interruption 

 
Risk Description:  Likelihood/Impact High (4) / Severe (3) 

The ability to deliver services is 

disrupted 

Member Risk 

Owner 

David Jukes Officer Risk Owner  Denise Haylett 

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors Potential Impact/ Consequences Current Controls/ Mitigations in place 

 Increased threat from cyber 

security attacks 

 Increased frequency of extreme 
weather   

 Increased threats from terrorism 

 Fire and other major events 

 

 Interruption to critical services 

 Staff being pulled in different 
directions 

 Claims/Legal action/Compensation 

 Adverse publicity  

 National and local reputation 

affected 

 Financial loss 

 Exposure to fraud, ransom and 

denial of service 

 The scale of the disaster could 

overwhelm the Council resulting in 
resignations, community discord and 
questions on whether the 

government should intervene on 
how the Council is run. 

 Business Continuity Plan 

 Major Emergency Plan 

 Resilience through partnership working 

 Part of the Multi-Agency Agreement 

 Member of the Kent Resilience Forum 

 Designation of a Senior Information Risk Officer 

 Public Service Network accreditation 

 Payment Card Industry Data Security Standards 
(PCI DSS) compliance 

 Support from the National Centre for Cyber 
Security (part of GCHQ) 

 Review of Emergency Planning arrangements 

 

P
age 120

A
ppendix A



Risk Scenario 7: Being unable to meet expectations within resources  
 

Risk Description:  Likelihood/Impact High (5) / Severe (3) 

Reduced resources/increased demands 

and expectations 

Member Risk 

Owner 

David Jukes Officer Risk Owner   William Benson 

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors Potential Impact/ 

Consequences 

Current Controls/ Mitigations in place 

 The Council has reduced staff numbers 
and resources but is more ambitious 

with more priorities and is seeking to do 
more than before.  

 The local community is vocal, 
demanding and articulate with 
significant expectations. 

 

 Increased stress and strain 

 Impact on morale 

 Reliance on key and fewer 
people 

 Services/staff are stretched 

 Impact on service quality 

 Satisfaction diminished 

 Campaigns launched by local 
community 

 Adverse publicity 

 Resources required to respond 
to campaigns 

 Damage to reputation 

 

 Reduced number of priorities in strategic plan 

 Regular consideration by Management Board of 

resources; additional resources put in place to 
support priorities (including additional resources 

recently agreed to support the Council’s property 
section) 

 Introduction of a Programme Management Office 

to oversee priority projects 

 Appropriate use of external capacity and expertise 

 Performance monitoring helps to identify pressure 
points 

 Regular sickness monitoring 

 Quarterly analysis and reporting of complaints 
identifying any trends 

 Identifying resilience through partnerships 

 Adopting an “enabling” approach to encourage 
community to deliver local services 

 

P
age 121

A
ppendix A



Risk Scenario 8:  Inspector decision which challenges housing target vs housing supply 
 

Risk Description:  Likelihood/Impact   Significant (4) / Severe (3) 

Housing target/supply 

Member Risk 

Owner 

Alan McDermott Officer Risk Owner Karen Fossett 

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors Potential Impact/ Consequences Current Controls/ Mitigations in place 

 There has been a change in housing 
formula towards growth. There is 

resistance to housing growth locally with 
a difference between housing target and 
housing supply levels. 

 The statutory revision to the method of 
calculating housing need, “Objectively 

Assessed Need” (OAN) indicates that the 
Borough’s need is more than doubled. 
Whilst this is before consideration is 

given to reductions because of 
constraints this effectively means that 

policies limiting development to within 
the limits of built development fall away. 

 The risk of appeals has increased. 

 

 Council lose control of situation 

 Increase in level of housing on 

greenfield sites 

 Member and community dissatisfaction 

 Increased traffic congestion 

 Impact on infrastructure 

 Financial benefit of planned growth – 

opportunity impact 

 Significant new costs to support 
production of new Core Strategy/Local 

Plan 

 Potential significant appeal related costs 

following refusal of major residential 
development 

 Planning by appeal potentially leading to 

loss of New Homes Bonus  

 Potential legal fees/officer costs/loss of 

section 106 

 Work on a new Local Plan is progressing 
to a compressed timescale 

 Regular reporting to Planning Policy 
Working Group/Cabinet member/ 
Planning Committee on risk and 

legislative changes 

 Consideration by the Constitution Review 

Working Party of application call-ins and 
agreed at Audit and Governance 
Committee for Full Council decision on 26 

July 2017 

 Site Allocations document found sound by 

independent inspector in 2016 

 Consultation completed on Issues and 
Options document for new Local Plan 

 Call for sites attracted 150 new 
submissions for assessment during 2017 

 Complete draft of new Local Plan 
expected to be due for further 
consultation in Spring 2018 

 

 

P
age 122

A
ppendix A



Risk Scenario 9:  Not managing control and change effectively – Staff, Management, and Political 
 

Risk Description:  Likelihood/Impact Low (3)/ Severe (3) 

 Shared Services – control and change  

Member Risk 

Owner 

David Jukes Officer Risk Owner William Benson 

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors Potential Impact/ 

Consequences 

Current Controls/ Mitigations in place 

 The Council is involved in joint service 
arrangements around a number of 

service areas (most notably Mid Kent 
Services). 

 Managerial responsibility for these 

services is largely within other 
authorities which limits control of the 

services and their ability to contribute 
towards ‘corporate’ initiatives (such as 

emergency planning). 

 Opportunities for partnership working 
and devolution are being explored with 

neighbouring councils and KCC but this 
is on a different geographic footprint to 

Mid Kent Service. 

 

 Staff dissatisfaction/loss of 
goodwill 

 Service delivery affected 

 Strain on people working in 
partnership 

 Impact felt by wider 
organisation 

 Political dissatisfaction 

 

 MKS is overseen by both a Board and shared 
service boards. 

 The operation of the ‘client side’ has been 
strengthened through ‘shared service boards’ and 
regular performance reporting. 

 The overarching governance arrangements have 
been reviewed and updated as have the individual 

collaboration agreements for each shared service.  

 A Mid Kent Services Director post has been 

created to provide a greater sense of direction and 
‘esprit de corps’ within Mid Kent Services. 

 Reviews will be undertaken of the implementation 

of shared services to learn lessons. 

 

P
age 123

A
ppendix A



Risk Scenario 10:  Development Programme 
 

Risk Description:  Likelihood/Impact High (5) / Severe(3) 

Development Programme 

Member Risk 

Owner 

David Jukes Officer Risk Owner David Candlin 

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors Potential Impact/ 

Consequences 

Current Controls/ Mitigations in place 

 The Council has identified a number of 
development opportunities to support the 
growth of the local economy. 
 

 Development of these Council owned sites is 
to be led by the Council, which brings 
additional financial and property risks. 

 

 

 

 

 

 Impact on revenue streams and 
income 

 Damage to reputation 

 Insufficient professional expertise 

 Procurement and issues of delay 

 Economic climate 

 Development Advisory Panel (DAP) to review and 
inform all civic development and community 
programmes 

 Programme Board established to oversee and monitor 
progress on all development and transformation projects 

 Officer Groups for the civic, development and 
community programmes, established to manage and 
control the programmes  

 Professional advice sought to establish viability and 
support delivery of Council civic, development and 
community programme schemes   

 Utilisation of framework agreements where appropriate 
to manage procurement timetables 

 Specific risk logs developed for each development site 
and monitored by DAP and officer groups 

 Staged approvals for development progress to manage 
cost exposure and risk 

 Appointment of additional professional staff to enhance 
in-house experience 

 
 
 

 
 

P
age 124

A
ppendix A



AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE WORK PROGRAMME 2017/18 

REPORT TITLE 25/7/17 12/9/17 21/11/17 30/1/18 
(prov.) 

3/4/18 

Audit and Governance 
Committee Annual Report 
 

     

Annual Internal Audit  
Report and Opinion 
 

     

Internal Audit and 
Assurance Plan 
 

    X 

Internal Audit Interim 
Report  
 

  X   

Annual Audit Letter 
 

  X   

External Audit Plan 
 

    X 

External Audit Progress 
Report 
 

  X   

Planned Audit Fee 
 

     

Draft Financial Report  
2016/17 (Statement of 
Accounts) 
 

     

Financial Report and 
Audit Findings 2016/17 
 

X     

Annual Complaints Report 
and Local Government 
Ombudsman Annual 
Review 
 

 X    

Update on Member 
Complaints 
 

 X X  X 

Strategic Risk Review 
(incorporating Annual Risk 
Management Summary in 
June) 
  

X  X  X 

Attendance of Strategic 
Risk Owners 
 

X X X  X 

Appointment of members 
to Constitution Review 
Working Party 
 

     

Proposed changes to the 
Constitution 
 

     

Update on procurement of 
an external auditor 

 X X   

Page 125

Agenda Item 6



AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE WORK PROGRAMME 2017/18 

 

 

Briefings/member 
development  
 

X     

Page 126

Agenda Item 6


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	5(A) Annual Financial Report and Audit Findings 2016/17
	Item 5(A) - Draft Annual Financial Report - Appendix A - financial report
	Item 5(A) - Draft Annual Financial Report for 2016-17 - Appendix B - Audit Findings Report 2016-17

	5(B) Strategic Risk Report
	Item 5(B) - Strategic Risk Register July - Appendix A

	6 Future Work Programme

